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As an enterprise with diversified development having a focus on
film, television and variety show content creation and production
with the spirit of business value “Enabling”, Transmit Entertainment
Limited principally engages in (i) film, TV series and variety
show production, distribution and licensing of film rights; (ii) film
exhibition; and (iii) pan entertainment (including artiste and celebrity
agency business as well as pan entertainment businesses along the
value chain). The Group continuously implements its development
strategy of brand diversification. In addition, the Group endeavors
to develop its self-owned full industry chain model and construct
a unique soft power desirable to the Group through persistently
combined resources of scriptwriters, directors and artistes to offer
quality content, nurture talented artistes and explore, cultivate and
create popular film and television copyright.

Taking advantages of online platforms to cultivate new artistes
and celebrities, the Group focuses on the creation of high-quality
film and TV content whilst proactively broadening its revenue base
by continuously identifying business opportunities in film, TV and
entertainment consumption from four aspects including online
streaming, short videos, celebrity cultivation and traffic monetization
with the aim to focus on film, television and variety show as
its business direction following the Group's core. Meanwhile,
the Group attaches great importance to expanding its business
dimension through collaboration with partners and establishing
more sophisticated upstream and downstream industry chains by
enriching the industry layout with physical products, thereby seizing
new opportunities arising from the pan entertainment business.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ERRE

During the year under review, market liquidity has gradually
improved, being a strong buttress for global economy that further
reinforcing and boosting market sentiment. Nevertheless, as
certain economies kicked off an easing cycle and a series of major,
favourable policies brought forward in China, the Chinese domestic
consumption sentiment was expected to remain strong. According
to the macroeconomic data released by the National Bureau of
Statistics of China, the total retail sales of social consumer goods
from January to August 2024 increased by 3.4% year-on-year, and
the retail sales of services increased by 6.9%. The fusion of online
and offline model has further enhanced the shopping experience,
becoming a driving force for structural upgrading in consumer
industry and continuously unraveling potential for development.
The business activity index of various service industries, including
telecommunication, radio and TV broadcasting as well as satellite
transmission services, was also booming with a foothold above
60%, demonstrating a good room and potential for development of
service consumption.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ERWwE

Meanwhile, the steady increase in the scale of online video users
and their loyalty was driving viewers’ willingness to pay for quality
content, which would give impetus to the long-term development
of the film, TV and entertainment markets. According to the data
released by the China Internet Network Information Center, the
number of internet users in China further increased from 1.079
billion in June 2023 to 1.099 billion in June 2024, and the number
of online video users further expanded from 1.044 billion in June
2023 to 1.068 billion in June 2024, accounting for 97.1% of the
total internet users. The increasing convenience of mobile internet
service, a maturing commercialized operation of films and TV series
production and the application of emerging technologies such as
generative artificial intelligence were also driving an iterative and
incremental upgrade of the industry. According to PwC's Global
Entertainment & Media Outlook, the total revenue of advertisement
and consumer expenditure in the Chinese market is projected to
increase continuously to US$362.5 billion by 2028, representing a
compound growth rate of 7.1% per annum and the Chinese market
continues to be one of the fast-growing markets in the world.

To keep up with current trends and the entertainment preferences
of young people, Transmit Entertainment will continue to focus
on creative production and branding of series and variety shows.
We will seize the development opportunities brought about by
the upgrade of entertainment content consumption by carefully
selecting themes for film and TV and rolling out more high-quality
works.

To conclude, on behalf of the Board, | would like to take this
opportunity to express my most sincere gratitude to all our
shareholders, partners and dedicated senior management team
for their long-term care and support and to all the staff for their
unremitting efforts.

Zhang Liang, Johnson
Chairman

27 September 2024
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EREHH RN

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in (i) TV series and variety
show production and distribution; (ii) film exhibition; and (iii) pan
entertainment. The Group mainly produces Chinese variety shows
and TV series in both Mainland China and Hong Kong as its main
markets. It also operates one Hong Kong based cinema during
the year. During the year ended 30 June 2024, the Group further
advanced its brand diversification development strategy. The
Group’s proportion of revenue from Mainland China was 80.9%.
Mainland China continues to be the major source of income and
business growth of the Group.

Following the development dynamics of the industry and the
entertainment tastes of young viewers, the Group has continued
to focus on the development and production of outstanding variety
contents, while actively exploring innovative business models
such as web series, online movies and short videos. For the year
ended 30 June 2024, the TV series and variety show production
and distribution business remained as the core business of the
Group with recorded revenue of approximately HK$186.0 million,
representing an increase of approximately 667.5% as compared to
last year. The increase was mainly attributable to the fact that both
the urban mystery TV series “Frozen Surface” and the fifth season
of the love variety show “I Love You, Me Too” were smoothly
broadcasted in January and May 2024 respectively, and the revenue
generated was recognised this year, while the fourth season of the
love variety show “I Love You, Me Too"” was debuted in last year.
In addition, the Group has obtained revenue of approximately HK$90
million from the sales of certain TV series copyrights during the year,
resulting in an increase in revenue from production and distribution
of TV series and variety shows during the year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEWm A

Considering that the novel coronavirus disease (“COVID-19")
pandemic has brought about a challenging business environment for
the film exhibition business, the Group had disposed of its partial
equity interests in the film exhibition business aiming to reallocate
financial resources to other businesses with higher development
potential, with the purpose of generating better returns for the
Shareholders. The disposal transaction was completed on 26 May
2021. Thereafter, in accordance with a management agreement, as
novated and supplemented by a supplemental agreement entered
into among the Company, Cinema City (WL) Limited and Mandarin
Motion Pictures Limited, the Group earned fees for the operation
of Langham Place Cinema in Hong Kong during the term of the
agreement. For further details of the disposal and the management
agreement, please refer to the announcements of the Company
dated 18 January 2021 and 26 May 2021, respectively.

The Group's revenue from film exhibition amounted to
approximately HK$55.9 million for the year, representing a decrease
of approximately 21.9% as compared to the last year, which was
mainly due to the fact that consumer sentiment of Hong Kong film
industry was in the doldrums, resulting in a weaker-than-expected
Christmas box office.

During the year ended 30 June 2024, the Group continued to
improve its industry chain and broaden its revenue base and the
influence of the Group’s artistes and celebrities in market segments
continued to grow. The Group’s artistes participated in the starring
and endorsement activities of various TV series and films. Among
which, Yang Chaoyue starred in the TV series “Born to Run” (415
FWEIEAL), the TV series "The Double” (2R EM]), the variety
show “2023 Unknown Game" (B#%E 5 F KE) and the variety
show “As You Wish: Love You Seven Times"” (1008 @41 2 =
), etc.

The Group's pan entertainment recorded a total revenue of
approximately HK$50.6 million for the year, representing a decrease
of approximately 28.3% as compared to approximately HK$70.6
million last year, which was mainly attributable to decrease in
revenue from artiste management business.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEWm A

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue of the Group for the year amounted to approximately
HK$292.6 million, representing an increase of approximately
HK$126.2 million or 75.8% as compared to last year, which was
mainly contributed by the revenue of approximately HK$186.0
million and HK$55.9 million from the production and distribution of
TV series segment and the film exhibition segment respectively.

For the TV series production and distribution segment, the Group's
recorded revenue for the year ended 30 June 2024 was mainly
contributed by the production of TV series and variety shows.
Both the urban mystery TV series “Frozen Surface” and the fifth
season of the love variety show "I Love You, Me Too"” were
smoothly broadcasted in January and May 2024 respectively,
and the revenue generated was recognised this year. For the
film exhibition segment, the Group completed the disposal of
its partial equity interests in the film exhibition business on 26
May 2021, and entered into a management agreement and a
supplemental agreement for the operation of the Langham Cinema
in Hong Kong. The revenue from film exhibition amounted to
approximately HK$55.9 million for the year, representing a decrease
of approximately 21.9% as compared to last year. For the pan
entertainment segment, the Group recorded a total revenue of
approximately HK$50.6 million from artiste management services
during the year ended 30 June 2024, representing a decrease of
approximately 28.3% as compared to last year.

Gross loss of the Group was approximately HK$71.4 million (30 June
2023: gross profit was approximately HK$46.2 million), which was
mainly attributable to impairment on several TV series production in
progress and sale of several films and television copyrights during
the year.
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B 5 ml R

REBRAFENKRZL AEB20268
BT REFEMHBE12628E LK
75.8%  TEREEREBERZEITH N
MEE BB BREDFIH AL 186.06 8
TN BB 9B &L ©

ERBEIERBEITHORAE AEBHZE
2024F6 A30H L FEH BN K ETERA
BREINGESEEME - ATMERERE R
TESOINBESENEC(EER  RBEISE
AZEE D RIR2024%1 A RS AIBFIEL -
HERAFEERESER - REZHRE S IBM
= REEPK2021F5A26H TR EERE
MM ERNEORE  YHBEEBRGF
BREET LB B BRERETIHE - BN
MK ERAFENREFRDL21.9%EH
BEEEE OE BT o RS H - AKE
HE2024F6 A30R L FEEEEAEEAR
HBW LB 6B BT REFRIL
28.3% °

RNEBHEELBETI 4GB T(2023F6 A
308 : EFHEBI62B8ET) TEHR
FREFREFEREZRERBEEETY
RRRAEFTEL -



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEWm A

During the year ended 30 June 2024, other gains and losses
and other income amounted to approximately HK$94.4 million,
representing an increase of approximately HK$42.0 million or
approximately 80.0% as compared to last year. Other gains and
losses and other income mainly included cinema operation right
income, cinema promotion income, etc.

Selling and distribution expenses decreased by approximately
HK$9.6 million or 12.9% from approximately HK$74.9 million last
year to approximately HK$65.3 million for the year, which was
mainly attributable to the effective internal control measures on
costs.

Administrative expenses decreased by approximately HK$11.6
million or approximately 17.7% from approximately HK$65.5 million
last year to approximately HK$53.9 million for the year, which was
benefited from the effective internal control measures on costs.

This year, the Group’'s loss and total comprehensive expense
attributable to the owners of the Company amounted to
approximately HK$350.5 million (year ended 30 June 2023: loss
of approximately HK$186.9 million) and approximately HK$350.4
million (year ended 30 June 2023: total comprehensive expense of
approximately HK$212.6 million) respectively.

This was primarily due to (i) the adverse impact of post-pandemic
restoration period of the industry, which led to delays in the
productions of the Group’s TV series and the artiste work schedules;
and (ii) impairment of goodwill amounting to approximately
HK$223.8 million provided by the Company during the reporting
period, considering the current market condition, the intensified
competitions and the uncertainty of the future.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEWm A

IMPAIRMENT LOSS ON GOODWILL AND
INTANGIBLE ASSET (THE “IMPAIRMENT")

As disclosed in note 15 and note 16 to the consolidated financial
statements, goodwill and intangible asset have been allocated
to the cash-generating-units (“CGUs") of the Khorgas Group and
Wenlan. The carrying amounts of goodwill (before impairment loss)
and intangible asset (before impairment loss) allocated to the CGUs
of the Khorgas Group and Wenlan amounted to approximately
HK$243.5 million and HK$33.8 million, respectively as at 30 June
2024.

The Impairment loss of goodwill of the Khorgas Group and intangible
asset of Wenlan amounting to approximately HK$223.8 million
and HK$32.8 million, respectively, was made for the year, which
was determined after considering the difference between the
recoverable amount based on value in use calculations and the
carrying value as at 30 June 2024 and 30 June 2023.

The Khorgas Group was engaged in film and TV series production,
distribution and licensing business whereas Wenlan was engaged
in artiste management business. The management assessed
the revenue and profit margin to be generated therefrom after
taking into account the key factors specified in the section headed
“Circumstances leading to the Impairment” below.

Circumstances leading to the Impairment

For the years ended 30 June 2024 and 30 June 2023, the
management of the Company assessed the carrying value and
recoverable amount of the CGUs and goodwill allocated to the CGUs
after taking into account the following factors:

(@) the adverse impact of economic downturn on the financial
performance of the peers in the media and entertainment
industry and certain online streaming platforms for the years
ended 30 June 2024 and 30 June 2023, and thus, further
cost control measures are expected to be taken by industry
participants;
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEWm A

(b) the intensified market competitions among film and TV
production companies in the post-pandemic era, which will
further squeeze the revenues and profit margins of film and
TV production companies as well as service income earned by
artistes management companies;

(c) the implementation of certain government restrictive rules and
regulations such as imposing a cap on the salaries of actors
and actresses, a cap on the maximum number of episodes of
each TV drama, etc.;

(d) the review and comparison of the budgets of the Khorgas
Group and Wenlan prepared for the years and the actual
revenue and profit generated from the Khorgas Group and
Wenlan during the years, from which a shortfall from the
projected revenue and operating profit was found, preliminarily
due to the impact of economic downturn and COVID-19
pandemic for the years ended 30 June 2024 and 30 June 2023,

(e) the expected decrease in the future revenue growth of the
Khorgas Group and Wenlan due to the current and future
challenging macroeconomic environment in the post-pandemic
era; and

(f)  the need to adopt a more reasonable approach in evaluating
the cashflow to be generated from the Khorgas Group and
Wenlan by the adoption of a pre-tax discount rate of 24.7%
and 33.38% respectively (30 June 2023: 25.6% and 30.01%
respectively) with reference to the use of weighted average
costs of capital when the recoverable amount was determined
based on value in use calculations.

The above factors were identified close to the end of the years
ended 30 June 2024 and 30 June 2023 and were assessed and
considered during the course of the preparation of the annual
financial information of the Khorgas Group and Wenlan for the years
ended 30 June 2024 and 30 June 2023.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEF njuﬁﬁ& Tﬁ

The method, basis and key assumptions used in
determining the amount of the Impairment and the
recoverable amount

The Impairment relied on the assessment based on the discount
cash flow method ("DCF"). DCF is adopted because:

(@) the entire carrying amount of the CGUs was tested for
impairment in accordance with the HKAS 36 issued by the
HKICPA by comparing its recoverable amount with its carrying
amount; and

(b)  the Group adopted the DCF method under the income-based
approach in arriving at the value in use. According to the HKAS
36, measuring value in use of an entity should consider an
estimate of the future cash flows the entity expects to derive
from the CGUs. Therefore, the Company adopted the DCF.

The basis and key assumptions used in the assessment are as
follows:

(@)  the Group recognised the impairment loss on goodwill
and intangible assets due to the deteriorating economic
environment brought by the economic downturn and
COVID-19 pandemic in the film and TV series productions,
licensing and distribution business as well as artiste
management sector;

(b)  the economic downturn and the negative impact of COVID-19
pandemic will be a mid-to long term issue;

(c) the intensified market competition among film and TV
production companies and artiste management companies in
the post-pandemic era and the cost control measures taken
by the online streaming platforms and film and TV production
companies;

(d) the interest rate of the banking facilities obtained by the Group
for the operation of the Khorgas Group and Wenlan will not
decrease substantially in the foreseeable future and hence
affecting the discount rate used when adopting the DCF
approach; and
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEWm A

(e) for the impairment testing, the recoverable amount was
determined based on value in use calculations which was
performed by the management. The cash flow projection of
the Khorgas Group was based on financial budgets approved
by the management of the Company covering a five-year
period and a pre-tax discount rate of 24.7% (30 June 2023:
25.6%). The Group’'s management prudently estimated that
the Khorgas Group's revenue and profit margins generated
from the production of films and TV series in the forecast
periods would drop significantly after taking into consideration
the factors stated in “Circumstances leading to the
Impairment” and sales of certain TV series copyrights during
the current year as compared to the previous years’ financial
budgets. The key assumption includes the future expected
cash flows based on management’s view of future business
prospects and historical performance of the Khorgas Group.

In addition, the cash flow projection of Wenlan was based
on financial budgets approved by the management of the
Company covering the remaining periods of a six-year agency
contract and a pre-tax discount rate of 33.38% (30 June
2023: 30.01%). The Group’'s management estimated that
Wenlan's revenue from artiste management business would
drop significantly during the remaining periods of the agency
contract after taking into consideration the factors stated in
“Circumstances leading to the Impairment” as compared to
the previous years' financial budgets. Management prudently
predicted that there would be a drop in revenue in the
remaining forecast period of the agency contract. The key
assumption includes the future expected cash flows based
on management'’s view of future business prospects and
historical performance of Wenlan.

Taking into account the above factors and the reasonable approach
of adopting the relevant accounting standard and the more
suitable discount rate when making cash flow projections, the
Board considers that the Impairment is fair and reasonable. Under
the current challenging environment of film and TV productions,
distribution and licensing business and artiste management
business, the Group’'s management will closely monitor the market
situations and adjust business strategy timely.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEF njuﬁﬁ& Tﬁ

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND
CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 30 June 2024, the Group’s bank balances and cash amounted
to approximately HK$59.0 million (30 June 2023: approximately
HK$85.1 million), which are denominated mainly in HK$, United
States Dollar (“US$"”) and Renminbi (“RMB").

As at 30 June 2024, the Group's total debts, including bank and
other borrowings, and loans from related companies amounted to
approximately HK$57.5 million and approximately HK$108.3 million,
respectively (30 June 2023: approximately HK$98.3 million, and
approximately HK$83.4 million, respectively). As at 30 June 2024,
the gearing ratio, representing the ratio of total debts to total assets,
was approximately 41.9% (30 June 2023: approximately 19.7%).

As at 30 June 2024, the Group had total non-current assets of
approximately HK$30.6 million (30 June 2023: approximately
HK$377.0 million), net current liabilities of approximately HK$140.9
million (30 June 2023: approximately HK$114.4 million) and net
liabilities of approximately HK$185.1 million (30 June 2023: net
assets of approximately HK$167.2 million). The current ratio of
the Group, representing the ratio of current assets to current
liabilities, was approximately 0.72 as at 30 June 2024 (30 June 2023:
approximately 0.83).

During the year ended 30 June 2024, the Group mainly funded
its liquidity by bank and other borrowings, loans from related
companies, and resources generated internally. The Group’s
financial resources are sufficient to support its business and
operations. The Group would also consider other financing activities
when appropriate business opportunities arise under favourable
market conditions.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEWm A

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

During the year ended 30 June 2024, the Group did not hold
any significant investment projects, and there was no material
acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries and associates save for
the disposal of certain subsidiaries as disclosed in note 38 to the
consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 30 June 2024, the Group employed a total of 72 permanent
employees (30 June 2023: 90) in Mainland China and Hong Kong.
During the year ended 30 June 2024, the total salaries and wages,
including the Directors’ remuneration and part-time workers'
salary, amounted to approximately HK$20.3 million (30 June 2023:
approximately HK$32.7 million).

The Group offers remuneration packages for employees mainly
based on their performances and experiences, and with reference
to prevailing industry practices. In addition to enrolling the new
employees into the mandatory provident fund scheme in Hong Kong
and the State-managed pension scheme in the PRC and making
contributions for them on a periodic basis, the Group also provides
medical coverage, internal and external training programs and
grants share options and discretionary bonuses to employees based
on employees’ individual performances and the Group's overall
performance. The Group reviews the remuneration policies and
packages on a regular basis.

CHARGE ON ASSETS

As at 30 June 2024, the Group had bank deposits amounting to
approximately HK$0.7 million (30 June 2023: approximately HK$0.7
million) that were pledged to banks for the bank guarantee provided
to a subsidiary of the Company regarding its due payment under a
cinema equipment rental agreement. The Group's bank borrowings
of RMB15,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$16,200,000)
were secured by pledged bank deposits of HK$20,000,000. As at 30
June 2024, the bank borrowings were repaid and the secured bank
deposits of HK$20,000,000 (2023: HK$20,000,000) is subsequently
released in July 2024.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEWm A

TREASURY POLICY

The Group's business operations were conducted mainly in
Mainland China and Hong Kong with transactions principally
denominated in HK$, US$ and RMB. The monetary assets and
liabilities are denominated mainly in HK$, US$ and RMB. Apart
from HKS$, which is pegged to US$, any significant exchange rate
fluctuations of HK$ against RMB may have a financial impact on
the Group. As the foreign exchange risks arising from sales and
purchases can be eliminated against each other, and the fluctuations
of RMB during the year had no significant impact on the costs and
operations of the Group for the year, the Directors do not foresee
significant risk in exchange rate fluctuation. Currently, the Group
has not entered into any financial instrument for hedging purposes.
However, the Group will closely monitor its overall foreign exchange
exposures and interest rate exposures, and consider hedging
against the exposures should the need arise.

CAPITAL COMMITMENT

As at 30 June 2023 and 2024, the Group did not have any significant
capital commitments.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 30 June 2023 and 2024, the Group did not have any significant
contingent liabilities.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEWm A

OUTLOOK

Looking forward, the Group will continue to focus on the
development of film and television production business as well as
artiste and celebrity agency business in Mainland China, and will
strive to create a pan entertainment ecosystem, integrate upstream
and downstream industry chains, and proactively expand various
realization channels from downstream industry chains, in a bid to
attain its strategic deployment of fusing its strengths and resources.
Taking advantages of the ample resources of online collaboration
platforms, the Group will continue to focus on the creation of high-
quality film and TV content whilst proactively broadening its revenue
base by continuously identifying business opportunities in the
film, television and entertainment markets from the four aspects
including online streaming, short videos, celebrity cultivation and
traffic monetization.

The Group is currently in preparation of a number of projects, and
will proceed to the development and production of a series of highly
popular copyrighted works, such as “Persuader”, “Holding my
Koi Husband”, “The Son of the Minister and the Son of the Rebel
General” ({1EXF4)), “Bungy Jumping” ({H#1%)), “Out of Egypt”
(GEE#E R )), and “A Prairie Tide" ((ERZE)).

As an enterprise with diversified development having a focus on
film, television and variety show content creation and production
with the spirit of business value “Enabling”, the Group will make
good use of the combined resources of scriptwriters, directors
and celebrities to cultivate, explore and create popular films and
television copyrights by continuously offering quality content and
nurturing talented artistes in order to develop its self-owned full
industry chain model and build up a unique soft power, thereby
continuously enhancing profitability, sharpening competitive edges
in the industry and generating favorable long term returns for the
Shareholders.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

ERNEREEEME

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Zhang Liang, Johnson (“Mr. Zhang”), aged 43, was appointed
as an executive Director and the chairman of the Board on 13
December 2017. Mr. Zhang is responsible for the overall corporate
and business development and strategic direction of the Group, and
provides leadership for the Board of Directors. He is an entrepreneur
in various industries, including real estate and energy etc. Mr.
Zhang has more than 13 years of experience in the energy sector.
He served as an executive director from March 2012 to May 2022
and remains as a controlling shareholder of Kinetic Development
Group Limited (formerly known as Kinetic Mines and Energy
Limited) (stock code: 1277), a company listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
which principally engages in coal production and coal trading. Mr.
Zhang is also a controlling shareholder, an executive director and
the chairman of the board of Brainhole Technology Limited (formerly
known as Top Dynamic International Holdings Limited) (stock code:
2203), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
Mr. Zhang has more than 15 years of experience in the real estate
sector. He is a director of Seedland Construction Holdings Limited,
a company incorporated in Hong Kong on 15 July 2008 with limited
liability which, through its subsidiaries, principally engaged in real
estate business.

Mr. Jiang Lei (“Mr. Jiang”), aged 41, was appointed as an
executive Director and Chief Executive Officer of the Company on
10 September 2024. He holds a Master of Fine Arts (Directing) from
Beijing Film Academy* (ltZRE$2EF%). Mr. Jiang has about 18 years
of experience in the film and television entertainment industry. From
August 2011 to April 2021, he served as vice president of H&R
Century Union Corporation (stock code: 000892.SZ), a company

listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange.

*  For identification only
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

E=kafEEEGE

Mr. Lee Hin Kwong, Patrick (“Mr. Lee”), aged 49, was appointed
as an executive Director on 1 December 2017. Mr. Lee was
appointed as a member of each of the Nomination Committee and
Remuneration Committee on 13 December 2017. Mr. Lee has over
21 years of experience in the financial services industry. He obtained
a Bachelor of Business degree from the La Trobe University,
Melbourne Victoria Australia in 1997. During the period from 1997
to 2006, he was employed by HSBC Broking Securities (Asia) Ltd
with his last position as a vice president. He was also a type 4
(advising on securities), type 5 (advising on futures contracts), type
6 (advising on corporate finance) and type 9 (asset management)
licensed representative of the HSBC group from 2003 to 2004, and a
type 1 (dealing in securities), type 2 (dealing in futures contracts) and
type 3 (leveraged foreign exchange trading) licensed representative
of the HSBC group from 2003 to 2006. He then worked as the
personal assistant of Mr. Zhang, an existing executive Director and
the chairman of the Board and the controlling shareholder of the
Company, from 2006 to 2011. Since 2011, he has been employed as
a financial analyst by Kinetic (Asia) Limited which is a wholly owned
subsidiary of Kinetic Development Group Limited (formerly known
as Kinetic Mines and Energy Limited) (stock code: 1277), a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, of which Mr. Zhang
is a controlling shareholder. Since 2016, he has also been a director
of Seedland Construction Holdings Limited, a company indirectly
wholly owned by Mr. Zhang.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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Ms. Zhao Wenzhu (“Ms. Zhao"), aged 39, joined the Company
as the President of the Company on 17 September 2018 and was
appointed as an executive Director of the Company on 26 November
2018. She holds a Master of Filmography from the Communication
University of China* (R BI{E#KE). Ms. Zhao has over 14 years
of experience in mass communications. She is a dynamic leader
with broad exposure and has spearheaded growth initiatives in
her different roles in various companies in mass communication.
Ms. Zhao is currently the general manager of Khorgas Houhai
Culture Media Company Limited (“Houhai Culture”) (ER RH &
8 AL EE A BR 2 A]), the manager and an executive director of
Beijing Juhai Culture Media Company Limited* (it REB/E ({1
BFRA7R]), an executive director of Huzhou Houhai Culture Media
Company Limited* (#ME &G LB HAR A F]), the manager and
an executive director of Tianjin Chuan Di Zhong Xing Entertainment
Limited* (R 2EREREZR LB R 2 7) (since March 2019), an
executive director of Tianjin Chuan Di Si Li Culture Media Limited*
(REEEN H XL EBE AR AT (since June 2019), a director of
Tianjin Chuan Di Wei Lai Culture Media Limited* (K;ZEIERKX
L2 A BR A al) (since June 2019), and an executive director of
Tianjin Chuan Di Shuo Chi Advertising Limited* (KRR 5 E &
BBRAF]) (since August 2019), all being subsidiaries of the Group.
Prior to this, she was the deputy director of Dongyang Sansang
Media Co., Ltd.* (5RF5=m{EHRMHBRAF]) until 2013. She was
also the distribution director and vice-president of Beijing Xishiji
Film and Television Culture Development Co., Ltd.* (1t =% 42
FEXLEEREAMRAA) in 2014 and the general manager and vice-
president of the department of filmography and television of Nanjing
Avenue Hengzhi Culture Media Co., Ltd.* (MR ABEITHI L E
BBR/AF]) from 2014 to 2016. She gained abundant experience by
participating in many television entertainment shows and television
series before, including “Three Kingdoms” ({=FE)), “Long Trip to
Beautiful Rivers and Mountains” ({F5E)LIL)), “The Lost Tomb”
(CEEZEZ)), "Go Fighting” (CIRFRPKEL)) and “Give Me Five” (&
gt L FE)). Ms. Zhao resigned as an executive Director and the
president of the Company with effect from 30 September 2024.

*  For identification only
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Ms. Chen Hong, Vicki (“Ms. Chen”), aged 50, was appointed as
a non-executive Director of the Company on 10 September 2024.
She graduated from British Columbia Institute of Technology in
August 1998 with Management Certificate of Interior Design. Ms.
Chen has around 20 years of experience in business operation. From
November 1998 to February 2001, she served as assistant to the
president of China Connection Investment Planning Ltd.* (B &R
BIAEBR/AF]). From September 2001 to December 2006, she acted
as assistant of the business development of AEDAS HONG KONG
LIMITED (FUERIR(FE)ERAF). From May 2007, she has been
the operations director of Guangzhou R&F Properties Co., Ltd. (M
EHMERGAER DT (stock code: 2777), a company listed on the
Stock Exchange.

Ms. Chen is the cousin of Mr. Zhang, an executive Director and the
chairman of the Board.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wang Bo (“Mr. Wang”), aged 48, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director, the chairman of each of the
Nomination Committee and the Remuneration Committee, and a
member of the Audit Committee on 13 December 2017. Mr. Wang
has over 26 years of experience in financing and insurance industry.
He received from the Sun Yat-Sen University in China his Bachelor
of International Accounting degree minoring in international finance
in June 1998. He was the general manager of Guangdong Baolihua
New Energy Stock Co., Ltd. (stock code: 000690), a company listed
on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, from August 2015 to March 2018.
From July 1998 to June 2015, he was employed by Guangdong
Finance Investment (Holding) Corporation Limited with his last
position as the deputy general manager in the financial planning
department. During the course of employment with Guangdong
Finance Investment (Holding) Corporation Limited, he also served as
the deputy general manager of Guangdong Finance Trust Company
Limited, the director of Zhong Cheng Vehicle Insurance Company
Limited and Zhu Jiang Life Insurance Company Limited, and the
supervisor in Guangdong Guanhao High-tech Co., Ltd. (stock code:
600433), a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange. Mr.
Wang has been an independent non-executive director of K. H.
Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 1557), a company listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange since October 2022.
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Mr. Xiang Feng (“Mr. Xiang”), aged 47, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director, a member of each of the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee on 13 December 2017. Mr. Xiang has over 19 years
of experience in the movie industry. He received his Bachelor of
Economics degree from the University of International Business and
Economics in China in July 1998 and his Master of Arts in Media
Production degree from the Griffith University in Australia in April
2005. He has been a general manager of Funtasy Pictures Co., Ltd.
since February 2015. He has also been a supervisor of Fengzhimeng
Visual Media Culture (Beijing) Company Limited from October 2013
to March 2019. Previously he has served as the chief operating
officer of the Entgroup from March 2009 to September 2010.
Mr. Xiang was also the executive producer of the movie “No Liar, No
Cry"”, the art director interpreter of the movie “the Mummy, Tomb
of the Dragon Emperor”, the script planner of the movie “Cities in
Love”, the bilingual production coordinator of the movie “Up in the
Wind"”, and the line producer of the movie “Last Flight”.

Mr. Chang Eric Jackson (“Mr. Chang”), aged 44, was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director and the chairman of
the Audit Committee on 13 December 2017. Mr. Chang has
over 21 years of experience in accounting, finance and business
advisory work. He received his Bachelor of Commerce degree
from the University of British Columbia in May 2002. He is a
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
since September 2005 and the American Institute of Certified
Public Accountants since January 2005. Mr. Chang has been
an independent non-executive director of Yik Wo International
Holdings Limited (stock code: 8659), a company listed on the GEM
of the Stock Exchange since June 2022. Mr. Chang has been an
independent non-executive director of DL Holdings Group Limited
(previously known as Season Pacific Holdings Ltd) (stock code:
1709), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
since May 2018. Mr. Chang was an independent non-executive
director of Datang Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 2117), a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange from
December 2022 to September 2024. From September 2019 to May
2020, Mr. Chang was the independent non-executive director of
Centenary United Holdings Limited (stock code: 1959). From 2015
to 2021, he was the chief financial officer and company secretary
of a number of listed companies on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Ma Jin (“Mr. Ma”), aged 41, joined Houhai Culture on 1
December 2017. Mr. Ma is currently the deputy general manager of
Houhai Culture, an executive Director of Tianjin Miu Si Culture Media
Limited* (RZZBH XLEEBR A R), a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company and the general manager of Chuan Di Living
Technology (Tianjin) Limited* (BiEAESERE (KE)BRAF). He
graduated from Zhejiang University of Technology with a Bachelor
degree in Law and obtained a professional certificate in production
and direction from the academy of visual arts of the Shanghai Fudan
University. Mr. Ma has 12 years of experience in variety shows and
the film and television industry. From 2012 to 2015, he has been
the assistant of general manager of Blue Star Company under the
Zhejiang Radio and TV Group as well as being responsible for and
participating in the production, planning and promotion of variety
show “Running Man” (FFHIE 75 )) as well as movie like “Running
Man” B23)), “Monster Hunt” (#&#K52)). From 2015 to November
2016, he was the general manager of TV entertainment show
department of the Beijing Jingxi Culture & Tourism Co., Ltd (stock
code: 000802. SZ) who was responsible for the content production
and artiste arrangement of Dragon TV's variety shows “Go Fighting”
(CHEPRBEEL Y) and “Girls Fighting” ({iNH =4 %« )). He was the
executive filmmaker of Zhejiang TV's “Give Me Five” ({@EELE
&) Season | and Il as well as the executive filmmaker of iQIY! love
programme "I Love You, Me Too" ({E#{R » HEE)).

*  For identification only
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Mr. Wang Jun, aged 43, joined Houhai Culture on 1 April 2017.
Mr. Wang Jun is currently the deputy general manager of Houhai
Culture, the vice-president of Guangzhou Daide Management
Consultancy Company Limited (“Guangzhou Daide”), a subsidiary of
the Company, the general manager of Tianjin Chuan Di Zhong Xing
Entertainment Limited* (RZ2EFERERLEEFER A F), the general
manager of Tianjin Chuan Di Wei Lai Culture Media Limited* (KJZ{&
EARRLEEERQF), the general manager of Chuan Di Family
(Shanghai) Technology Limited* (BIEXR (L&) R AR AT and
the general manager of Tianjin Chuan Di Ai Yu Culture Limited* (X
EREES IR ARDF). He graduated from the Business School
of the University of Shanghai for Science and Technology with a
bachelor’'s degree in management. Mr. Wang Jun has 20 years
of experience in the film and television industry and was the vice
president of Cathay Media (Beijing) Co., Ltd. from 2014 to 2016,
of which he was responsible for the production and marketing of
TV dramas, namely “Gods of Honour"” ({¥f##)) and “The Condor
Heroes” ({f#f{=)). From 2013 to 2014, he was the marketing
director of B A £ 18 IR 19 B BR 2 & and was responsible for the
production and marketing of the TV drama namely “Bu Bu Jing
Qing” ({ZHHEHE)) as well as the promotion of artistes like Hu Ge,
Liu Shishi and Gulinazha. From 2004 to 2012, he was the promotion
director of It IREFEIREMBR QT who was responsible for TV
dramas, namely “the Dream of the Red Chamber” ((ALEEZE)), “Ma
La Po Xi” ({FRERZEEEY) and movies like “Gongfu Xia” (ZhX&)) and
“Door” ({F9)) as well as the promotion of artistes ranging from Chen
Kun, Yang Mi, Yang Yang and Li Qin.

*

For identification only
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Mr. He Xian (“Mr. He"), aged 38, joined Houhai Culture on 26
October 2016. Mr. He is currently the producer of Houhai Culture
and the general manager of Tianjin Chuan Di Kua Ke Culture Media
Limited* (RIFEIES = XLEHEFR 2 F)), a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company. He graduated from the Communication University
of China with a Master’'s degree in filming. Mr. He has 13 years of
experience in the film and television industry, of which he was in
charge of film and television program planning and distribution in
Dongyang Sansang Media Co., Ltd.* (3R = & XL &K A F) and
was responsible for the post-production and overseas distribution of
the movie version of “New Romance of the Three Kingdoms" ({#
=E)) from 2011 to 2014. He was the producer of Nanjing Avenue
Hengzhi Culture Media Co., Ltd.* (R AKBITAXLERER D F)
from 2014 to 2016, during which he was the executive producer of
"Singing All Along” ({(FEIILZKFITH), the executive producer
of TV drama “Naughty Grandfather and Grandson” ({AREERY), the
executive producer of web drama “The Lost Tomb"” (BEZT)), the
joint producer of movie “Bad Guys Always Die ((Z2ZE4ZE%)) and
the executive producer of “Go Fighting — Royal Treasure” ({#RFR#k
B2 EREH)). He is currently responsible for web dramas namely
“Hikaru no Go” ({##)), “Persuader” ({(BBHFZH 2 ERET)) and
“Love Destiny” (BB KXED).

Ms. Lau Yee Wa (“Ms. Lau”) was appointed as the company
secretary of the Company and the authorized representative under
Rule 3.05 of the Listing Rules on 4 April 2018. Ms. Lau has over 22
years of experience in the corporate secretarial field and provides
professional corporate services to Hong Kong listed companies as
well as multinational, private and offshore companies. Ms. Lau is
a Chartered Secretary and an Associate of both The Hong Kong
Chartered Governance Institute and The Institute of Chartered
Secretaries and Administrators in the United Kingdom. She holds
a Bachelor's degree in Business Administrative Management from
University of South Australia. Ms. Lau is a director of the company
secretarial services division of Tricor Services Limited.

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Profile of Directors and
Senior Management” in this annual report, there was no change
to any of the information required to be disclosed in relation to any
Director pursuant to paragraphs (a) to (e) and (g) of rule 13.51(2) of
the Listing Rules during the year ended 30 June 2024 and up to the
date of this annual report.

*  For identification only
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The Directors are pleased to present their report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 30
June 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
The principal activities and other particulars of the Company’s
subsidiaries are set out in note 37 to the consolidated financial
statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the Group’s business for the year ended 30 June
2024, a discussion on the Group's future business development
and a description of the principal risks and uncertainties that the
Group may be facing are set out in the Chairman’s Statement on
pages 4 to 7 and the Management Discussion and Analysis on
pages 8 to 19 of this annual report. The capital risk management and
financial risk management objectives and policies of the Group are
set out in notes 31 and 32 to the consolidated financial statements
respectively. An analysis of the Group's performance during the
year using financial key performance indicators is set out in the
Financial Summary on pages 255 to 256 of this annual report. These
discussions form part of this report.

The Group respects the environment and is committed to the
sustainable development of the environment and the society. For
details of the Group's environmental policies and performance
during the year, please refer to the Environmental, Social and
Governance Report on pages 78 to 123 of this annual report.

The Group and its business operations are subject to various laws,
rules and regulations. The Company seeks to ensure adherence to
such laws, rules and regulations through various measures such as
internal controls, approval procedures, staff trainings and overseeing
the business operations at different levels of the Group. The Board
also monitors the Group's policies and practices on compliance with
relevant laws, rules and regulations on a regular basis.
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So far as the Directors and senior management are aware of, for
the year ended 30 June 2024, the Group has obtained the requisite
approvals, permits, consents, licences and registrations for its
business and operations.

To the best knowledge, information and belief of the Directors,
having made all reasonable enquiries, the Group has complied in
material respects with the relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the business and operation of the Group during
the year ended 30 June 2024.

The Group believes that its success depends on the support from
key stakeholders which comprise employees, customers and
suppliers.

The Group recognises that employees are the valuable assets of the
Group. The Group has complied with the applicable employment
laws and regulations and periodically reviews the remuneration
package of the Group’s employees with reference to market
conditions and conform to the performance, qualifications and
experience of employees.

The key customers of the Group include the co-producers,
distributors, online video-streaming platforms and cinemagoers.
The Group is committed to providing good quality service to
its customers and enhancing the loyalty of the customers by
increasing the interaction with customers through social media
platforms, which provide good development to the Group’s overall
performance in the long run.

The Group has maintained solid and good relationships with its
suppliers which ensures quality supply so as to provide high quality
films and services to customers.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group’s loss for the year ended 30 June 2024 is set out in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income on pages 130 to 131 of this annual report.

The Directors do not recommend payment of any final dividend for
the year ended 30 June 2024 (30 June 2023: Nil).
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SEGMENT INFORMATION

Details of the segment information of the Group are set out in note
6 to the consolidated financial statements.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and assets and liabilities of
the Group for the past five financial years as extracted from the
consolidated financial statements in the annual reports 2019/20,
2020/21, 2021/22, 2022/23 and this annual report, respectively are
set out on pages 255 to 256 of this annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

There were no significant movements in the property, plant and
equipment of the Group during the years ended 30 June 2024 and
30 June 2023.

BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Details of bank and other borrowings during the year ended 30 June
2024 are set out in note 24 to the consolidated financial statements
of the Group.

CAPITALISATION OF INTEREST

The Group has not capitalised any interest during the year ended 30
June 2024 (30 June 2023: Nil).

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital during the
year ended 30 June 2024 are set out in note 27 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Details of other equity-linked agreements are included in the section
headed “Share Option Scheme"” in this report.
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RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the
Group during the year ended 30 June 2024 are set out in note 36
to the consolidated financial statements and in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on pages 134 to 136 of this annual
report, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 30 June 2024, the Company had no reserves available for
distribution, calculated in accordance with the Companies Act,
Chapter 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the
Cayman Islands (30 June 2023: HK$Nil).

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY OR
SALE OF TREASURY SHARES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the listed securities of the Company (including
sale of treasury shares) during the year ended 30 June 2024. As of
30 June 2024, the Company did not hold any treasury shares.

ISSUE OF DEBENTURES

Details of perpetual bonds during the year ended 30 June 2024 are set
out in note 28 to the consolidated financial statements of the Group.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 30 June 2024, income received/
receivable from the top five customers in aggregate accounted
for approximately 60.1% of the Group's revenue (30 June 2023:
23.8%). During the same period, income received/receivable from
the single largest customer accounted for approximately 29.0% of
the Group's revenue (30 June 2023: 10.5%).

During the year ended 30 June 2024, the fees paid/payable to the
top five suppliers in aggregate constituted approximately 8.3% (30
June 2023: 17.3%) of the Group's total fees paid/payable to the
suppliers. During the same period, fees paid/payable to the largest
supplier constituted approximately 2.8% (30 June 2023: 5.3%) of
the Group's total fees paid/payable to the suppliers.

None of the Directors, their respective close associates or any
shareholder of the Company (who to the knowledge of the Directors
owns more than 5% of the share capital of the Company) had any
interest in any of the top five customers and suppliers.
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EMOLUMENTS POLICY AND PENSION
SCHEMES

The emoluments of the Directors are recommended by the
remuneration committee of the Company (the “Remuneration
Committee”) after considering factors such as the Company's
operating results, individual performance, salaries paid by
comparable companies, time commitment and responsibilities and
employment conditions elsewhere in the Group.

The remuneration of the employees of the Group is determined with
reference to market terms and the performance, qualifications and
experience of the individual employee.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme (the “Scheme”)
as an incentive to Directors and eligible employees who contribute
to the success of the Group’s operations. Details of the Scheme are
set out in the following section headed “Share Option Scheme” in
this annual report.

The Group has also adopted other employee benefit schemes which
include a provident fund scheme for its employees in Hong Kong, as
required under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance,
and has participated in employee pension schemes organised and
governed by the relevant local governments for its employees in
the PRC. Particulars of these schemes are set out in note 33 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Details of the emolument of the Directors and the five highest paid
individuals of the Group are set out in note 12 to the consolidated
financial statements.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company operates the Scheme for the purpose of providing
incentives and rewards to eligible persons who contribute to the
success of the Group's operations. The Scheme was approved
by the then sole shareholder of the Company on 5 October 2012.
The Scheme was valid and effective for a period of 10 years and
was expired on 5 October 2022. There were no outstanding share
options under the Scheme as at 30 June 2023 and 2024. No share
options have been granted, exercised or cancelled/lapsed under the
Scheme during the years ended 30 June 2023 and 2024. Details
of the Scheme are set out in note 30 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

During the year ended 30 June 2024, other than the Scheme as
set out in the paragraph headed “Share Option Scheme” of this
annual report, the Company did not enter into any other equity-linked
agreement, nor did any other equity-linked agreement exist during
the year.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year ended 30 June 2024 and up to the date
of this report were:

Mr. Zhang Liang, Johnson (Chairman)
Mr. Jiang Lei (Chief Executive Officer)
(appointed on 10 September 2024)
Mr. Lee Hin Kwong, Patrick
Ms. Zhao Wenzhu (President)
(resigned with effect from 30 September 2024)
Ms. Chen Hong, Vicki (appointed on 10 September 2024)
Mr. Wang Bo
Mr. Xiang Feng
Mr. Chang Eric Jackson

Pursuant to Article 84(1) of the Company’s Articles of Association, at
each annual general meeting one-third of the Directors for the time
being, or, if their number is not three or a multiple of three, then
the number nearest to but not less than one-third, shall retire from
office by rotation and shall be eligible for re-election. Every Director,
including those appointed for a specific term, shall be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years. Accordingly,
each of Mr. Zhang Liang, Johnson and Mr. Wang Bo will retire by
rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company,
and being eligible, will offer each of themselves for re-election at
such annual general meeting.

Pursuant to Article 83(3) of the the Company's Articles of
Association, any Director appointed to fill a causal vacancy on the
Board or as an addition to the existing Board shall hold office only
until the first annual general meeting of the Company after such
appointment and shall then be eligible for re-election. Accordingly,
each of Mr. Jiang Lei and Ms. Chen Hong, Vicki will hold office until
the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company, and being
eligible, will offer each of themselves for re-election at such annual
general meeting.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

The biographical details of Directors and senior management of the
Group are disclosed in the section headed “Profile of Directors and
Senior Management” on pages 20 to 27 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE AGREEMENTS

Each of Mr. Zhang Liang, Johnson, Ms. Zhao Wenzhu and Mr.
Lee Hin Kwong, Patrick, being the executive Directors during the
year, had each entered into with the Company a service contract
for an initial fixed term of one year, three years and three years
commencing from 13 December 2017, 26 November 2018 and
1 December 2017 respectively, renewable automatically until (i)
terminated by not less than respectively one month's, two months’
and one month's notice in writing served by either party on the other
expiring at the end of the initial term or any time thereafter or (ii) not
being re-elected at an annual general meeting of the Company at
which he retires and offers for re-election.

Each of Mr. Wang Bo, Mr. Xiang Feng and Mr. Chang Eric Jackson,
being all the independent non-executive Directors during the year,
had respectively renewed a letter of appointment with the Company
in 2018. Each letter of appointment is for a term of one year from the
date of the letter of appointment and renewable automatically for
successive terms of one year each commencing from the next day
after the expiry of the then term of appointment but subject to the
memorandum and the articles of association of the Company.

Mr. Jiang Lei, an executive Director appointed on 10 September
2024, and Ms. Chen Hong, Vicki, a non-executive Director appointed
on 10 September 2024, has each entered into with the Company
a service contract and a letter of appointment respectively for an
initial fixed term of three years and three years commencing from
10 September 2024 respectively renewable automatically until
(i) terminated by not less than respectively two months’ and two
months’ notice in writing served by either party on the other expiring
at the end of the initial term or any time thereafter or (ii) not being
re-elected at an annual general meeting of the Company at which he
retires and offers for re-election.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors has or is proposed
to enter into a service contract/letter of appointment with the
Company or any of its subsidiaries (other than contracts expiring or
determinable by the Group within one year without the payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation)).
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CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each independent non-executive
Director an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to
the Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and the Company considers the
independent non-executive Directors to be independent.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Details of Directors’ interest in transactions, arrangements or
contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s business are set
out in the section headed “Related Party Transactions/Connected
Transactions/Continuing Connected Transactions” in this annual
report and note 35 to the consolidated financial statements.

Other than as disclosed above, there was no transaction,
arrangement or contract of significance to which the Company
or its subsidiaries, or its holding companies or any of its fellow
subsidiaries was a party, and in which a Director was materially
interested, whether directly or indirectly, subsisting during or at the
end of the year ended 30 June 2024.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

Save as disclosed in note 35 to the consolidated financial
statements, none of the Directors or the controlling shareholders of
the Company or their respective associates as defined in the Listing
Rules has any interest in any business which competes or may
compete with the business of the Group during the year ended 30
June 2024.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Save as those disclosed in this annual report, no contracts
concerning the management and administration of the whole or any
substantial part of the businesses of the Company were entered into
or existed during the year ended 30 June 2024.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed above, there is no contract of significance
between the Company or any of its subsidiaries, and a controlling
shareholder or any of its subsidiaries during the year ended 30
June 2024. There is no contract of significance for the provision of
services to the listed issuer or any of its subsidiaries by a controlling
shareholder or any of its subsidiaries during the year ended 30 June
2024.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY AND ITS
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 30 June 2024, the interests of Directors and chief executive of
the Company in the shares and underlying shares of the Company
or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFQO"), which
were notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests
which they are taken or deemed to have under such provisions of
the SFO) and required to be entered in the register maintained by
the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO or which were
required, pursuant to Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules relating
to securities transactions by the Directors, to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange, were as follows:
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Number of
Shares or Approximate
Company/name of Nature of interest/ underlying percentage of
Name of Director associated company capacity Shares Position the interest®?
B A8
B RAT/HEATERE RRMEEFH BROBE B BAEZE S
Mr. Zhang Liang, Johnson Company Interest in a controlled  1,836,391,914" Long 70.75%
RESLE PiN/NE| corporation HE
NN
Company Beneficial owner 87,984,000 Long 3.39%
/N BB A HE
1,924,375,914 74.14%
Notes: st -
1. These shares are registered in the name of Nice Rich Group Limited 1. % % % 17 & &2 M Nice Rich Group Limited

("Nice Rich"), the entire issued share capital of which is legally and
beneficially owned as to 100% by Mr. Zhang Liang, Johnson. Under
the SFO, Mr. Zhang Liang, Johnson is deemed to be interested in all
the shares registered in the name of Nice Rich.

2. The percentage of shareholding is calculated on the basis of the
number of issued Shares as at 30 June 2024 of 2,595,613,733.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 30 June 2024, the interests of the persons, other than
the interests disclosed above in respect of Directors or chief
executive of the Company, in the shares and underlying shares of
the Company which were notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO and
entered in the register maintained by the Company pursuant to
Section 336 of the SFO, or otherwise notified to the Company were
as follows:
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Number of
Shares or Approximate
underlying percentage of
Name of shareholder Nature of interest Shares Position interest®
R 45 SRR
RREW A I E BROHE =B AR
Nice Rich®&®@ Beneficial owner 1,836,391,914  Long 70.75%
Nice Rich®&2 EnlEAA e
China Orient Asset Management Co., Ltd.  Interest in a controlled 1,836,391,914  Long 70.75%
(“China Orient")? corporation 45°)
FERAEEEEBROARADA RREEE RS
(GEEVNE
Dong Yin Development (Holdings) Limited  Interest in a controlled 1,836,391,914  Long 70.75%
(“Dong Yin")@ corporation HE
FRERER)ERAA(ERR] REREB S
Wise Leader Assets Ltd. Interest in a controlled 1,836,391,914  Long 70.75%
(“Wise Leader”)®? corporation Sy
Wise Leader Assets Ltd. REE LB RS
(TWise Leader|)®
China Orient Asset Management Interest in a controlled 1,836,391,914  Long 70.75%
(International) Holding Limited corporation LS5
(“China Orient Int'l")® REEEEES
FERTEEERBER)ERAERAA
(TR ERGER])?
Charming Treasure Investments Ltd. Person having a security 1,836,391,914  Long 70.75%

(“Charming Treasure”)®?
Charming Treasure Investments Ltd.
([ Charming Treasure ]) @

interest in shares
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Notes:

1. Nice Rich, a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands, is
wholly owned by Mr. Zhang Liang, Johnson. Under the SFO, Mr. Zhang
Liang, Johnson is deemed to be interested in all the shares registered
in the name of Nice Rich.

2. 1,836,391,914 Shares were charged by Nice Rich as chargor and
Charming Treasure as chargee as security interest on 30 May 2018
(the “Share Charge”). Charming Treasure is wholly owned by China
Orient Int'l. China Orient Int’l is owned as to 50% by Dong Yin and
50% by Wise Leader. Both Wise Leader and Dong Yin are wholly
owned by China Orient. By virtue of the SFO, each of China Orient,
Dong Yin, Wise Leader and China Orient Int'l is deemed to be
interested in all the shares held by Charming Treasure as security
interest.

3. The percentage of shareholding is calculated on the basis of the
number of issued Shares as at 30 June 2024 of 2,595,613,733.

Save as disclosed above, as at 30 June 2024, the Company had not
been notified by any persons (other than Directors or chief executive
of the Company) who had interests or short positions in the shares
or underlying shares of the Company which would fall under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO to be disclosed
to the Company, or which were recorded in the register required to
be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO.

RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Other than as disclosed under the sections headed “Share Option
Scheme” and “Directors’ and chief executives' interests and short
positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company and its associated corporations” in this annual report, at
no time during the year ended 30 June 2024 was the Company or
any of its subsidiaries, or any of its fellow subsidiaries, a party to
any arrangement to enable the Directors or chief executives of the
Company or their respective close associates (as defined in the
Listing Rules) to have any right to subscribe for securities of the
Company or any of its associated corporations as defined in the
SFO or to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

The Company’s Articles of Association provides that the Directors
and officers shall be indemnified out of the assets and profits of
the Company from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses,
damages and expenses with they shall or may incur or sustain by or
by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or about the
execution of their duty.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance coverage on
directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of any legal actions
against the Directors and senior management of the Group that may
be incurred in the course of performing their duties.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining the highest standard
of corporate governance practices. Information on the corporate
governance practices adopted by the Company is set out in the
Corporate Governance Report on pages 55 to 77 of this annual
report.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS/CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS/CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions of the Group for the year
ended 30 June 2024 are set out in note 35 to the consolidated
financial statements. Some of the transactions also constitute
“Continuing Connected Transactions” under the Listing Rules, as
identified below.

RFFRERERX

ARBNEBERMAURE  EFRSHB
BARBMEHHATEARNMITERE Rk E
MITEBEABMETT - RAEHBRBHER
TRMELXLEFNAETS KA &
A EX BERERXEMEARRRNE
EN g ERE -

ARREREERAKERREEERNET
HB BRI ENTMERRRTERE
ERRABRENETRIEENRREE -

ERER
RABNERHE KT LEEEER - B8

ZiN
RATRPANCEE AT R ERFERAFR
FEEETTETEEARE -

BBERS BEXS SEB

A EBHE 202496 4308 It FFHH TR
BORBERNGAMBREMNES - BT
SR ETRAE T [RERER S ] -
BRI e

EIRIREEE R A7) 2023/24 3R

39



40

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EE S

During the year ended 30 June 2024, the Group had the following
continuing connected transactions, details of which are set out
below:

1) Management Agreement

As disclosed in the Company’s announcements dated 18
January 2021 and 26 May 2021, the Company entered into a
management agreement (the “Management Agreement”) and
a supplemental agreement (the “Supplemental Agreement”)
with Cinema City (WL) Limited (the “Target Company”) and
Mandarin Motion Pictures Limited (the “Mandarin Motion
Pictures”) in relation to the provision of services by Mandarin
Motion Pictures to the Company upon the completion of
disposal of Target Company in respect of the management of
Cinema City (Langham Place) Limited (the “Langham Cinema”)
for the period from 26 May 2021 to 25 May 2024.

The Group is the lessee of the Langham Cinema, the lease of
which has expired in July 2024.

The annual cap and the actual transaction amount of
the transactions contemplated under the Management
Agreement (as novated and supplemented by the
Supplemental Agreement) for the year ended 30 June
2024 is HK$84,000,000 (the year ended 30 June 2023:
HK$92,000,000) and HK$33,531,000 respectively (the year
ended 30 June 2023: HK$27,997,000). The actual transaction
include (1) reimbursement of operation income, operational
cost and expense to Langham Cinema from Mandarin Motion
Pictures, amounting to HK$32,981,000 (the year ended 30
June 2023: HK$27,397,000); and (2) management fee to
the Company from Mandarin Motion Pictures, amounting to
HK$550,000 (the year ended 30 June 2023: HK$600,000).
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Mr. Wong Pak Ming (“Mr. Wong"), being a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Company, and his associates hold 100%
of the issued share capital of Mandarin Motion Pictures.
Accordingly, Mandarin Motion Pictures is a connected person
of the Company at the subsidiary level and the entering into of
the Management Agreement (as novated and supplemented
by the Supplemental Agreement) constituted a continuing
connected transaction for the Company under Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules. By virtue of Rule 14A.101 of the Listing
Rules, since (i) Mandarin Motion Pictures is a connected
person at the subsidiary level, (ii) the Board had approved
the Management Agreement (as novated and supplemented
by the Supplemental Agreement), and (iii) the Directors
(including the independent non-executive Directors) had also
confirmed that the terms of the Management Agreement (as
novated and supplemented by the Supplemental Agreement)
are fair and reasonable, and are on normal commercial terms
or better and the Management Agreement (as novated and
supplemented by the Supplemental Agreement) is in the
interests of the Company and the Shareholders as a whole,
the Management Agreement (as novated and supplemented
by the Supplemental Agreement) was subject to the reporting
and announcement requirements, but was exempt from
the circular, independent financial advice and shareholders’
approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

For further details about the Management Agreement and
the Supplemental Agreement, please refer to the Company’s
announcements dated 18 January 2021 and 26 May 2021,
respectively.

The Directors confirm that the Company has complied with the
disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

All independent non-executive Directors of the Company have
reviewed the above continuing connected transactions and
confirmed that the transactions have been entered into:

(a)

(b)

(c)

in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

either on normal commercial terms or on terms no less
favorable to the Group than terms available to or from
independent third parties; and

in accordance with the relevant agreement governing them on
terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
shareholders of the listed issuer as a whole.
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In accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the Company's
auditor was engaged to report on the Group's continuing connected
transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance
Engagements 3000 (Revised)”Assurance Engagements Other Than
Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with
reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing
Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The
auditor has issued his unqualified letter containing his findings and
conclusions in respect of the continuing connected transactions
disclosed by the Group in pages 40 to 42 of this annual report in
accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A copy of the
auditor’'s letter has been provided by the Company to the Stock
Exchange.

Save as the aforementioned continuing connected transactions,
no other related party transaction disclosed in note 35 to the
consolidated financial statements constitutes a connected
transaction or continuing connected transaction that should be
disclosed pursuant to Rules 14A.49 and 14A.71 of the Listing Rules.
The Company has complied with the disclosure requirements in
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS

Guangzhou Daide Management Consultancy Company Limited
("Guangzhou Daide"), through its wholly-owned subsidiary, Houhai
Culture as operating company and its subsidiary (the “Khorgas
Group"), is principally engaged in TV entertainment show and TV
program production and operation (including introduction business).
Guangzhou Daide is a limited liability company established under
the laws of the PRC and is owned as to 99% by Mr. TANG Jimin
(“Mr. Tang”) (B#80 and 1% by Ms. WANG Qinyang (“Ms. Wang")
(E&PR3), being the equity owners of Guangzhou Daide nominated
by the Company (the “Original PRC Equity Owner(s)"). On 4 August
2021, the 99% and 1% equity owned respectively by Mr. Tang and
Ms. Wang were transferred to Mr. Lin Jianfei* (“Mr. Lin") (FR&l7)
and Ms. Miao Mengzhu* (“Ms. Miao") (BE4) (the “"New PRC
Equity Owners”), whereby the rights enjoyed and the obligations
undertaken by the Original PRC Equity Owners under the contractual
arrangements of the target company were altogether transferred to
the New PRC Equity Owners.

i For identification only
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The aggregate revenues of the Khorgas Group that were attributable
to the Group through the VIE Operating Agreements (as defined
below) amounted to approximately HK$192,000,000 for the year
ended 30 June 2024. As at 30 June 2024, the net assets attributable
to the Khorgas Group were approximately HK$3,000,000.

On 27 May 2018, Guangzhou Huohua Investment Company
Limited (“Guangzhou Huohua”), Guangzhou Daide and the PRC
Equity Owners entered into the VIE acquisition agreement (the
“VIE Acquisition Agreement”), pursuant to which the parties shall
upon completion enter into the VIE operating agreements. VIE
operating agreements comprised the exclusive operation service
agreement, the exclusive option agreements, the entrustment
agreements and powers of attorney, the equity pledge agreements
and the loan agreement (collectively are referred to as the “VIE
Operating Agreements”). Under the VIE Operating Agreements,
Guangzhou Huohua will have effective control over the finance and
operation of Guangzhou Daide and Houhai Culture and will enjoy
the entire economic interests and benefits generated by Guangzhou
Daide and the Khorgas Group from completion (the “Contractual
Arrangements”), for a cash consideration of RMB450,000,000
(subject to any downward adjustment as contemplated by the profit
guarantee agreement).

Houhai Culture is a limited liability company established under the
laws of the PRC and is principally engaged in TV entertainment show
and TV program production and operation (including introduction
business). Pursuant to the Catalogue of Industries for Guiding
Foreign Investment (2017 revised version) ({/NEREEZEIEER
$%(2017518%5T))) (the “Catalogue”) promulgated by the Ministry
of Commerce, the principal business of Houhai Culture, falls
within the prohibited industry for foreign investment. In light of the
abovementioned foreign ownership restriction, in order to comply
with applicable PRC laws and regulations and obtain the entire
economic benefits attributable to the Khorgas Group, Guangzhou
Huohua (a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company), Guangzhou
Daide and the PRC Equity Owners entered into the VIE Acquisition
Agreement, pursuant to which the parties agreed to enter into
the VIE Operating Agreements upon completion. Under the VIE
Operating Agreements, Guangzhou Huohua will have effective
control over the finance and operation of Guangzhou Daide and the
Khorgas Group and will enjoy the entire economic interests and
benefits generated by Guangzhou Daide and the Khorgas Group
from completion. No other approval is required to be obtained and
no other additional eligibility standards is required to be fulfilled by
the Khorgas Group under the arrangements as contemplated under
the VIE Operating Agreements.
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Investment activities in the PRC by foreign investors are primarily
regulated by the Catalogue, which was promulgated and is amended
from time to time jointly by the Ministry of Commerce of the PRC
(the “"MOFCOM") and the National Development and Reform
Commission of the PRC. The Catalogue divides industries into four
categories in terms of foreign investment, including “encourage”,
“restricted” and “prohibited”, and all industries not listed under any
of these categories are deemed to be “permitted”. Pursuant to the
Catalogue, the business that the Khorgas Group currently operates
falls into the category of “prohibited”. Therefore, as Guangzhou
Huohua is a foreign-owned company, it is not allowed to hold any
equity interests of Houhai Culture under the PRC laws.

The PRC legal advisers, after taking all reasonable and possible
actions and steps to reach its legal conclusions, are of the following
legal opinion:

- the VIE Operating Agreements are narrowly tailored to achieve
the business purposes of the Company and minimise the
potential for conflict with relevant PRC laws and regulations;

- each of Guangzhou Huohua, Guangzhou Daide and the
members of the Khorgas Group are duly established and validly
existing under the PRC laws, and has obtained or completed
all requisite approvals, permits, registrations or filings that are
material for carrying out its business operations as required by
the applicable PRC laws, regulations and rules;

- each of the VIE Operating Agreements, taken individually and
collectively, constitutes legal, valid and binding obligations
of the parties thereto and will be enforceable under
applicable PRC laws and regulations except that (a) the China
International Economic and Trade Arbitration Commission
has no power to grant injunctive relief, nor will it be able to
order the winding up of Guangzhou Daide or Houhai Culture
pursuant to the current PRC laws; and (b) interim remedies
or enforcement order granted by overseas courts such as
the courts of Hong Kong and the Cayman Islands may not be
recognised or enforceable in the PRC;
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the VIE Operating Agreements do not, individually or
collectively, violate the mandatory provisions of the PRC
Contract Law, the General Principles of the PRC Civil Law and
other applicable PRC laws and regulations and are not deemed
as “concealing illegal intentions with a lawful form” resulting in
the invalidity of the VIE Operating Agreements;

none of the VIE Operating Agreements violates any provisions
of the existing articles of association of each of Guangzhou
Huohua, Guangzhou Daide and members of the Khorgas
Group; and

the execution, effectiveness and enforceability of the VIE
Operating Agreements do not require any approvals from
any PRC governmental authority, except that (1) each of the
Equity Pledge Agreements (as defined below) is subject to
registration requirements with the relevant administration
for industry and commerce; (2) the exercising of the
exclusive options by Guangzhou Huohua according to the
Exclusive Option Agreements (as defined below) shall be
subject to the then effective PRC laws and regulations and
relevant approving procedures (if applicable); and (3) if the
enforcement of the VIE Operating Agreements is subject to
the enforcement of the ruling by the arbitrator and/or overseas
courts outside PRC, the claimant shall enforce the ruling via
PRC courts with jurisdiction.

The following sets out the principal terms of the VIE Operating
Agreements, which had been in place since 28 August 2018:

The exclusive operation service agreement was entered into
between Guangzhou Huohua, Guangzhou Daide, Houhai
Culture and the Original PRC Equity Owners pursuant to
which Guangzhou Daide and Houhai Culture agreed to engage
Guangzhou Huohua as its exclusive consultant and service
provider. Guangzhou Huohua has the exclusive right to
provide Guangzhou Daide and Houhai Culture with consulting
services including but not limited to: (1) provision of advice on
the operations of the movie and drama production business;
(2) management and consultation related to the movie and
drama production business, and training of the staff; (3)
provision of advice on human resources; (4) assistance on
market research;(5) selection and introductions of clients; (6)
formulation of operation and sales strategies; (7) quality control
of the movie and drama production business; and (8) provision
of advice on financing.
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Guangzhou Daide shall pay to Guangzhou Huohua a service
fee which is equal to 100% of its audited annual distributable
profits (after deduction of any loss of the previous year and
statutory provident fund (if applicable)) before 30 June of every
year. The services fee was determined by the parties to ensure
that Guangzhou Huohua will enjoy the economic benefits of
the VIE Operating Agreements.

The first exclusive option agreement was entered into
between Guangzhou Huohua, Guangzhou Daide and
the Original PRC Equity Owners (the “Exclusive Option
Agreement 1"), and the second exclusive option agreement
was entered into between Guangzhou Huohua, Guangzhou
Daide and Houhai Culture (the “Exclusive Option Agreement
2" and together with the Exclusive Option Agreement 1, the
"Exclusive Option Agreements”).

Pursuant to the Exclusive Option Agreement 1, each of the
Original PRC Equity Owners irrevocably and unconditionally
granted an exclusive option to Guangzhou Huohua which
entitles Guangzhou Huohua to elect to purchase at any time,
when permitted by the then applicable PRC laws, all or any
part of the equity interest in the Guangzhou Daide by itself
or through its designated person(s); and Guangzhou Daide
irrevocably and unconditionally granted an exclusive option to
Guangzhou Huohua which entitles Guangzhou Huohua to elect
to purchase at any time, when permitted by the then applicable
PRC laws, all or any part of the assets of Guangzhou Daide by
itself or through its designated person(s).

Pursuant to the Exclusive Option Agreement 2, Guangzhou
Daide irrevocably and unconditionally granted an exclusive
option to Guangzhou Huohua which entitles Guangzhou
Huohua to elect to purchase at any time, when permitted by
the then applicable PRC laws, all or part of the equity interest
in Houhai Culture by itself or through its designated person(s);
and Houhai Culture irrevocably and unconditionally granted
an exclusive option to Guangzhou Huohua which entitles
Guangzhou Huohua to elect to purchase at any time, when
permitted by the then applicable PRC laws, all or part of the
assets of Houhai Culture by itself or through its designated
person(s).
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The transfer price of the relevant equity interests and assets
shall be the minimum purchase price permitted under PRC
law, and each of the Original PRC Equity Owners, Guangzhou
Daide and the Houhai Culture will undertake that she/he/it
will return in full the consideration received in relation to such
transfer of equity interests or assets to Guangzhou Huohua or
its designated person(s). The exercise price was determined
by the parties to ensure that WOFE will enjoy the economic
benefits of the VIE Operating Agreements.

The first entrustment agreement and powers of attorney
was entered into between Guangzhou Huohua, Guangzhou
Daide and the Original PRC Equity Owners (the “Entrustment
Agreement and Powers of Attorney 1"), and the second
entrustment agreement and powers of attorney was entered
into between Guangzhou Huohua, Guangzhou Daide and
Houhai Culture (the “Entrustment Agreement and Powers of
Attorney 2").

Pursuant to the Entrustment Agreement and Powers of
Attorney 1, each of the Original PRC Equity Owners irrevocably
appointed Guangzhou Huohua or its designated person(s)
(other than the PRC Equity Owners) as its attorney-in-fact to
act for all matters pertaining to the Guangzhou Daide and to
exercise all of their rights as shareholders of the Guangzhou
Daide, including but not limited to: (i) proposing to convene
and attend shareholders’ meetings of the Guangzhou Daide;
(i) exercising all the voting rights as shareholders of the
Guangzhou Daide; (iii) dealing with the rights as a shareholder
to the assets and profits of the Guangzhou Daide; (iv)
transferring or disposing of the shares of the Guangzhou
Daide; (v) receiving notice of convening and proceedings of
shareholders’ meetings of the Guangzhou Daide, signing
minutes of shareholders’ meetings and submitting any
documents to relevant company registration authorities for
filing purpose; (vi) receiving the remaining assets of the
Guangzhou Daide upon its dissolution or liquidation; and (vii)
exercising all other shareholders’ rights under other applicable
PRC laws and regulations and the articles of association (as
amended from time to time) of the Guangzhou Daide.
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Pursuant to the Entrustment Agreement and Powers of
Attorney 2, Guangzhou Daide irrevocably appoints Guangzhou
Huohua or its designated person(s) (other than the Original
PRC Equity Owners) as its attorney-in-fact to act for all
matters pertaining to Houhai Culture and to exercise all of its
rights as the shareholder of Houhai Culture, including but not
limited to: (i) proposing to convene and attend shareholders’
meetings of Houhai Culture; (ii) exercising all the voting
rights as shareholders of Houhai Culture; (iii) dealing with the
rights as a shareholder to the assets and profits of Houhai
Culture; (iv) transferring or disposing of the shares of Houhai
Culture; (v) receiving notice of convening and proceedings
of shareholders’ meetings of the Houhai Culture, signing
minutes of shareholders’ meetings and submitting any
documents to relevant company registration authorities for
filing purpose;(vi) receiving the remaining assets of Houhai
Culture upon its dissolution or liquidation; and (vii) exercising all
other shareholders’ rights under other applicable PRC laws and
regulations and the articles of association (as amended from
time to time) of Houhai Culture.

The first equity pledge agreement was entered into between
Guangzhou Huohua, Guangzhou Daide and the Original PRC
Equity Owners (the “Equity Pledge Agreement 1”), and the
second equity pledge agreement was entered into between
Guangzhou Huohua, Guangzhou Daide and Houhai Culture (the
“Equity Pledge Agreement 2", and together with the Equity
Pledge Agreement 1, the “Equity Pledge Agreements”).

Pursuant to the Equity Pledge Agreement 1, each of the
Original PRC Equity Owners agreed to pledge all of his/her
respective equity interests in Guangzhou Daide to Guangzhou
Huohua to secure performance of the obligations of himself/
herself and Guangzhou Daide under the VIE Operating
Agreements and pursuant to the Equity Pledge Agreement 2,
Guangzhou Daide agreed to pledge all of its respective equity
interests in Houhai Culture to Guangzhou Huohua to secure
the performance of obligations of itself and Houhai Culture
under the VIE Operating Agreements. Without the prior
written consent of Guangzhou Huohua, each of the Original
PRC Equity Owners and Guangzhou Daide has undertaken not
to create or allow to create any new pledge or encumbrance
over their respective interests in Guangzhou Daide and Houhai
Culture.
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The loan agreement (the “Loan Agreement”) was entered
into between Guangzhou Huohua and Guangzhou Daide.
Pursuant to the terms of the Loan Agreement, Guangzhou
Huohua shall provide a non-interest bearing loan facility in
the maximum principal amount of RMB450,000,000 (subject
to any downward adjustment as contemplated by the profit
guarantee agreement) to Guangzhou Daide for the purpose of
the acquisition of the entire equity interest of Houhai Culture.
The loan will be provided to Guangzhou Daide by installment
corresponding to Guangzhou Daide’s payment schedule under
the equity transfer agreement. The loan will be financed by
way of shareholder’s loan to be made available to Guangzhou
Huohua, with an annual interest rate of 7% and a term of
three years. The loan will be for a term of 20 years from the
respective drawdown date of each installment of the loan.
Guangzhou Daide shall repay the loan in full if Guangzhou
Huohua gives prior notice to Guangzhou Daide demanding for
repayment. Save as the demand notice given by Guangzhou
Huohua, Guangzhou Daide shall have no right of early
repayment.

The Spouses’ Undertakings

The spouse of the Original PRC Equity Owner Ms. Wang
executed a spouse confirmation, pursuant to which he
undertook and agreed, among others, (i) to acknowledge that
all the equity interests held by Ms. Wang in Guangzhou Daide
belong to herself and do not form part of the matrimonial
property, and any disposal of the equity interest held by Ms.
Wang pursuant to the relevant VIE Operating Agreements
does not require the consent of him; and that (ii) any execution
and amendment of any of the VIE Operating Agreements does
not require the signing, confirmation and consent of him. The
other Original PRC Equity Owner, Mr. Tang does not have a
spouse.

On 4 August 2021, the respective spouse of the New PRC
Equity Owners Mr. Lin and Ms. Miao executed the spouse
confirmation to undertake and agree, among others, (i) to
acknowledge that all the equity interests held by Mr. Lin and
Ms. Miao in Guangzhou Daide belong to Mr. Lin himself and
Ms. Miao herself and do not form part of the matrimonial
property, and any disposal of the equity interest held by
Mr. Lin or Ms. Miao pursuant to the relevant VIE Operating
Agreements does not require the consent of their respective
spouse; and that (ii) any execution and amendment of any of
the VIE Operating Agreements does not require the signing,
confirmation and consent of their respective spouse.
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The following are the risks associated with the Contractual
Arrangements. Further details of the risks were set out in the
circular of the Company dated 26 July 2018.

- There is no assurance that the VIE Operating Agreements
could comply with future changes in the regulatory
requirements in the PRC and the PRC government may
determine that the VIE Operating Agreements do not comply
with applicable regulations;

- The VIE Operating Agreements may not be as effective
in providing operational control as direct ownership and
Guangzhou Daide or its shareholders may fail to perform its
obligations under the VIE Operating Agreements;

- The Group may lose control over Houhai Culture and may
not enjoy the full economic benefits of Houhai Culture if
Houhai Culture declares bankruptcy or becomes subject to a
dissolution or liquidation proceeding;

- The VIE Operating Agreements may be subject to scrutiny
by the PRC tax authorities and additional taxes may be
imposed. A finding that the Group’s owe additional taxes could
substantially reduce the Group’s net income;

- The shareholder(s) of Guangzhou Daide may have conflicts of
interest with the Group, which may materially and adversely
affect the Group’s business and financial conditions;

- Certain terms of the VIE Operating Agreements may not be
enforceable under PRC law and enforcement of certain of the
Group’s rights under the VIE Operating Agreements is subject
to regulatory approval;

- A substantial amount of costs and time may be involved in
transferring the ownership of Guangzhou Daide and Houhai
Culture to the Group under the Exclusive Option Agreements;
and

- The Group does not have any insurance which covers the risks

relating to the VIE Operating Agreements and the transactions
contemplated thereunder.
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The Group adopted the following measures to mitigate against any
potential risk.

- On 15 March 2019, the National People’s Congress
promulgated the PRC Foreign Investment Law or the
FIL, which has become effective on 1 January 2020 and
replaced the outgoing laws regulating foreign investment
in China, namely, the PRC Equity Joint Venture Law, the
PRC Cooperative Joint Venture Law and the Wholly Foreign-
owned Enterprise Law, as well their implementation rules
and ancillary regulations. The FIL stipulates three major
forms of foreign investment, but does not explicitly stipulate
contractual arrangements as a form of foreign investment.
However, uncertainties still exist in relation to interpretation
and implementation of the FIL, especially in regard to,
including, among other things, the nature of variable interest
entities contractual arrangements and specific rules regulating
the organization form of foreign-invested enterprises within
the five-year transition period. While the FIL does not define
contractual arrangements as a form of foreign investment
explicitly, it stipulates that foreign investment includes
“investment by foreign investors through such other methods
under laws, administrative regulations or provisions prescribed
by the State Council.” There is the possibility that future
laws, administrative regulations or provisions prescribed by
the State Council may regard contractual arrangements as a
form of foreign investment, at which time it will be uncertain
whether our contractual arrangements would be deemed
in violation of foreign investment laws and regulations and
how our contractual arrangements would then be handled by
relevant PRC authorities. Therefore, there is no guarantee that
our contractual arrangements, and the business of Guangzhou
Daide and Houhai Culture, will not be materially and adversely
affected in the future due to changes in PRC laws. As at the
date of this annual report, the Group’s chief financial officer
has been the responsible person who conducted interviews
with the relevant senior management of Guangzhou Daide and
Houhai Culture every six months. The Group’s chief financial
officer will also consult the Company's PRC legal adviser from
time to time to check if there are any legal developments in
the PRC affecting the arrangement contemplated under the
VIE Contracts, and immediately report to the Board of Director
thereafter so as to allow the Board of Director to determine if
any modification or amendment is required to be made;
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as part of the internal control measures, major issues arising
from the implementation of the VIE Operating Agreements
with Guangzhou Daide, the Original PRC Equity Owners or the
New PRC Equity Owners and Houhai Culture will be regularly
reviewed, at least on an annual basis, by the Board. The Board
will determine, as part of its periodic review process, whether
legal advisers and/or other professionals will be engaged to
assist the Group to deal with specific issues arising from the
VIE Operating Agreements;

if the payment of the service fees from Guangzhou Daide to
Guangzhou Huohua is delayed, the chief financial officer must
meet with the Original PRC Equity Owners or the New PRC
Equity Owners to investigate, and should report any suspicious
matters to the Board;

matters relating to compliance and regulatory enquiries from
government authorities (if any) will be discussed at regular
meetings by the Board no less frequently than on a quarterly
basis;

the relevant business units and operation divisions of the
Group will report regularly, which will be no less frequently
than on a monthly basis, to the senior management of the
Company in relation to compliance and performance conditions
under the VIE Operating Agreements and other related
matters;

the chief financial officer of the Company shall conduct regular
site visits to Guangzhou Daide and Houhai Culture and conduct
personnel interviews quarterly and submit reports to the
Board;

the chief financial officer of the Company shall collect monthly
management accounts, bank statements and cash balances
and major operational data of Guangzhou Daide and Houhai
Culture for review. Upon discovery of any suspicious matters,
the chief financial officer must report to the Board;

any material contracts entered into by Guangzhou Daide and
Houhai Culture which is outside their respective ordinary
course of business must be approved by the Company;
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- Guangzhou Daide and the Original PRC Equity Owners and the
New PRC Equity Owners have undertaken that they will not
carry on, own or acquire any business which is in competition
with or is likely to be in competition with the business carried
on by Houhai Culture without the prior written consent of
Guangzhou Huohua; and

- the Group will terminate the VIE Operating Agreements as
soon as the law allows the business to be operated without
them.

There has not been any material change in the Contractual
Arrangements and/or the circumstances under which they were
adopted for the year ended 30 June 2024.

Pursuant to the relevant provisions of the VIE Operating
Agreements, Guangzhou Huohua has the right to unwind the VIE
Operating Agreements as soon as the relevant PRC laws allow
Guangzhou Huohua to register itself as the shareholder of Houhai
Culture. There has not been any unwinding of any Contractual
Arrangements, nor has there been any failure to unwind any
Contractual Arrangements when the restrictions that led to the
adoption of the Contractual Arrangements are removed.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the date of this annual report, based on information that is
publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the
Directors, the Directors confirm that the Company maintained the
prescribed public float as required under the Listing Rules.

EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

Save for the event after reporting period as disclosed in note 39 to
the consolidated financial statements, no significant events have
taken place subsequent to 30 June 2024 and up to the date of this
report.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee has reviewed the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 30 June 2024. For
details of the composition and the functions of the Audit Committee,
please refer to pages 64 to 65 of the Corporate Governance Report
contained in this annual report.

AUDITOR

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu will retire, and being eligible, offer
themselves for re-appointment at the forthcoming annual general
meeting. A resolution for their re-appointment as auditor of the
Company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual general
meeting. There is no change in the Company’s auditor for the three
years ended 30 June 2022, 2023 and 2024.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Articles of Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands, being the
jurisdiction in which the Company was incorporated, which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to
existing shareholders of the Company.

On behalf of the Board
Zhang Liang, Johnson
Chairman

Hong Kong, 27 September 2024
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CULTURE

The Company is committed to ensuring that its affairs are conducted
in accordance with high ethical standards. This reflects its belief
that, in the achievement of its long-term objectives, it is imperative
to act with probity, transparency and accountability. By so acting,
the Company believes that Shareholder wealth will be maximised
in the long term and that its employees, those with whom it does
business and the communities in which it operates will all benefit.

Corporate governance is the process by which the Board instructs
management of the Group to conduct its affairs with a view to
ensuring that its objectives are met. The Board is committed to
maintaining and developing robust corporate governance practices
that are intended to ensure:

- satisfactory and sustainable returns to Shareholders;

- that the interests of those who deal with the Company are
safeguarded;

- that overall business risk is understood and managed
appropriately;

- the delivery of high-quality products and services to the
satisfaction of customers; and

- that high standards of ethics are maintained.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to achieving high standards of corporate
governance practices and following the principles as set out in the
Corporate Governance Code contained in Appendix C1 to the Listing
Rules (the “CG Code").

The Board is of the view that throughout the year ended 30 June
2024, the Company has complied with and did not deviate from
the code provisions as set out in the CG Code. The Board regularly
monitors and reviews the Group’s progress in respect of corporate
governance practices to ensure compliance.
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DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by Directors on terms no less exacting than the
required standard of dealings set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing
Rules (the “Company Code").

Having made specific enquiries, all Directors have confirmed that
they have complied with the required standard of dealings and the
Company Code during the year ended 30 June 2024.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of and
promoting the success of the Company. This is achieved by
setting up corporate and strategic objectives and policies, and the
monitoring and evaluations of operating activities and financial
performance of the Company.

All the Directors carry out their duties in good faith and in
compliance with applicable laws and regulations, taking decisions
objectively and acting in the interests of the Company and the
Shareholders at all times.

BOARD COMPOSITION

The Board of the Company comprises the following Directors:

Mr. Zhang Liang, Johnson (Chairman)

Mr. Jiang Lei (Chief Executive Officer)
(appointed on 10 September 2024)

Mr. Lee Hin Kwong, Patrick

Ms. Zhao Wenzhu (President)
(resigned with effect from 30 September 2024)

Ms. Chen Hong, Vicki (appointed on 10 September 2024)

Mr. Wang Bo
Mr. Xiang Feng
Mr. Chang Eric Jackson

Biographical details of the Directors are set out in “Profile of
Directors and Senior Management” on pages 20 to 27 of this annual
report. The composition of the Board is well balanced. Each of
the Directors has relevant expertise and extensive corporate and
strategic planning experiences that can contribute to the business of
the Group.
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During the year ended 30 June 2024, the Company had complied
with Rules 3.10(1) and (2) and 3.10A of the Listing Rules relating
to the appointment of at least three independent non-executive
Directors representing more than one-third of the Board and at
least one of them has appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise. All the
independent non-executive Directors have met the guidelines for
the assessment of their independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules. The Board has received an annual confirmation
of independence from each of the independent non-executive
Directors. The Company considers all the independent non-
executive Directors to be independent.

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Profile of Directors and
Senior Management” on pages 20 to 27 of this annual report, there
is no relationship (including financial, business, family or other
material/relevant relationship(s)) among members of the Board and
the senior management of the Group.

Formal service contracts or letters of appointment have been issued
to the executive Directors and the independent non-executive
Directors respectively setting out the key terms and conditions of
their respective appointments.

The insurance cover in respect of any legal action against the
Directors and senior officers arising out of corporate activities is
covered by the Directors and Officers Liability Insurance Policy of
the Company.

Each of Mr. Jiang Lei and Ms. Chen Hong, Vicki, an executive
Director and non-executive Director respectively appointed on 10
September 2024, (i) had obtained the legal advice referred to in Rule
3.09D of the Listing Rules on 19 August 2024; and (ii) had confirmed
that each of them understood their obligations as a Director.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Mr. Jiang Lei was appointed as Chief Executive Officer on 10
September 2024 and Ms. Zhao Wenzhu has resigned as president
of the Company (the “President”), as well as executive Director,
with effect from 30 September 2024 passing her duties and
responsibilities to Mr. Jiang. Under the code provision C.2.1 of
the CG Code, the roles of chairman and chief executive should be
separated and should not be performed by the same individual.
The division of responsibilities between the chairman and chief
executive should be clearly established and set out in writing. During
the year ended 30 June 2024, Mr. Zhang Liang, Johnson held the
position of the chairman of the Board (the “Chairman”). Ms. Zhao
Wenzhu served as the President during the year.
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The Chairman is responsible for the overall strategic planning
and policy-making of the Group while the Company’'s business
development and daily management have been monitored by the
Chief Executive Officer together with the executive Directors as
well as the senior management of the Group.

The Company has no written terms on the general division of
responsibilities between the Chairman and the President. The Board
considers that the responsibilities of the Chairman and the President
are clear and distinctive and hence written terms thereof are not
necessary.

On 10 September 2024, Mr. Jiang Lei was appointed as an
executive Director and CEO. The roles of chairman and chief
executive was separate and performed by different individuals,
which complies with the code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code.

RESPONSIBILITIES AND DELEGATION OF
FUNCTIONS

The Company has formalised and adopted written terms on the
division of functions reserved to the Board and those delegated to
the management of the Group. The Board reserves for its decision
on all major matters of the Company, including the approval and
monitoring of all policy matters, overall strategies and budgets, risk
management and internal control systems, material transactions
(in particular those that may involve conflict of interests), financial
information, appointment of Directors and other significant financial
and operational matters. Responsibilities relating to implementing
decisions of the Board, directing and coordinating the daily
operation and management of the Company are delegated to the
management.

All Directors have full and timely access to all relevant information
as well as the advice and services of the company secretary of
the Company (the “Company Secretary”) and senior management
of the Group, with a view to ensuring compliance with the Board
procedures and all applicable laws and regulations. Any Director
may request independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances at the Company’s expense, upon reasonable
request being made to the Board. The day-to-day management,
administration, and operations of the Company are delegated to
the executive Directors and senior management of the Group.
The Board has delegated a schedule of responsibilities to these
officers for the implementation of the Board decisions. The Board
periodically reviews the delegated functions and work tasks. Prior to
entering into any significant transactions, the aforesaid officers have
to obtain the Board's approval.
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No corporate governance committee has been established by the
Company and the Board is responsible for performing the corporate
governance duties, which included:

(1)  developing and reviewing the policies and practices on
corporate governance of the Group;

(2)  to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management of the Group;

(3) to review and monitor the Group’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(4) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to Directors and
employees; and

(5)  to review the Company's compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the corporate governance report of the Company.

During the year ended 30 June 2024, the Board has reviewed the
Company's corporate governance policies and practices, training
and continuous professional development of Directors and senior
management, the Company’s policies and practices on compliance
with legal and regulatory requirements, the compliance with the
Company's Code, and the Company’'s compliance with the CG Code
and disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report.

To strengthen and enhance the highest level of corporate
governance practices and conduct, the Company has adopted anti-
corruption policy, whistleblowing policy and board independence
evaluation mechanism in June 2022.

The anti-corruption policy setting out the basic standard of conduct
which applies to all directors, officers and employees of the
Company, in order to promote and support anti-corruption laws and
regulations.

The whistleblowing policy allows our employees or other
stakeholders (e.g. suppliers and customers) of the Company to raise
concerns, in confidence, with the Audit Committee about possible
improprieties in any matter related to the Company, in order to help
detect and deter misconduct or malpractice or unethical acts in the
Company.

The board independence evaluation mechanism was adopted in
order to ensure a strong independent element on the Board of the
Company, which allows the Board effectively exercises independent
judgment to better safeguard shareholders’ interests.

During the year ended 30 June 2024, all Directors has completed the
independence evaluation individually. The evaluation results were
satisfactory.
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APPOINTMENT, RE-ELECTION AND REMOVAL
OF DIRECTORS

Mr. Zhang Liang, Johnson, Ms. Zhao Wenzhu and Mr. Lee Hin
Kwong, Patrick, being all the executive Directors during the year
under review, had each entered into with the Company a service
contract for an initial fixed term of one year, three years and three
years commencing from 13 December 2017, 26 November 2018
and 1 December 2017 respectively renewable automatically until (i)
terminated by not less than respectively one month's, two months’
and one month’s notice in writing served by either party on the other
expiring at the end of the initial term or any time thereafter or (ii) not
being re-elected at an annual general meeting of the Company at
which he retires and offers for re-election.

Each of Mr. Wang Bo, Mr. Xiang Feng and Mr. Chang Eric
Jackson, being all the independent non-executive directors during
the year under review, had respectively renewed the letter of
appointment with the Company on 13 December 2018. Each letter
of appointment is for a term of one year from the date of the letter
of appointment and renewable automatically for successive terms
of one year each commencing from the next day after the expiry
of the then term of appointment but subject to the memorandum
and the articles of association of the Company. Their appointment
as independent non-executive directors of the Company shall be
terminated by either party giving not less than one month’s prior
notice in writing.

Mr. Jiang Lei has been appointed as an executive Director and the
Chief Executive Officer with effect from 10 September 2024. Ms.
Chen Hong, Vicki has been appointed as a non-executive Director
with effect from 10 September 2024.

Mr. Jiang Lei and Ms. Chen Hong, Vicki has each entered into
with the Company a service contract and a letter of appointment
respectively for an initial fixed term of three years and three years
commencing from 10 September 2024 respectively renewable
automatically until (i) terminated by not less than respectively two
months’ and two months’ notice in writing served by either party on
the other expiring at the end of the initial term or any time thereafter
or (ii) not being re-elected at an annual general meeting of the
Company at which he retires and offers for re-election.
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Pursuant to Article 84(1) of the Company’s Articles of Association, at
each annual general meeting one-third of the Directors for the time
being, or, if their number is not three or a multiple of three, then
the number nearest to but not less than one-third, shall retire from
office by rotation and shall be eligible for re-election. Every Director,
including those appointed for a specific term, shall be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years. Accordingly,
each of Mr. Zhang Liang, Johnson and Mr. Wang Bo will retire by
rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company,
and being eligible, will offer each of themselves for re-election at
such annual general meeting.

Pursuant to Article 83(3) of the the Company's Articles of
Association, any Director appointed to fill a causal vacancy on the
Board or as an addition to the existing Board shall hold office only
until the first annual general meeting of the Company after such
appointment and shall then be eligible for re-election. Accordingly,
each of Mr. Jiang Lei and Ms. Chen Hong, Vicki will hold office until
the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company, and being
eligible, will offer each of themselves for re-election at such annual
general meeting.

BOARD MEETING, GENERAL MEETING AND
PROCEDURES

During the year ended 30 June 2024, the Board convened a total of
four board meetings and one general meeting has been held. The
following is the Directors’ attendance records of meetings held by
the Board:

Executive Directors HITEE

Mr. Zhang Liang, Johnson RESLE

Mr. Lee Hin Kwong, Patrick TENEAE
Ms. Zhao Wenzhu X+
Independent Non-Executive Directors BV HHITESE
Mr. Wang Bo TR A

Mr. Xiang Feng [ e &

Mr. Chang Eric Jackson SRR A

REBEARAABERADRESAMN G - HER
=N Z—HWER(HMABAI =k =01
8 AREEABETAIR =02~ ARG
BRESERFRAFASHERE  XAER
BREL BREZF(ERREEFHREN
ER)ARIB=FHRFRET R - At - K
ERERTRAEEEBBRAR R ERERR
BEAREHBFEREIRTEEBYLBENZK
RBFAREG LBREE -

RBARAASERADRNFESIQ) G - BERIE
NEMEFETRIERRBEFTEHEMN
ENEMNEENEHEEARARIHEHZRETER
ERNEERRBFAGHL MREES
ERENAEREREE - Bt ZFEE
FRUZTEBNERKEEARREER
RAFAERLE MEFZEEBNTAEERL
FRERNZBRRBFASG LBEEL -

EXEEE  RRAERERF

HE2024F6A30BLFE ' EELTEHEA
HUAEEEeH#L—ABREAE - U T A
BEEHREST MBI ER

Number of Number of
attendances/ attendances/
number of number of
board general
meetings meetings
HERE HERE,
Esgas BRAE
A 2EA

4/4 1/1

4/4 1/1

4/4 1/1

4/4 1/1

4/4 1/1

4/4 1/1
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Apart from regular Board meetings, the Chairman also held a
meeting with the independent non-executive Directors without the
presence of other Directors of the Company during the year.

Independent non-executive Directors have attend general meetings
to gain and develop a balanced understanding of the view of
shareholders of the Company.

Board members were provided with complete, adequate and timely
information to allow them to fulfill their duties properly.

Draft agenda of each Board meeting is sent to all Directors in
advance. Notice of at least seven days is given for a regular Board
meeting. For other Board and committees meetings, reasonable
notice is generally given. Board papers together with all appropriate,
complete and reliable information are dispatched to all Directors at
least three days before each regular Board meeting to ensure that
the Directors have sufficient time to review the related documents
and be adequately prepared for the meeting.

The Company Secretary is responsible to keep minutes of all Board
meetings and committees meetings. Draft minutes are normally
circulated to all Directors for comments within a reasonable time
after each meeting and the final versions are open for Directors’
inspection. The Company’s Articles of Association contains
provisions requiring Directors to abstain from voting and not to
be counted in the quorum at meetings for approving transactions
in which such Directors or any of their associates have a material
interest.

CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

All Directors with names as listed out in the section headed “Board
Composition” in this annual report have been given relevant
guideline materials regarding the duties and responsibilities of
being a Director, the relevant laws and regulations applicable to
the Directors, duty of disclosure of interest and business of the
Group and such induction materials will also be provided to newly
appointed Directors shortly upon their appointment as Directors. All
Directors have been updated on the latest developments regarding
the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements to
ensure compliance and enhance their awareness of good corporate
governance practices. Continuing briefings and professional
development to Directors will be arranged whenever necessary.
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During the year ended 30 June 2024, all Directors were provided
with monthly updates on the Group’'s business, operations, and
financial matters to facilitate the discharge of their responsibilities.
During the year ended 30 June 2024, the Directors also participated
in other training activities such as attending seminars and reading
materials relevant to the Company’s businesses or to their duties
and responsibilities as directors of a listed company. A summary of
the individual training record of each Director received for the year
ended 30 June 2024 is as follows:

B E202456 A30BILFE - 2REFHE
LEAMASEXRY ZERVYBREENA
W HBREEITHBE - H#E2024%6 A
B0RILFE - EFNH2EEMBINGS - 1
HEHRN S RMEEAARRAREBHBEE
RETRRETNRBEBENT - BE
EREE2024F6 A30R IEFEEXERIF
Az RRsR s E T

Directors Type of Training
2= EIER
Executive Directors HITEE
Mr. Zhang Liang, Johnson RELE B
Ms. Zhao Wenzhu X2+ B
Mr. Lee Hin Kwong, Patrick TEHEE B
Independent non-executive Directors BUHHITESE
Mr. Wang Bo FREE A B
Mr. Xiang Feng Al 55 &= B
Mr. Chang Eric Jackson oR = S A A, B
Note: BHET
Types of Training b=l hi

A: Attending training sessions, including but not limited to, briefings,
seminars, conferences and workshops

B: Reading relevant news alerts, newspapers, journals, magazines and
relevant publications

All Directors had provided the Company Secretary with their training
records for the year ended 30 June 2024.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three board committees, namely
the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee, and the
Nomination Committee, with written terms of reference which are
available for viewing on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange to assist them in the efficient implementation of their
functions. Specific responsibilities have been delegated to the above
committees.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Board established the Audit Committee on 5 October 2012
with written terms of reference (updated on 31 December 2018)
in compliance with Rules 3.21 to 3.23 of the Listing Rules and the
CG Code. The primary duties of the Audit Committee are mainly
to communicate with external auditor; to review the remuneration,
terms of engagement, independence and objectivity of the external
auditor; to review the accounting policy, financial position and
financial reporting procedures of the Company; and to review
and assess the financial reporting, risk management and internal
control systems, effectiveness of the internal audit function of the
Company and arrangements to enable employees of the Company
to raise concerns about possible improprieties in financial reporting,
internal control or other matters of the Company and making
recommendations thereof.

The Audit Committee has three members comprising three
independent non-executive Directors, currently they are Mr. Chang
Eric Jackson (Chairman of the Audit Committee), Mr. Wang Bo
and Mr. Xiang Feng. During the year ended 30 June 2024, the
Audit Committee had reviewed the annual results and report of
the Company in respect of the year ended 30 June 2023 and the
interim results and report of the Company for the six months
ended 31 December 2023 and re-appointment of auditor. The
Audit Committee had been provided with the Group’s consolidated
financial statements, risk management report, internal control
report and other necessary information to consider, review and
access significant issues and matters arising from these works
conducted. Subsequent to 30 June 2024 and up to the date of this
report, all members of the Audit Committee conducted a meeting
to review the effectiveness of the Group's risk management and
internal control systems for the year ended 30 June 2024. The Audit
Committee had considered and reviewed, with management and
the external auditor of the Company, in detail of the identification
and approach with respect to the key audit matters that were most
significant in the audit procedures included in the “Independent
Auditor’'s Report” on pages 124 to 129 of this annual report. The
Group's final results and the annual report for the year ended 30
June 2024 had been reviewed by the Audit Committee before
submission to the Board for approval. Members of the Audit
Committee are of the opinion that the preparation of such final
results and annual report complied with the applicable accounting
standards, the Listing Rules, and that adequate disclosure have
been made. The Audit Committee also recommended to the Board
of Directors the re-election of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as the
external auditor of the Company in the forthcoming annual general
meeting.
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During the year ended 30 June 2024, two meetings of the Audit
Committee have been held and the attendance of each member of
the Audit Committee is contained in the following table:

Mr. Chang Eric Jackson SRS A
(Chairman of Audit Committee)
Mr. Wang Bo

Mr. Xiang Feng

FRELE
[F) I 5 A

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company established the Nomination Committee on 5 October
2012 with written terms of reference (updated on 31 December
2018) in compliance with the CG Code. The primary duties of the
Nomination Committee are mainly to review of the structure, size,
and composition (including the skills, knowledge, experience and
diversity of perspectives) of the Board at least annually and to
make recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board
to complement the Company’s corporate strategy; to identify
individuals suitably qualified to become the Board members and
select or make recommendations to the Board on the selection
of individuals nominated for directorships of the Company and to
assess the independence of independent non-executive Directors.
In reviewing and recommending the appointment of new Directors,
the Nomination Committee would seek to identify the competencies
required to enable the Board to fulfill its responsibilities. The resume
or document of the nominee or candidate will be given to the
Nomination Committee for consideration.

The Company has adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board
Diversity Policy”) in September 2013 and revised in December 2018
setting out the approach to achieve diversity on the Board. Selection
of candidates will be based on a range of diversity perspectives,
including but not limited to skills, knowledge, industry and regional
experience, cultural and educational background, gender, age and
professional qualification. The ultimate decision will be based on
merit and contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the
Board.
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As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises of 6
male and 2 female Directors. Details of the skills, cultural and
education background, experience and professional qualification
of each Director can be found in the section Profile of Directors
and Senior Management on pages 20 to 27 of this annual report.
The Nomination Committee and the Board considered that there
is a diverse mix of educational background and/or professional
experience and that the current composition of Board is sufficiently
diverse and therefore the Board has not set any measurable
objectives for the year ended 30 June 2024. The Nomination
Committee shall discuss and where necessary, agree on the
measurable objectives for achieving diversity on the Board and make
recommendations to the Board. The Board may adopt and/or amend
from time to time (as applicable) such diversity perspectives and/
or measurable objectives that are appropriate to the Company's
business and Board succession planning, as applicable.

The Company values gender diversity across all levels of the Group.
The Company will continue to ensure that there is gender diversity
when recruiting staff at mid to senior management level so that
there will be a pipeline of female senior management and potential
successors to the Board in due course. The Company will also
continue to emphasize training of female talent and provide long-
term development opportunities for female staff.

Details on the gender ratio of the Group together with relevant data
can be found in the Environmental, Social and Governance Report on
pages 105 to 107 of this annual report.

The Company has also adopted a director nomination policy (the
“Director Nomination Policy”) in December 2018 setting out the
procedures and criteria to be used by the Company in relation to
the selection, appointment and re-appointment of Directors to
ensure that the Board maintains an appropriate mix and balance of
skills, knowledge, experience, and diversity of perspectives to the
requirements of the Company's business.
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In summary, according to the Director Nomination Policy, the
Nomination Committee shall conduct regular review on the
structure, size and composition of the Board and the Director
Nomination Policy and where appropriate, make recommendations
on changes to the Board to complement the Company’s corporate
strategy and business needs, to comply with all applicable laws
and regulations from time to time and maintain good corporate
governance practice. In evaluating and selecting the suitability of a
proposed candidate for appointment as Director or re-appointment
of existing Director, the Nomination Committee shall consider
including but not limited to the following criteria:

° character and integrity;

° professional qualifications, skills, knowledge and experience
and diversity aspects under the Board Diversity Policy;

° any measurable objectives adopted for achieving diversity on
the Board;

° satisfaction of independence requirements of the Listing Rules
and the independence guidelines set out in the Listing Rules of
proposed independent non-executive Directors;

o contributions to the Board in terms of qualifications, skills,
experience, independence and gender diversity;

o willingness and ability to devote adequate time to discharge
duties as a member of the Board and/or Board committees;
and

o other perspectives that are appropriate to the Company’s
business and succession plan.

The Nomination Committee shall review the Director Nomination
Policy, from time to time and as appropriate.
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The Nomination Committee shall make reference to this Director
Nomination Policy and the Board Diversity Policy to nominate
suitably qualified candidates to the Board for it to consider and
make recommendations to shareholders for election as Directors at
general meetings or appoint as Directors to fill casual vacancies or
as an addition to the Board.

During the year ended 30 June 2024, the Nomination Committee
has considered the background, skills, professional knowledge and
experience of Mr. Xiang Feng and Mr. Chang Eric Jackson having
regard to the Board Diversity Policy and Director Nomination Policy
in the re-election of each of Mr. Xiang Feng and Mr. Chang Eric
Jackson as an independent non-executive Director at the annual
general meeting of the Company held on 24 November 2023.

The Nomination Committee has three members comprising one
executive Director and two independent non-executive Directors,
currently they are Mr. Wang Bo (Chairman of the Nomination
Committee), Mr. Lee Hin Kwong, Patrick and Mr. Xiang Feng.
During the year ended 30 June 2024, one meeting of the
Nomination Committee has been held to review the structure,
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size and composition of the Board and assess the independence rEEeEKEBHESRIHEINTER
of independent non-executive Directors. The attendance of each
member of the Nomination Committee is contained in the following
table:
Number of
attendance(s)/
number of
meeting(s)
HERE,
=G
Mr. Wang Bo TR E
(Chairman of Nomination Committee) (FlBEZEgE/E) 11
Mr. Lee Hin Kwong, Patrick FENEE 11
Mr. Xiang Feng ) 5 & 1/1
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company established the Remuneration Committee on 5
October 2012 with written terms of reference (updated on 30
December 2022) in compliance with the CG Code. The primary
duties of the Remuneration Committee are mainly to make
recommendations to the Board of Directors on the Company's
policy structure for the remuneration of the Directors and senior
management and on the establish of a formal and transparent
procedure for developing a remuneration policy, review the terms
of the remuneration package of each Director and member of senior
management of the Group and making recommendations to the
Board regarding any adjustment thereof; and to review and evaluate
the performance of individual Directors. No Director shall participate
in any discussion about his or her own remuneration.

During the year ended 30 June 2024, the Remuneration Committee
has reviewed background information such as salaries paid by
comparable companies, time commitment and responsibilities
of Directors and employment conditions of other positions in
the Company. The Remuneration Committee has reviewed
and approved the current Company’s policy structure for the
remuneration packages of each Director and member of senior
management of the Group and its recommendations in respect of
the remuneration packages of the Directors and senior management
of the Group. No Director has been participated in any discussion
about his/her own remuneration.
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The Remuneration Committee has three members comprising one
executive Director and two independent non-executive Directors,
namely, Mr. Wang Bo (Chairman of the Remuneration Committee),
Mr. Lee Hin Kwong, Patrick and Mr. Xiang Feng. The remuneration
of the Directors is determined with reference to their respective
experience, responsibilities with the Group and general market
conditions. During the year ended 30 June 2024, one meeting of the
Remuneration Committee has been held to review the remuneration
package of the Directors and senior management of the Group. The
attendance of each member of the Remuneration Committee is
contained in the following table:

YMZEem=—aKEMEK HARKEE R
WITEERMABBIFATESTTRAE G
MEBESEFE) FEELEERABLELE -8
SHFHNOIRBERSEENER RAKEDH

REUANEETMRET - 8122024%F6 A30
BILFEE - %ﬁ@ﬂé%”*%ﬁ—)’xé%% LA

MEFRASENRREEEFMES - &
MEZEEZTREHRERLEHIN X

Number of
attendance(s)/
number of
meeting(s)
HERE,
gREAE

Mr. Wang Bo FREE
(Chairman of Remuneration Committee) (FNZEeF/E) 11
Mr. Lee Hin Kwong, Patrick EENEE 1/
Mr. Xiang Feng ) 55 &= 171

REMUNERATION OF SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The biographical details of senior management of the Group are
disclosed in the section headed "Profile of Directors and Senior
Management” on pages 20 to 27 of this annual report.

The remuneration paid/payable to senior management of the Group
for the year ended 30 June 2024 fell within the following bands:
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Number of

individuals

AEL

Less than HK$1,000,000 KR %1,000,0007T 4
Total e 4
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Board acknowledges its responsibility to prepare the Group's
consolidated financial statements for each financial year and to
ensure that the consolidated financial statements are prepared in
accordance with statutory requirements and applicable accounting
standards. The statement by the auditor of the Company about
their responsibilities for the consolidated financial statements
is set out in the “Independent Auditor's Report” on pages 124
to 129 of this annual report. The Board also ensures the timely
publication of the financial statements. The Directors, having
made appropriate enquiries, confirm that they are not aware of any
material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt upon the Company's ability to continue as a going
concern.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The remuneration paid/payable to the auditors of the Group for the
year ended 30 June 2024 is set out as follows:
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Paid/payable

B EAEE

HK$'000

BT T

Statutory audit services TEE R AR TS 1,920
Non-statutory audit services IEETE LR

Interim review i B R 1,120

Continuing connected transaction SEER 70

Total 4t 3,110
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has developed the Group's internal control, risk
assessment and management systems and has overall responsibility
for reviewing and maintaining an adequate and effective risk
management and internal control systems to safeguard the interests
of the Shareholders and the assets of the Group. It evaluates
the effectiveness of the systems at least annually to ensure the
adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience, training
programmes and budget of the Group’s accounting, internal audit
and financial reporting functions. The review covers all material
controls, including financial, operational and compliance controls and
risk management.

The Group's risk management and internal control systems are
designed to manage and mitigate risks, rather than eliminate risks,
and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss. The Group has employed a bottom-
up approach for identification, assessment, and mitigation of risk at
all business unit levels and across functional areas.

The key elements of the Group's risk management and internal
control systems include the establishment of a risk register to
keep track of and document identified risks, the assessment, and
evaluation of risks, the development and continuous updating of
responsive procedures, and the ongoing testing of internal control
procedures to ensure their effectiveness.

Annually, the Group identifies and assesses the key inherent risks
that affect the achievements of its objectives. A risk matrix is
adopted to determine risk rating into three categories: low, medium
and high, after evaluation of the risk by the likelihood and the impact
of the risk event. The risk ratings reflect the level of management
attention and risk treatment effort required.
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During the process of risk assessment, each of the risk owners of
departments is required to capture and identify the key inherent
risks that affect the achievement of its objectives. Each inherent
risk is evaluated according to the risk matrix. After taking into
consideration the risk response, such as control measures in
place to mitigate the risk, the residual risk of each inherent risk
is evaluated again. The risk register with the risk responses and
residual risks is presented to the Audit Committee. The Audit
Committee evaluates the effectiveness of the systems and reports
to the Board. The highest category of residual risks is subject to the
Board's oversight.

The management is responsible for the design, implementation, and
monitoring of the risk management and internal control systems. In
view of the Group’s business and scale of operations, and in order
to adopt the most cost-effective method of conducting periodic
reviews of the Group’s internal controls, an independent consulting
firm (the “Internal Control Auditor”) has been engaged to work with
the Board, through the Audit Committee, to execute the internal
audit function. The Internal Control Auditor has conducted a review
of the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems for the year ended 30 June 2024 according to the
scope of review determined, agreed and approved by the Audit
Committee and in accordance with the requirements under code
provision D.2 of the CG Code.

The Internal Control Auditor reported to the Audit Committee and
the Audit Committee is satisfied that there had been no material
deficiency identified in the areas of the Group's risk management
and internal control systems being reviewed, where some minor
areas need to be improved have been identified and reported to the
Audit Committee and the Group would take further steps to improve
by taken implement of the recommendations suggested by the
Internal Control Auditor. Accordingly, the Board considered the risk
management and internal control systems to be effective and have
been implemented with adequate resources during the year ended
30 June 2024.
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The Company is aware of its obligations in disclosure of inside
information under the Listing Rules and Part XIVA of the SFO.
The Board has already established and implemented a policy on
the procedures, guidelines and internal controls for the handling
and dissemination of inside information. The policy stipulated
the duty and responsibility of inside information announcement,
restriction on sharing non-public information, handling of rumours,
unintentional selective disclosure, exemption and waiver to the
disclosure of inside information, and also compliance and reporting
procedures. Every senior management of the Company must take
all reasonable measures to ensure that proper safeguards exist
to prevent a breach of a disclosure requirement in relation to the
Group from time to time. They must promptly bring any possible
leakage or divulgence of inside information to the attention of the
Company Secretary, who will notify the Board accordingly for taking
the appropriate action promptly. For any material violation of this
policy, the Board will decide, or designate appropriate persons to
decide the course of actions for rectifying the problem and avoiding
recurrence.

COMPANY SECRETARY

During the year under review, Ms. Lau Yee Wa (“Ms. Lau") of Tricor
Services Limited, an external service provider, was the Company
Secretary. Ms. Lau's primary contact at the Company is Mr. Ma Xin,
who is the chief financial officer of the Company. The biographical
details of Ms. Lau are set out under the section headed “Profile of
Directors and Senior Management” on page 27 of this annual report.
Ms. Lau confirmed that she has taken no less than 15 hours of
relevant professional training during the year ended 30 June 2024 in
accordance with the requirements of Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.
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CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the year ended 30 June 2024, there was no change in the
Company's constitutional documents.

SHAREHOLDERS'’ RIGHTS

The Company considers that effective communication with
Shareholders and potential investors is essential for enhancing
investor relations and understanding of the Group's business,
performance and strategies. The Company has established a range
of communication channels between itself and the Shareholders and
investors. These include answering questions through the general
meetings, the publication of annual and interim reports, notices,
announcements and circulars and the Company's website at
www.transmit-ent.com. As such, the Company considered that its
shareholders’ communication channels are relevant and effective.

The general meetings of the Company provide an opportunity for
communication between the Shareholders and the Board. An annual
general meeting of the Company shall be held in each year and at
the place as may be determined by the Board. Any general meeting
other than an annual general meeting shall be referred to as an
extraordinary general meeting ("EGM").
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Subject to applicable laws and regulations, including the Listing
Rules and the Company’'s Articles of Association as amended
from time to time, Shareholders may convene an EGM to consider
proposals in accordance with the following provisions:

1. One or more Shareholders holding, at the date of deposit of
the requisition, not less than one-tenth of the paid-up capital
of the Company having the right of voting at general meetings
can deposit a written request to convene an EGM at the
principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong (the
“"Hong Kong Head Office"), for the attention of the Board or
the Company Secretary.

2. The written request must state the name of the Shareholders
concerned, their respective shareholdings, the objects of the
meeting, including details of the business(es) and resolutions
proposed to be considered and approved at the meeting,
signed by the Shareholders concerned.

3.  The request will be verified with the Company’s Hong Kong
branch share registrar and transfer office and upon their
confirmation that the request is proper and in order, the
Company Secretary will ask the Board to convene an EGM
by serving sufficient notice in accordance with the statutory
requirements to all the Shareholders. On the contrary, if the
request has been verified as not in order, the Shareholders
concerned will be advised of this outcome and accordingly, an
EGM will not be convened as requested.

4. If within 21 days of such deposit of the requisition, the Board
fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s)
himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner, and
all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a
result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the
requisitionist(s) by the Company.

5. The notice period to be given to the Shareholders in respect of
the EGM varies according to the nature of the proposal. Notice
of the EGM at which the passing of a special resolution is to be
considered, a notice of the EGM shall be arranged to be sent
to the Shareholders at least 21 clear days or 10 clear business
days (whichever is longer) before such EGM. Notice of all other
EGM shall be arranged to be sent to the Shareholders at least
14 clear days or 10 clear business days (whichever is longer)
before such EGM.
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There are no provisions allowing Shareholders to move new
resolutions at the general meetings under the Companies Act,
Chapter 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of
the Cayman lIslands or the Company’s Articles of Association.
Shareholders who wish to move a resolution may request the
Company to convene an EGM following the procedures set out
above in this section.

Shareholders and other stakeholders can make any enquiry
in respect of the Company in writing either by email at
“info@transmit-ent.com” or deposited at the Hong Kong Head
Office for the attention of the Board or the Company Secretary. The
appropriate management member of the Company will respond to
the legitimate enquiry of the Shareholders, the Company's potential
investors or analysts.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The dividend policy of the Company (the”Dividend Policy”) is in
place setting out the principles and guidelines that the Company
intends to apply in relation to the declaration, payment or distribution
of its net profits as dividends to the shareholders of the Company.
The Board shall take into account factors including but not limited
to financial results, cash flow situations, future operations, and
earnings, any restriction on payment of dividends when considering
the declaration and payment of dividends:

- financial results;

- cash flow situation;

- business conditions and strategies;

- future operations and earnings;

- capital requirements and expenditure plans;

- interests of shareholders;

- taxation consideration;

- any restrictions on the payment of dividends; and

- any other factors that the Board may consider relevant.

The Dividend Policy shall be reviewed when necessary and can be
revised by the Board from time to time.
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ABOUT THIS REPORT

Transmit Entertainment Limited (the “Company”), together with its
subsidiaries (the “Group”), is pleased to present this Environmental,
Social and Governance Report 2024 (the “Report”) to provide an
overview of the Group’s management of significant issues affecting
the operation, including environmental, social and governance
issues. This Report is prepared by the Group with the professional
assistance of APAC Compliance Consultancy and Internal Control
Services Limited.

This Report is prepared in accordance with Appendix C2 to the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (the “Listing Rules”) —
“Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide” and has
complied with the “comply or explain” provision in the Listing Rules.

This year, the Group has extended the scope of this report so that
it covers both its Hong Kong (“HK") and the People’'s Republic
of China (the “"PRC") operations. This Report summarises the
performance of the Group in respect of corporate environmental
and social responsibility, covering its operations which are
considered as material by the Group — (i) film, TV series and variety
show production, distribution and licensing of film rights; (ii) film
exhibition; and (iii) pan entertainment. This report covers Transmit
Entertainment Limited and its subsidiaries within the scope of
consolidated financial statements in the annual report. With the
aim to optimise and improve the disclosure requirements in the
Report, the Group has taken initiative to formulate policies, record
relevant data, implement and monitor measures. This Report shall
be published both in Chinese and English on the website of Stock
Exchange. Should there be any discrepancy between the Chinese
and the English versions, the English version shall prevail.

This Report demonstrates our sustainability initiatives during the
reporting period from 1 July 2023 to 30 June 2024.

The Group welcomes your feedback on this Report for our
sustainability initiatives. Please give your suggestions or share your
views with the Group via the Group's social media platforms or email
at info@transmit-ent.com.
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INTRODUCTION

The Group is principally engaged in (i) film, TV series and variety
show production, distribution and licensing of film rights; (ii) film
exhibition and (iii) pan entertainment. The Group mainly produces
Chinese films, variety shows and TV series in both mainland China
and Hong Kong. It also operates one Hong Kong based cinema
during the year.

In order to respond to growing trends on the expectation of the
stakeholders on the corporate responsibility performance, the
Group is committed to integrating sustainable development into
business operations. We maintain our operation in a responsible
and value-optimizing manner and value creation for stakeholders
and community by integrating environmental and social factors
into management considerations. Sustainability strategy is based
on the compliance with the legal requirements applicable to us
and opinions from stakeholders. Sustainability is essential for
the Group’s growth in order to achieve business excellence and
enhance capabilities for long-term competitiveness. The Group
has established and implemented various policies to manage and
monitor the risks related to the environment, employment, operating
practices and community. Details of the management approaches
to sustainable development of different areas are illustrated in this
Report.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT AND
MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

The Group understands the success of the Group's business
depends on the support from its key stakeholders, who (a) have
invested or will invest in the Group; (b) have the ability to influence
the outcomes within the Group; and (c) are interested in or affected
by or have the potential to be affected by the impact of the Group's
activities, products, services and relationships. It allows the Group
to understand risks and opportunities. The Group will continue to
ensure effective communication and maintain good relationship with
each of its key stakeholders.

Stakeholders are prioritised from time to time in view of the Group's
roles and duties, strategic plan and business initiatives. The Group
engages with its stakeholders to develop mutually beneficial
relationships and to seek their views on its business proposals and
initiatives as well as to promote sustainability in the marketplace,
workplace, community and environment.
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The Group acknowledges the importance of intelligence gained
from the stakeholders’ insights, inquiries and continuous interest
in the Group’s business activities. The Group has identified key
stakeholders that are important to our business and established
various channels for communication. The following table provides an
overview of the Group’s key stakeholders, and various platforms and
methods of communication are used to reach, listen and respond.

Stakeholders
Fz=AHREE

Government

B

Shareholders and
investors

BRREEEE

Employees

==

Customers

5F

Expectations

M

Compliance with the applicable laws
and regulations

B THEREERER
Proper tax payment
FEWMT

Low risk

1K [ B

Return on the investment
A B

Information disclosure and
transparency

BT LERE

Protection of interests and fair
treatment of shareholders
RERE R AT HE

Safeguard the rights and interests of
employees

RIE(E SN R

Working environment

THERIR

Career development opportunities
BEERKS

Health and safety

fEERE R 2

Safe and high-quality products
e REBEEMD

Stable relationship

BEBRFR

Information transparency
BBERE

Integrity

WEFE

Business ethics

R ET
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Engagement channels
SHRE

Annual reports, interim reports and
announcements

Fip - RHWmERAM

Company website

NSIE A

Annual general meetings and other
shareholder meetings
BREBFRERAMBRRAE
Annual reports, interim reports and
announcements

FI - REHRE R

Company website

YNSIE A

Meetings with investors and analysts

B EE NSNS HE

Trainings, seminars, briefing
sessions

Bl EERERENE
Newsletters

A BB ER

Intranet and emails

B AS K B

Annual reports, interim reports and
announcements

Fi - RHmE R A

Company website

NEIE G

Email and customer service hotline
BEHREF R

Regular meetings

EHEEH
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Stakeholders Expectations

MeEEE e
Suppliers and e Long-term partnership
partners o RHIGERAR
HEBREIEBH e Honest cooperation
o HHAKE

e Fairness and openness

o RNFERFAMK

e [nformation resources sharing
O ﬁ?téf/ \/\¥

e Risk reduction

o [REREKR

Financial institution e Compliance with the applicable laws

SRS and regulations
o EFERAEERER
e Disclosure of information
. EHBE
Media e [nformation transparency
e o AHFEHAE
Public and e Community involvement
communities o (T[ESER
ABRALTRHE o Sooial responsibilities
o HEERE

Through general communication with stakeholders, the Group
understands the expectations and concerns from stakeholders.
The feedbacks obtained allow the Group to make more informed
decisions, and to better assess and manage the resulting impact.

The Group has adopted the principle of materiality in the ESG
reporting by understanding the key ESG issues that are important
to the business of the Group. All the key ESG issues and key
performance indicators (KPIs) are reported in the Report according
to recommendations of the ESG Reporting Guide (Appendix C2 of
the Listing Rules) and the Global Reporting Initiative Guidelines. The
Group has evaluated the materiality and importance in ESG aspects
through the following steps:

Engagement channels
BEEE

EZEa

e Business meetings and phone calls
. EBRBLE:

e Regular meetings

® w fﬁ, =

e Reviews and assessments

o B MFHE

e Consulting

ok

e [nformation disclosure

. AMBHE

e Annual reports, interim reports and
announcements

o FI - PHHmERLM

e Company website
CI/N S F S

® |nterviews

.

e Annual reports, interim reports and
announcements

o Fip - PHIMERAM
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Step 1: Identification — Industry Benchmarking

° Relevant ESG areas were identified through the review of
relevant ESG reports of the local and international industry
peers.

o The materiality of each ESG area was determined based on
the importance of each ESG area to the Group through internal
discussion of the management and the recommendation of
ESG Reporting Guide (Appendix C2 of the Listing Rules).

Step 2: Prioritisation — Stakeholder Engagement

° The Group discussed with key stakeholders on key ESG areas
identified above to ensure all the key aspects were covered.

Step 3: Validation — Determining Material Issues

° Based on the discussion with key stakeholders and internal
discussion among the management, the Group’s management
ensured that all the key and material ESG areas, which were
important to the business development, were reported and in
compliance with ESG Reporting Guide.

As a result of this process carried out in 2024, those important ESG
areas to the Group were discussed in this Report.

ESG GOVERNANCE

Board’s oversight of ESG issues

Board’s overall vision and strategy in managing ESG

issues

The board of directors (“Board”) has a primary role in overseeing
the management of the Group’s sustainability issues. During the
year, the Board and the ESG Working Group spent significant time
evaluating the impact of ESG-related risks on our operation and
formulating relevant policy in dealing with the risks. The supervision
of the Board is to ensure the management to have all the right tools
and resources to oversee the ESG issues in the context of strategy
and long-term value creation.
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ESG Working Group

To demonstrate our commitment to transparency and accountability,
our Group has established an ESG Working Group, which has clear
terms of reference that set out the powers delegated to it by the
Board. We highly value the opinions of each stakeholder and treat
them as the cornerstone for the development of the Group. During
the reporting period, the ESG Working Group was consisted of
6 members, including 3 executive directors and 3 independent
non-executive directors.

The ESG Working Group is primarily responsible for reviewing
and supervising the ESG process, and risk management of the
Group. Different ESG issues are reviewed by the Working Group
at the meetings, which holds annually. During the reporting period,
the ESG Working Group and the management reviewed the ESG
governance and different ESG issues.

Board's ESG management approach and strategy for

material ESG-related issues

In order to better understand the opinions and expectations of
different stakeholders on our ESG issues, materiality assessment
is conducted each year. We ensure various platforms and channels
of communication are used to reach, listen and respond to our key
stakeholders. Through general communication with stakeholders,
the Group understands the expectations and concerns from
stakeholders. The feedbacks obtained allow the Group to make
more informed decisions, and to better assess and manage the
resulting impact.

The Group has evaluated the materiality and importance in
ESG aspects through the following steps: (1) material ESG
area identification by industry benchmarking; (2) key ESG area
prioritization with stakeholder engagement; and (3) validation and
determining material ESG issues based on results of communication
among stakeholders and the management.

Hence, this can enhance understanding of their degree and change
of attention to each significant ESG issue, and can enable us to more
comprehensively plan our sustainable development work in the
future. Those important and material ESG areas identified during our
material assessment were discussed in this Report.
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The progress of target implementation and the performance of
the goals and targets should be closely reviewed from time to
time. Rectification may be needed if the progress falls short of
expectation. Effective communication about the goals and target
process with key stakeholders such as employees is essential, as
this enables them to be engaged in the implementation process,
and to feel they are part of the change that the company aspires to
achieve.

Setting strategic goals for the coming three to five years enables
the Group to develop a realistic roadmap and focus on results in
achieving the visions.

Setting targets requires the ESG Working Group to carefully
examine the attainability of the targets which should be weighed
against the company’s ambitions and goals. During the year, our
Group set targets on an absolute basis.

A. ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECTS

The Group is mainly involved in office operations, films, variety
shows and TV series production. Hence, its business activities
do not have significant impact on the environment or natural
resources. In spite of this, we believe that our enterprise
has responsibility in promoting and implementing the
sustainable development of environment. We are committed
to continuously improving our environmental sustainability
by responsibly managing our operation, reducing our carbon
footprint and using resources effectively.
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Accordingly, the Group establishes environmental principles
and policies to ensure the effective execution in various
measures. From film and TV series production to film
exhibition at the cinemas, the Group is committed to making
efforts towards sustainable business and reducing carbon
footprint while showing good stewardship in the community
that the Group serves. For instance, during film and TV
series production, a production manager is assigned for each
production in order to carefully manage, supervise and execute
sustainability practice and performance in every aspect
of the production, from reducing the use of plastic water
bottles to renting vehicles with higher fuel efficiency and the
use of rechargeable batteries. For film exhibition operation,
vegetarian options are available for cinemagoers, as well as
ensuring the cinema venue is accessible to meet the needs of
customers.

The Group always endeavours to operate in a manner that
is economically, socially and environmentally sustainable
while balancing the interests of our various stakeholders and
fostering a positive impact on the society. We also regularly
update ourselves with the latest development of the applicable
laws and regulations on environmental protection.

The Group acknowledges its responsibility to the
environment and has ethical duties to reduce emissions.
Given the nature of our business, the impacts on the
environment and nature resources are not significant.
In spite of this, we are committed to minimizing our
environmental impacts by responsibly managing our
business operations, reducing our carbon footprint and
using resources effectively.

In the meantime, we have full complied with all of the
relevant environmental laws and regulations where we
operated such as the Atmospheric Pollution Prevention
and Control Law of the People’s Republic of China (2015)
in the PRC, the Motor Vehicle Idling (Fixed Penalty)
Ordinance (Chapter 611 of the Laws of Hong Kong), and
the Road Traffic Ordinance (Chapter 374 of the Laws
of Hong Kong) in Hong Kong. Besides, no concluded
case regarding emissions was brought against us or our
employees during the year ended 30 June 2024.

The methodologies and assumption adopted for
determining key performance indicators (KPlIs) reported
in this section are according to the guidelines of Global
Reporting Initiative (“GRI").
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Air Pollutant Emissions

Air emission control is essential to mitigate
environmental impacts and to protect the health of
employees. As the Group is mainly involved in general
office activities, the amount of air pollutant emissions is
insignificant. Our air pollutant emissions are generated
from the mobile sources including passenger cars.
We take initiative to formulate plans in transportation
management for the reduction of air pollutant emissions
in our daily business operation. For example, encouraging
employees and clients to conduct video conference
meetings instead of transportation. The decrease in air
pollutant emissions in 2024 was mainly attributable to
the decrease in natural gas consumption by the PRC
subsidiaries, as well as the effective implementation
of the energy saving strategies in the reporting period.
Furthermore, the Group has set a comprehensive
reduction target by 5% of intensity per m? on air pollutant
emission over the five-year period. The Group will
continue to take the above existing measures to achieve
the target. The details of air pollutant emissions during
the reporting period were as follows:

Type of air pollutants Unit
ERISRYER By
Nitrogen oxides (NOx) kg
RA/LHI(NO NI
Sulphur oxides (SOx) kg
FREL(SOx Ny
Particulate matter (PM) kg
FOTHF (PM) AfF

Greenhouse Gas (“GHG"”) Emissions
Greenhouse gas is considered as one of the major
contributors to the climate change. Besides, global
warming affects our daily life and poses a risk to
the Group’'s business. Hence, we are committed to
mitigating the effects of climate change and protecting
the health of employees.

Regarding GHG emissions of the Group, scope 1' direct
emissions, scope 2%and scope 3° indirect emissions
mainly result from the combustion of fuels in mobile
sources, purchased electricity and business air travel
respectively for business operations.

U Scope 1: Direct emissions from sources that are owned or
controlled by the Group.

s Scope 2: Indirect emissions from the generation of
purchased electricity consumed by the Group.

. Scope 3: Indirect emissions from the business travel by
employees.
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During the year ended 30 June 2024, the Group fully
complied with all applicable environmental laws and
regulations, and was not subject to any fine, penalty,
investigation or prosecution for non-compliance with the
relevant laws and regulations relating to emissions.

Giving the majority of the GHG emissions of the Group
come from energy consumption, the Group tackles the
GHG emission by lowering the energy consumption
in our business operations. Policies and procedures
as mentioned in the section “Use of Resources” to
encourage energy saving have been incorporated
throughout the operations in order to reduce the carbon
footprint.

The decrease in GHG emission in 2024 was mainly due
to the decrease in natural gas consumption by the PRC
subsidiaries, as well as the effective implementation
of the energy saving strategies in the reporting period.
Furthermore, the Group has set a comprehensive
reduction target by 10% of intensity per m? on GHG
emission over the five-year period. The Group will
continue to take the existing measures to achieve the
target.

The details of GHG emissions during the reporting period
were as follows:

Type of GHG emissions* Unit

BRERBHERER
Scope 1

#[E1

Scope 2

#[E2

Scope 3

#HE3

Total GHG emissions
BERBHERESE
GHG emission intensity

REREBHFMETER

B

tonnes of COe
M—abixE 2
tonnes of CO,e
WS E
tonnes of CO,e
WA iR E 2
tonnes of CO,e
M= Ab iR E =

tonnes of CO,e/m?

WAL
FHK

4 The calculation of the GHG emission is based on the
“Corporate Accounting and Reporting Standard” from
GHG Protocol published by World Resources Institute and
World Business Council for Sustainable Development.

HK

=8

248.5

0.3

248.8

0.05
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Hazardous and Non-hazardous Wastes
Waste management is considered as one of the material
topics in environmental protection. The Group recognises
the importance of waste reduction. Waste management
measures have been introduced and implemented
to minimise the amount of waste generated and the
impact on the environment. With our business nature,
no hazardous waste was generated or discharged in our
office operation during the year.

Non-hazardous waste mainly consists of paper waste
which is generated from daily office operation. The
Group takes initiative to reduce waste by formulating
effective measures. Generally, we have engaged
qualified recycling companies to collect and handle the
waste in accordance to the Prevention and Control of
Environmental Pollution by Solid Wastes in the PRC and
the Waste Disposal Ordinance (Chapter 354 of the Laws
of Hong Kong) in Hong Kong. The major source of our
non-hazardous waste is paper waste.

With the aim to reduce the amount of waste generated,
the Group endeavours to cultivate environmental
awareness among employees. In order to reduce the
paper consumption, we actively promote electronic
communication instead of paper use. We also encourage
our employees to consider environmental-friendly
printing such as double-sided printing and copying.
Moreover, we encourage employees to reuse single
sided non-confidential print out. We will seek other
possible measures to manage and reduce the waste
generated in operations in the future. The Group will look
into the development of waste management system and
recycling practice in business operations in the coming
future. The amount of non-hazardous waste generated
and recycled in 2024 was increased as there was
more paper use for business operation during the year
ended 30 June 2024. Furthermore, the Group has set a
comprehensive reduction target by 10% of intensity per
m?2 on non-hazardous waste over the five-year period. The
Group will continue to take the above existing measures
to achieve the target.
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The details of non-hazardous waste generated and
recycled by the Group during the reporting period were
as follows:

Wastes Unit

REZEY By

Non-hazardous waste tonnes
generated

EEANEEREEY i

Non-hazardous waste
generated intensity

tonnes/employee

EEANEBEEEVTE W &S
Non-hazardous waste tonnes
recycled

EERAEEEEY i

Non-hazardous waste
recycled intensity
BRI EEEENEE

tonnes/employee

17 ==1

The Group considers environmental protection as an
essential component of a sustainable and responsible
business. We have an in-depth understanding of the
importance of safeguarding sustainable development of
the environment and this to attach importance to efficient
utilization of resources by introducing various measures
in daily business operations. We understand that staff
participation is the key to achieve such goals.

We have adopted energy and water efficiency initiatives
to motivate our employees to participate in resource
conservation activities.

The methodologies and assumption adopted for
determining key performance indicators (KPIs) reported
in this section are according to the guidelines of Global
Reporting Initiative (“GRI").

Energy Consumption

With the aims of resource saving and implementation
of energy saving measures, we actively promote the
concept of energy saving and emission reduction into
the entire process of our business development and
operation and implements different energy saving
measures.
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Regarding energy consumption, the use of electricity
accounts for the Group’s major energy consumption. In
view of the scarcity of energy, the Group has advocated
various energy conservation strategies to increase
energy efficiency and reduce energy consumption.
For example, all facilities for film exhibition operations
comply with the Building Energy Efficiency Ordinance
(Chapter 610 of the Laws of Hong Kong) implemented
by the Electrical and Mechanical Services Department to
ensure key building services meet the minimum energy
efficiency standards of the Building Energy Code.

Besides, the temperature of air-conditioners is
maintained at an energy-efficient level at around 25
degrees Celsius. A standby mode is set for computers
when they are not in use for a long period of time.
Besides, all lighting and power supply in the area are
switched off while leaving. In order to increase the
environmental awareness of employees, energy saving
reminder notices are posted near the switches and
sockets to encourage our employees to reduce electricity
usage.

The decrease in energy consumption in 2024 was mainly
due to the decrease in natural gas consumption by the
PRC subsidiaries, as well as the effective implementation
of the energy saving strategies in the reporting period.
Furthermore, the Group has set a comprehensive
reduction target by 5% of intensity per m? on energy
consumption over the five-year period.

During the reporting period, the details of direct and
indirect energy consumption were as follows:

Type of energy Unit
RRER By
Purchased electricity MWh
BEEEN JK LB
Petrol MWh
YU JKEL B
Natural gas MWh
KRR KBS
Total energy consumption MWh
BEEFHERE JKFLBF
Energy consumption intensity MWh/m?
BERERERE KELHE
7K
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Water Consumption

Water is an important resource used by the Group during
operation. It is mainly supplied by the local government
department and there was no issue in sourcing water
which was fit for purpose in 2024. Although the Group
does not consume a significant amount of water during
business operations, we still actively seek ways to
minimise water consumption and endeavour to conserve
water effectively in our operations by implementing
various water-saving measures. For example, employees
are encouraged to turn off the water taps when they are
not in use. Besides, in case of leaking faucet or pipe,
we will promptly report to relevant authority in order to
reduce unnecessary water consumption.

Moreover, the amount of water consumption is recorded
regularly for the Group to monitor the water consumption
level and better formulate water-saving measures. In
light of the effective implementation of water saving
policy during the year, this led to a decrease in the
amount of water consumption in 2024. Furthermore, the
Group has set a comprehensive reduction target by 10%
of intensity per m? on water consumption over the five-
year period. The Group will continue to take the above
existing measures to achieve the target.

During the reporting period, the details of water
consumption were as follows:

Water consumption Unit
KEFRHFE B
Water consumption m?3
IKETRIB#E SR
Water consumption intensity m?3/m?
IKEIREREE SRS
Ik

Packaging Material

Due to our business nature, some packaging material
made with recyclable paper was used at film exhibition
operation. The Group does not have manufacturing
facilities and does not consume a significant amount of
packaging materials.
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The Group understands that implementing environmental
protection can reduce operational risk and increase
business opportunities. Regarding the business nature,
we are not aware of any significant impact of our
business activities on the environment and natural
resources.

Despite this, we endeavour to consistently improve
our environmental performance by implementing
aforementioned waste reduction measures and
resources saving initiatives.

We will continue to seek opportunities to further
reduce emission and resources consumption with the
aim to reduce the impacts on environment and natural
resources to minimal. We will review our environmental
policy from time to time and consider implementing
further eco-friendly measures and practices in order to
enhance environmental sustainability in the future.

Governance

Our group addresses climate-related risks based on the
nature of the risk to our operations. The physical impacts
of climate change, including extreme weather events,
or damage to facilities have immediate operational
impacts and are treated as operational risks. Long-term
challenges, such as emerging ESG issues and climate-
related risks and opportunities, may be discussed by the
Group’s ESG Working Group.

Supported by our ESG Working Group, our Board
oversees climate-related issues and risks regularly during
board meetings and ensures that they are incorporated
into our strategy.

To ensure our Board to keep up with the latest trend of
climate-related issues, climate competence training will
be provided to ensure it has the necessary expertise
and skills to oversee the management of climate-related
issues. Our Board also seeks professional advice from
external experts when necessary to better support the
decision-making process.
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The ESG Working Group is responsible for approving
operational emissions targets for the Group and
commissioning an ESG benchmarking, as well as gap
analysis exercise to identify gaps in both disclosure and
policy relative to best practice standards. Moreover,
the ESG Working Group works closely with the Group's
different operation departments, with an aim to develop
consistent and enhanced approaches on addressing ESG
risk issues and report to the management.

Strategy

Climate change risk forms part of our overall risk profile
through its role in increasing the frequency and intensity
of certain diseases, and the health and mortality impacts
resulting from natural disasters. We assess the overall
level of risk by taking into consideration a range of
diverse risk factors across the many categories in our
product or services range.

This diversity of risk is combined with our business
strategy and broad geographic footprint helps us
distribute risk and provide protection against the impacts
of short-term climate change effects. Our products and
services continue to provide protection for people in our
communities against weather and heat-related disease.
Besides, we continue to explore opportunities to engage
our business partners and encourage them to develop
climate resilience and reduce their operational carbon
footprint by taking into consideration of different climate-
related scenarios, including a “2°C or lower scenario”
through the following steps:

Step 1: Set Future Images Assuming Climate Change
Effects

As climate change measures proceeds, there is
a possibility that the industry will be exposed to
substantial changes, such as stricter policies including
the introduction of and increases in carbon pricing, as
well as advances in technology and changes in customer
awareness. In light of these climate change effects,
based on the International Energy Agency (“IEA")
scenarios and others, we developed multiple future
images as the external environment that will surround
our Group.
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With regard to the IEA scenarios, we put focus on the
2°C scenario (2DS) and pictured future images in case
where climate change measures do not progress and
where such measures progress further “Beyond 2°C
scenario”.

Step 2: Consider the Impacts

We considered the impacts on our Group for each of the
future images developed in Step 1. We believe that it will
be possible to expedite carbon dioxide reduction effects
in our society.

With regard to the effects on raw material procurement
and production, introduction of and increases in carbon
pricing is anticipated in accordance with the global
advance of climate change measures, leading to the
possibility of higher raw material procurement and
production costs.

On the other hand, in the case where climate change
measures are not adequate throughout society,
production interruptions and supply chain disruptions
are likely to increase as a result of higher frequency and
intensification of natural disasters such as flooding.

Step 3: Respond to the Strategies

Our Group will begin promoting the reduction of
nonrenewable energy in our daily operation. This strategy
will allow for flexible and strategic responses to each
demand for the regions where the emission factors
of purchased electricity consumptions are high. By
promoting real carbon emissions reductions throughout
the world through these types of initiatives, we are
working to achieve zero carbon emission in our business.

We minimize carbon emissions through comprehensive
energy-saving and introduction of renewable energy.
With respect to renewable energy in particular, we have
set a new target, achieve a reduction rate for purchased
electricity in coming few years.

With regard to the ongoing confirmation of the suitability
and progress of the Group's strategies, we believe
that we will have opportunities for stable funding
and sustainable increase in corporate value through
appropriate information disclosure, dialogue with
institutional investors and other stakeholders.
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Risk Management

Our Group identifies the climate change related risks or
to test the existing risk management strategies under
climate change with the aid of risk assessment. Hence,
the areas where new strategies are needed can be
identified.

The risk assessment takes a standard risk-based
approach using national data, local information and expert
knowledge, which can identify how climate change may
compound existing risks or create new ones. The risk
assessment is conducted through the following steps:

Step 1. Establish the context
° Objective/goal

° Scale
° Time frame

° Climate change scenario for most climate variables
and sea level

Step 2: Identify existing risk (past and current)

o Identify the record of occurrence of climatic hazard
in the past in the area

° Risk management strategies in place to tackle
future occurrence of the hazard

Step 3. Identify future risk and opportunities
° Explore climate change projections for the selected
time frame(s) and emission scenario(s)

o Identify potential hazards

° Investigate whether any existing risk from Step 2
may get worse under future projected changes

o Identify new risks that can emerge under future
projected changes

Step 4: Analyze and evaluate risk

° Identify a set of decision areas or systems (i.e.,
geographical areas, business operation, assets,
ecosystems, etc.) that has the potential to be at risk
in future
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As outlined within the Governance section above,
the Group has robust risk management and business
planning processes that are overseen by the board of
directors in order to identify, assess and manage climate-
related risks. The Group engages with government
and other appropriate organizations in order to keep
abreast of expected and potential regulatory and/or fiscal
changes.

We continue to raise awareness of climate change in
regard to monitoring of carbon and energy footprint in
our daily operation. However, there remains gaps in
understanding how such climate risks and opportunities
may impact our operations, assets and profits. Our Group
assesses how the business addresses climate change
risks and opportunities and takes the initiative to monitor
and reduce their environmental footprint.

Significant Climate-related Issues

During the reporting period, the significant climate-
related physical risks and transition risks, which have
impacted and/or may impact our Group's business
and strategy in (i) operations, products and services,
(ii) supply chain and value chain, (iii) adaptation and
mitigation activities, (iv) investment in research and
development, and (v) financial planning, as well as the
steps taken to manage these risks, are as follows:
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Climate-related risks description

R f% 18 B L B Y 4 3

Financial Impact

R S-Z

Steps taken to manage the risks

RHEEZZ AR RE

Physical Risk
BERE R
Acute physical risks

=HEERRR

Increased severity and
frequency of extreme weather
events such as cyclones and

floods. These have the potential

to cause both idiosyncratic
and systemic risks, resulting
in potential damage to office
equipment and film production
or exhibition facilities.
BimARREMS (NEEBE KT
K) BBREMMIEER L7 - BH
%‘)Ri’@ﬂﬁﬁ%ﬁﬂl%ﬂ ESilcd=o]
T A IR A R
%%H%&EF“W

Operating cost and
repairing expense
increase

BEXA KNSR
SN

Planned to establish a natural
disasters emergency plan.
FERIERAKERSTR

Planned to devise an action
plan to articulate the goals
and targets of the reductions
in GHG emission and energy
consumption. Outlined the
plan to achieving those targets
and defined responsibilities.
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Climate-related risks description
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Chronic physical risks
2 ERER

Changes in precipitation
patterns and extreme variability
in weather patterns. Frequent
extreme weather events

and rising in sea levels are
likely to pose disruptions to
communities across the region
over the long term, affecting
economic output and business
productivity.

FERARE U R AARE R E R
B - BENERRREMN RET
H - KBS TR R A
HEREKRTE  FEEBEEEN
REBREK o

Governments that have been
pushing for new regulation to
reduce GHG emission will pose

a threat to financial performance

of a business and increase

regulatory risk.
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Financial Impact

M E
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Revenue reduces

Waim

Operating cost
increases

LB AR I

Steps taken to manage the risks
AEEZEARMEKRINEE

Planned improvements,
retrofits, relocations, or other
changes to facilities that may
reduce their vulnerability

to climate impacts, and
increases climate resilience in
long term.
FHEIERIEEITRE - N -
BEEYHMAGE  EHEHA
RIFFZERRR - WRERMNE
HRIEE{Laee N -

Record the energy
consumption to identify peaks
in usage, thus significant
savings could be determined.
RERERERENERRES
8 - FSSRR IR BN RE RER ©

Engaged with local or
national governments and
local stakeholders on local
resilience.
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Climate-related risks description
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Financial Impact
BT E

Steps taken to manage the risks

RHEEZZ AR RE

Transitional Risk
iBE Rk
Policy risk
R [ B

As a result of energy efficiency e (QOperating cost
requirements and the carbon- increases
pricing mechanisms by the PRC o “&&Epk AL f1
Government, the price of fossil

fuels increases.

BB T B IR e iR E S Bk E (B

Wl BB AERESLEH -

Mandates on and regulation
of existing film and TV show
broadcasting services.
REBXLEREE BEREH
RENRE -

e Planned to conduct a carbon
footprint survey, in order
to work out the company’s
footprint, to prioritize energy
and waste reductions.

o FTEBEITTHREUMAESE - LAFTE
NAIRIER RN - BRI AR
R B SERT o

e Monitor the updates of
the relevant environmental
laws and regulations
against existing products
and services, to avoid the
unnecessary increase in cost
and expenditure due to non-
compliance.
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Climate-related risks description

Financial Impact

Steps taken to manage the risks

SR fi% E) B8 L B Y 32 AREEZSEKRMERIRNER
Legal risk
SRR
e Exposure to litigation risk. We e Operating cost e Monitored the updates of

have to adapt the tightened
law and regulations imposed by °
the government due to climate
change, as well as bear the
risk of potential litigation once
we fail to obligate the new
regulations.

AR o PR R BUF A &
AR MR EE RRG - —
BoRgE BRI RIS EERFR
FARELR o

Enhanced air pollutant
emissions-reporting obligations
for local government, and we
may have to spend more time
on fulfilling the ESG reporting
standards to comply with the
updating Hong Kong Listing
Rules.

E HbBUT N5& 25 RS A BERER
ENEL - BRAFIEREEER
ZiEmERE - g RERW
EHAEA - AETERES LR
a3 -

increases
1B A AN AN

environmental laws and
regulations and engage
professional to carry out
ISO9001 audit in advance.

o EERIRIFIAGI RGN EIE
Mo WEEHEZEATTELET
ISO9001FE#% -

e Continued monitoring of the
ESG reporting standards of
the Hong Kong Listing Rules.

o RHEEREBELMBRANZIR
5 e RERREED -
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Climate-related risks description Financial Impact Steps taken to manage the risks

SR 1% AR B R e 9 A

Technology risk

B L Fz

e More films and TV series with
low-carbon, energy-saving
technologies are produced.
Lagging behind of technology
advancement may weaken our
competitive edges.

o FHAMBIEKIK  HERERMNER
N EBIRENE RUE - RITERFR
AIREEHISS MM ERE B -

Market risk
SRR

M E

Capital investment

increases

BARBERIN

Research and
Development
(R&D) expense
increases
Rz (H
) R

AEBRZZARMERNEE

Examined the feasibility and
benefits of applying the latest
environmental technologies
during film and TV series
production. The Group
targets to have a long-term
footprint reduction as filming
technologies will switch

from film to High Definition
(HD) technology. Besides,
we planned to study the
development of digital cinema
in future.
EREERNERE B RERD
B ARSI RARRAMT A A]
TR - BEERBERITS
FEMEARIERM - AEED
AN RERDIRETAEE ©
BEAN - AT BT AR R IR R &
HBERXHER -

e More customers are concerned e Revenue e Fulfilled the climate-related
about climate-related risks decreases regulations by the government.
and opportunities, which may o W o FEBNHIRIEAEEBRG -

lead to changes in customer
preference.

Operating cost

Prioritize the climate change

o FEZEFETRIRMAERR X increases as a high concern in the
B RS EPRUBTME - o EIBRKZANIZ NN market decisions to show to

e |nability to attract co-financiers
and/or investors due to
uncertain risks related to the
climate.

o FRIKAE AT HEE B & 2
ARSI A S IER MR, %

Production cost
increases

SUERAIE N

the clients that the company is
concerned about the problem
of climate change.
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Climate-related risks description Financial Impact

Revenue
decreases

Yz i

SRR AE B 2 B Y 8 e
Reputational risk
EER R
e Risk of stigmatization of film °
and TV production sector, as
there will be more stakeholder °
concern or negative stakeholder
feedback on our Group if the °

film and TV show productions
are produced in a less
environmental-friendly way.

o BYNBREBRETETEL
BERR - IAARE B AR IRIRAY
FRBEECRERGE - Kg
BHEZMREEERINER
BR -

e Negative press coverage related
to support of our Group's
business projects or activities
with negative impacts on the
climate (e.g., GHG emissions
and energy conservation), which
may affect our reputation and
image.

o BEAAKEMEIEEREBHE
HRIFEAETYE (AERE
PR ERE RER) BV B EFTER
B Mg ERMNEERTE
% o
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Operating costs
increases

B AN I

Steps taken to manage the risks
AEEZEARMEKRINEE

Fulfilled the social
responsibility by organizing
more public relation activities
to show how our Group
places importance on climate
change.
BREZLAREHRTAEER
HRIRE(EHER - BT
R -

Reviewed the film and TV
show production process, as
well as business projects to
ensure the production and the
projects are environmental-
friendly.

FR B L ERED B BRI
IANEEIAR @ HREEBRE
REMEBHUERR
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During the reporting period, the primary climate-related EAi&ﬁ‘:HHW CRIRBEN EE K
opportunities and the corresponding financial impacts BRIEEEZEmT

were as follows:

Detailed description of climate-related
opportunities

KR DB MR Y+ AR

Resource efficiency
BIRBE
e Use of more efficient modes of transport

e FAEAMENBIA

e Use of more efficient production and
distribution processes

o EREBMEMEUERDIHRIE

e Use of recycling
o fEIRFER

e Reduce water consumption

o MK

Energy source

BEIR

e Use of lower-emission sources of energy

o (EREIMEEIR

e Use of supportive policy incentives

o FAIEBORERIEIE

e Use of new technologies

o (ERFETRAM

e Shift toward decentralized energy
generation

o BEZEDABLRARR

Products and services

Em &R

e Development of climate adaptation and
insurance risk solutions

o FIERIREE IR E R AR Z

e Ability to diversify business activities

o ZILEFEBIHIRE

e Development of new products or services
through R&D and innovation
o BT EE N BN BT 7 3R E s RAE

Financial Impact

by

e QOperating cost reduces through efficiency
gains and cost reductions

o BEBINTRME REE AP EERA

e QOperating cost reduces through use of
lowest cost abatement

o BBEMRERARIEEEERAN

e Returns on investment in low-emission
technology increases

o IERIEBEMESTR R E B

e Revenue increases through new solutions
to adaptation needs, such as insurance risk
transfer of products and services

o FREERRELATNMBASTR (WER
ARG H R BB ER) BA KR
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Detailed description of climate-related
opportunities

RARADBE MR Y+ AR

Markets

%

e Access to new markets
o HEAFTIG

Resilience

EIES

e Participation in renewable energy programs
and adoption of energy-efficiency measures

o ZHATHA LR EI RIRENET AL I

e Resource substitution or diversification

o BRBRIZITI

Metrics and Targets

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
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Financial Impact

by

e Revenue increases through access to new
and emerging markets
o FEMEE ARSI A

e Market valuation increases through resilience
planning, such as planning of the research in
the use of electric vehicles

o FBEMHRE (WREFATEAESNE) E
M5 hE

e Reliability of supply chain and ability to
operate under various condition increases
o IERHEREMNAEMRESBRGTHE
7

e Revenue increases through new products
and services related to ensuring resiliency

o B HELENE AR KV E m S ARSI it am

BE =

Our Group adopts the key metrics to assess and manage
climate-related risks and opportunities. The energy
consumption and greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions
indicators are the key metrics used to assess and
manage relevant climate-related risks where we consider
such information is material and crucial for evaluating
the impact of our operation on global climate change
during the year. Our Group regularly tracks our energy
consumption and GHG emissions indicators to assess
the effectiveness of emission reduction initiatives,
as well as set targets to contribute our effort to have
minimal impact on global warming.

The details of time frames over which the target applies
and base year from which progress is measured are
described in the section A1: “"Emissions” and section

“Use of Resources” of this Report. Our Group
adopts absolute target to manage climate-related risks,
opportunities and performance.
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B. SOCIAL ASPECTS B. €M@

The Group believes employees are valuable assets and
the foundation for success and development of the
Group. We strive to maintain a safe and equal working
environment for employees and promote employees’
health and well-being. Policies and regulations in the
Group's staff handbook have been established for the
guidance and observation by the employees of the Group
and will be subject to the laws of the PRC and Hong
Kong as far as they may be applicable in conjunction
with the policies. Staff handbook provides information
and guidelines regarding employee’s standard working
hours, rest days, statutory holidays, termination of
employment, summary dismissal, exit interview, salary
payment, overtime work, various types of leaves,
medical coverage, mandatory provident fund, night shift
travel allowance and overtime work allowance.

Work-life Balance

The Group recognises that a proper balance between
work and rest can help employees to release their
full potential. Hence, the Group is dedicated to help
employees to maintain a work-life balance through
reasonable contractual working hours and vacation
entitlements.

Equal opportunity

The Group places a high priority on achieving equality
of opportunity for all employees in relation to all
personnel matters including recruitment, training,
promotion, transfer, benefits and dismissal. The dignity
and individuality of each employee is respected, and
the privacy and confidentiality of employee records
is safeguarded. Employees’ performance is assessed
solely according to their individual ability to meet job
requirements.

Promotion and appraisal

The Group offers internal promotions to employees,
whenever possible, within the Group. Promotion to a
higher grade normally depends on the availability of
vacancy, individual performance and potential to take up
the new position.

AEERARBEREEAKRENES
BE TEADRERIBAX -
BB REEERZERTSE
MTEIRE - UIRERERFEE
BAL - AKRBEE T FMAMBK
RBOITIHESI RN EENEE K
HREBTMRY - LHZ A B
HEHBRRRARERNTELE
BEPIFTR - ETFMEBABAR
BEFRETR  AKEB JEEMR
Hi - RILEME - BIRRE - BEE
EK - TEXM - i - K
R BERE  REEIER
R iR BE R NP E BE B0 B R
K383

T AR Ry
AREERANETEEKERBRE
EBETE  BEYMEBEFTDEIEM
Bt AEERNEREE
BN TERERIRBREF - BB
1B B4 T 1EAEE T -

FEHS

BER2BEERS TS IAKE
MEZER BREER  HI-
Bt #BE - BN REBREAN
EANESEE AEEEEESH
EEMNERLEN  REEEE
HOLERRT - BEEWRRE
IR E mE TIEZ2 R EARE
EITRHE ©

B RT(h
AEBKERERESRHEANE
BETtE BERAEE S RLAS
—MREURR B Z= BGIROR - EA
KA RFEEHNBHHED -
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The Group provides an open, challenging and
participative environment for all employees. We aim to
provide opportunities for the development of the skills
of employees to the fullest extent possible, consistent
with the needs of the Group. Job performance is
reviewed annually, and this serves as an opportunity
for the supervisor to evaluate employee’s performance
in an objective and open manner, to discuss concerns,
strength and suggestions for further improvement.

Employees’ remuneration and pay scale adjustment are
made reference to individual’'s performance and appraisal
results, industrial standard and market trend.

Employee welfare

Employees can enjoy free enrolment to Cinema City's
membership along with complimentary movie tickets
and coupons. Movie premiere invitations are also given
to employees for the Group’s own film productions.
The Group offers special arrangement to employees
to leave work early on important traditional days which
are not public holidays such as Mid-Autumn Festival,
Winter solstice, Christmas Eve and Chinese New Year's
Eve. The Group regularly organises internal events to
strengthen the sense of belonging within the Group
and boost the communication transparency among all
levels of employees, through Christmas party and annual
dinner, etc.

During the reporting period, the Group was in strict
compliance with the relevant laws and regulations in
the PRC and Hong Kong, including the Labour Law
of the PRC, the Labour Contract Law of the PRC, the
Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57 of the Laws of
Hong Kong), the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance (Chapter 485 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the
Sex Discrimination Ordinance (Chapter 480 of the Laws
of Hong Kong) and the Race Discrimination Ordinance
(Chapter 602 of the Laws of Hong Kong) in HK. During
the reporting period, the Group was not aware of any
material non-compliance with those applicable laws and
regulations.

At the end of the reporting period, the total number of
employees of the Group was 67 (30 June 2023: 88).
Below is the employee breakdown by gender, age group,
geographical region.
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2024 2023
Employee Breakdown EERA 20244 2023%F
By gender &1 BB 5
Male St 73% 68%
Female pegli3 27% 32%
By age group RERAR B D
30 or below 3038 AT 58% 50%
31-40 31 2405% 23% 34%
41-50 41 5% ZE505% 13% 10%
51 or above 515 A 6% 6%
By geographical region &ith3E B 8l 5
PRC a3 40% 62%
Hong Kong BE 60% 38%
By employee category ZREBERE S
Senior management SEEEAR 14% 16%
Middle management FEEEAE 18% 22%
General staff —RET 67 % 62%
Contract/short term A%,/ G 1% =

The employee annual turnover rate by gender, age group,
geographical region during the reporting period was as

RFEHE - BEFERARE
YR - IR R I 8

follows: wmE
2024 2023
Employee Turnover Rate® EERKE 20245 2023%F
By gender &1 B8l 5
Male St 49% 33%
Female peglii3 71% 54%
By age group RERARE 2
30 or below 30FREIA T 34% 54%
31-40 31E2405% 100% 24%
41-50 41Z2505% 36% 1%
51 or above 51pxsk A 22% 36%
By geographical region &ith3E B 8l 5
PRC F 41% 46%
Hong Kong BB 68% 36%
Overall “et 55% 40%
hi Employee Turnover Rate calculation = employee loss in * BERAEFE=AFERER

the year/average employee in the year

Average employee in the year = (Beginning staff of the
year + Ending staff of the year)/2

RANB EEFEFHREEAEK

AEEFHREREAB=(FMNE
TAB+FRETAR), 2
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Employee health and safety is the Group's top priority.
The Group takes into consideration every precaution to
establish a healthy and safe working environment for its
employees. We strictly abide by the relevant laws and
regulations in the PRC and Hong Kong, including the
Law of the PRC on work safety, the Law of the PRC on
the Prevention and Control of Occupational Disease, and
the Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance (Chapter
509 of the Laws of Hong Kong) in Hong Kong. During
the year ended 30 June 2024, there was no case of non-
compliance (2023: Nil) in relation to health and safety or
work-related injury within the Group.

The Group not only strictly complies with relevant labour
laws and regulations, but also proactively formulates
internal policies and standards related to specific
business departments of the Group. For example, the
Group's film exhibition operation has obtained Places
of Public Entertainment License issued by Food and
Environmental Hygiene Department (“FEHD") to ensure
its business comply with relevant laws and regulations.
Besides, as stated in the staff handbook, health and
safety at work are the interest and responsibility of both
employees and the Group.

Employees’ compensation insurance is provided to cover
any work-related injuries, illnesses and occupational
diseases. The Group is committed to complying with
all local occupational health and safety legislations that
are relevant to the Group. First-aid kits are provided at
all workplaces. Employees must take reasonable care
for the health and safety of themselves and others, as
well as participating in fire safety training or fire drills
provided by the Group or property management offices.
If any employee notices any unsafe conditions or gets
injured at work, he/she should immediately report it to
the supervisor.
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During the year ended 30 June 2024, there was no
work injury case (30 June 2023: 1 work injury case, 30
June 2022: Nil) and no lost days (30 June 2023: 53 lost
days, 30 June 2022: Nil) due to minor injuries during film
exhibition and production operations. There was no work-
related fatality case (30 June 2023: Nil, 30 June 2022: Nil)
during the reporting period. Employees were given paid
sick leave for their recovery. Overall, no employees had
serious accident during the reporting period.

The Group believes the knowledge and skills of its
employees are vital to the sustainable development of
the Group. All training activities, executed through the
Human Resources & Administration Department of the
Group (“HRA"), should comply with the applicable local
laws and regulations and protect the Group’s interest.
We maintain an open dialogue with our employees by
facilitating a transparent two-way communication and
providing on-the-job training to ensure they are well
equipped with skills, knowledge and competencies that
are needed to perform their job duties. Besides, we
also encourage employees to attend external courses
regarding operation skills required for upgraded software
and new equipment during office hours. Standard training
is arranged for directors and the company secretary
on an annual basis and a regular basis respectively, to
strengthen their continuous professional development as
well as to comply with requirements of the Listing Rules.
The Group will enhance the training system in order to
improve the personal development of employees in the
future.
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During the reporting period, the percentage of RHEEHRA - IEEZRMER R
employees received training by gender and employment BEERE SO BEINT ¢

category was as follows:

2024 2023
Percentage of Employees Received Training ZI|{EEB D 20245 2023%F
By gender 121 BB 5
Male St 19% 23%
Female pegliid 100% 100%
By employment category REBERE S
Senior management BEEEAB 57% 64%
Middle management FEEEAE 62% 47 %
General staff —RET 49% 61%
Contract/short term X opgsht - =
Overall @t 52% 59%
During the reporting period, the composition of R EHR - ZIEEERERN R
employees received training by gender and employment EEERNESSE/KINT -
category was as follows:
2024 2023
Composition of Employees Received Training FI|{EE4H K 20245 20235
By gender RERE S
Male B 25% 26%
Female pegliid 75% 74%
By employment category REBERES
Senior management SEEEAR 15% 15%
Middle management FEEEAB 22% 14%
General staff —RET 63% 71%
Contract/short term a4,/ EH - -
Overall @t 100% 100%
Furthermore, the average training hours by gender and AN - RIREER - BRI RE
employment category during the reporting period was as BEERIEI D B FEHZHIESmT
follows:
2024 2023
Average Training Hours Received per Employee &I {E & T3S 2024%F 20234
By gender 1 B Bl 5
Male B 0.6 2.0
Female pegid 2.2 4.6
By employment category RERER &2
Senior management SEEEAS 1.7 7.0
Middle management FEERAE 2.1 5.4
General staff —RET 0.7 1.4
Contract/short term &4 % HA = =
Overall #st 1.1 2.9
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The Group respects the human rights of employees and
is strongly against the employment of child labour and
forced labour. The Group is strictly in compliance with
the relevant laws and regulations, such as the Labour
Law in the PRC and the Employment Ordinance (Chapter
57 of the Laws of Hong Kong) in Hong Kong. We pursue
fair and equitable principle, promote equal opportunity in
recruiting and promotion for employees and prohibit any
kind of forced labour. We are committed to supporting
the effective abolition of child labour and upholding the
elimination of all forms of forced labour.

The HRA conducts checking on candidates and newly
joined employee’s identity cards, working visa, relevant
certificates, and references to ensure compliance
with all the applicable laws and regulations relating to
labour standards. The Group respects the freedom of
employees.

All works should be voluntarily performed and must
not involve forced labour. The Group forbids abusing,
corporal punishment, violence, spirit oppression, sexual
harassment (including improper language, posture and
body contact) as forms of penalty.

During the reporting period, the Group was not aware of
any material non-compliance (2023: Nil) with the relevant
laws and regulations related to recruitment of child labour
or forced labour practices.
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The Group strives to maintain long-term and good
relationships with suppliers, maintain competitive
advantages in the value chain, and provide stable
products and services to our customers. In order to
manage and mitigate the environmental and social risks
in the supply chain, we have adopted a procurement
policy and a stringent supplier selection procedure for
assigning purchasing responsibilities and ensuring a
consistent approach for selecting suppliers who will
provide the best terms, conditions and products to meet
our standards and requirements. During the year, we
require all our Group's 45 (30 June 2023: 45) suppliers in
Hong Kong and 7 (30 June 2023: 13) suppliers in the PRC
to ensure all material aspects of procurement of goods,
raw materials, works and services to be conducted to
the highest ethical standards in accordance with our
Group’s purchasing and supplier management policy
and procedure, as well as consistent with the following
principles:

° Competitive tendering wherever possible and
the impartial selection of appropriately qualified
tenderers;

° Objective evaluation of tenders and selection of
contractors and suppliers;

° Adoption of appropriate forms of contract according
to needs; and

° Adoption of effective monitoring systems and
management controls to ensure the proper
fulfilment of contractual obligation, and to detect
and prevent bribery, fraud or other malpractices
throughout all stages of the procurement process.

In the supply chain, environmental risks and social risks
may arise. Environmental risks are transmitted through
air, water, soil or biological food chains to human,
while social risk arises from negative perceptions of an
organization’s impact on the community.
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In order to deal with the environmental risks and social
risks along the supply chain, the Group identifies and
assesses significant actual and potential negative
environmental and social impacts in the supply chain by
reviewing the benefits and limitation of each machine
and equipment used. We always require the suppliers
should have a high quality of Environmental, Health
and Safety system (e.g., ISO9001, 1ISO14001) in their
operational practice. Qualified suppliers which adopt high
environmental and social standards are maintained in an
approved supplier list and reviewed in an ongoing manner
by our management. The performance of suppliers is
assessed annually by the Group. For the suppliers that
may generate negative environmental or social impacts,
the Group will follow up with them on proposing more
advanced and environmentally-friendly operations.
Therefore, promoting environmentally preferable
products and services when selecting suppliers are
considered and monitored throughout our supplier
evaluation process.

The Group regards product quality as a key competitive
advantage of its business and makes every effort
to improve the product quality while strengthening
communications with customers. We have strictly
complied with the applicable laws and regulations in the
PRC and Hong Kong, including the Product Quality Law
of the PRC, the Consumer Protection Law of the PRC
and the Trade Descriptions Ordinance (Chapter 362 of
the laws of Hong Kong) and the Personal Data (Privacy)
Ordinance (Chapter 486 of the laws of Hong Kong).
During the reporting period, the Group was not aware of
any material non-compliance (2023: Nil) with the relevant
laws and regulations related to product responsibility in
the PRC and Hong Kong.
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Customer Relations

The management plays a vital role in understanding and
communicating with what its customers need. Thus, the
Group has maintained years of business relationships
with its key customers and ensured the end product
fitting for the users. We recognise that customer
satisfaction is of primary importance to our success. We
strive to understand their requirements and concerns and
to merit their business by responding effectively to their
needs. Specifically, our policies include:

o Always put the customers first by providing them
with good quality cinema facilities, high quality
viewing environment and the services that meet or
exceed the customers’ needs under all reasonable
circumstances;

° Provide service hotline and email enquiry channel,
in which all enquiries must be responded within 3
working days;

o Provide services that reliably and safely meet
responsible standards of performance, efficiency,
and courtesy; and

° Provide timely, accurate and sufficient information
about its operations, capabilities, and services,
without misrepresentation, exaggeration, and
overstatement.

Accessible seats are provided for people with disability
and the people along with them. Subtitled screenings
are provided for deaf and hearing-impaired customers.
Moreover, it is the Group's standard practice to check
every customer’s identification card when watching
age-restricted movies. During the reporting period,
no material products and service-related complaints
were received, and no products sold or shipped were
subjected to recalls for safety and health reasons.

Food Health and Safety at Cinemas

The Group obtained the Food Factory License issued
by Food and Environmental Hygiene Department
("FEHD") and strictly complies with the policies and
relevant regulations set by FEHD. Officers from FEHD
regularly conducts inspection on the Group’'s film
exhibition premises to ensure food quality and hygienic
environment are maintained. Employees working at
concession stands are required to attend training courses
provided by the FEHD and strictly follow the food
preparation guidelines.
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Copyrights Management

The Group has established a copyrights management
policy for its distribution and production of films, in
the aspects of copyright’s filing procedure, define
ownership of the copyrights and contract terms. Digital
Cinema Package (DCP) is used for movies for protection
against illegal copying and piracy as specific decryption
is required. In case of any suspected copyrights
infringement item coming to the Group's attention, the
policy also provides guidance on reporting structures
and responsible parties and departments. Moreover,
the Group enforces security encryption, subject to
customers’ instruction, and the Group sets securities
codes for internal data and privacy protection. The use
of pirate software is prohibited to avoid infringement of
copyrights of other parties. For film exhibition operation,
the Group ensures the warning message and policy
trailers are displayed to protect intellectual property
rights of the films exhibited in the cinemas. Employees
are required to strictly follow work procedures to patrol
inside the cinemas during screening to ensure no illegal
recording.

Personal Data Protection and Privacy Policy
The Group is committed to complying with data
protection principles and the requirements of the
Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance (Chapter 486 of the
Laws of Hong Kong). Security software is installed on
server for data protection. No collected personal data of
employees, customers, suppliers and cinemagoers shall
be shared with any third party outside the Group without
their prior consent unless permitted or requested by law.
Only those employees who need these personal data
need to perform a specific task with such information.
For example, job application and customer services
are granted access rights for personally identifiable
information. Personal information is retained only for
such period whenever necessary for carrying out of the
purposes stated in the policy or as otherwise specified at
the time of collection.
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The Group is committed to upholding high standards of
business ethics and integrity. The Group strictly abides
by the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC and
Hong Kong, including the Criminal Law of the PRC and
the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance (Chapter 201 of the
Laws of Hong Kong) in Hong Kong. The Group forbids
any form of corruption, extortion, bribery, fraud, money
laundering and embezzlement.

The Group has also established an anti-fraud policy and
code of conduct manual for employees to maintain the
highest standards of integrity and honesty in conducting
the Group's affairs. Any employee contravening the
Group's rules and ethical standards is liable to disciplinary
action.

The Group does not tolerate any illegal or unethical
acts. Anyone violating the code of conduct will be
disciplined and may be dismissed. The Group expects
all employees to honestly uphold the Group’s policy, the
accounting procedures and other controls. The Group has
formulated the "Whistle-blowing Policy” which provides
the employees reporting channels and guidance. Any
employee of the Group who has concern about any of
the matters aforesaid can inform the Company Secretary.
Employees should report to the management at once
when any suspected violations of the code of conduct
and anti-fraud policy including conflicts of interest,
deception, bribery, forgery, extortion, corruption, theft,
conspiracy, embezzlement, asset misappropriation,
false representation, concealment of materials facts and
collusion, fighting or gambling whilst on duty, serious
negligence of duties, money laundering, etc. are found.
This aims to minimize damage to the Group's reputation.

All potential frauds will be fully investigated by the
Compliance Officer together with the Company
Secretary. These investigations will be handled
confidentially. Management will take immediate
corrective actions to resolve substantiated frauds.
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The Company Secretary will report fraudulent activity
to the Audit Committee at least annually. This report
will include the number of cases reported, the nature
of important investigations and the results of those
investigations. Since the responsibility for monitoring
fraud ultimately rests with the Board, the Audit
Committee will submit a summary of fraudulent activity
to the Board at least annually.

In cases of suspected corruption or other forms
of criminality, once prima facie evidence has been
established, cases will be reported to Hong Kong
Independent Commission Against Corruption or other
appropriate regulatory authorities.

The anti-fraud policy will be reviewed and, if necessary,
updated at least every two years. Any changes to this
policy will be submitted to the Audit Committee for
approval.

The Group strongly believes that conducting the business
within an honest, moral, and ethical arena is the best
business policy to achieve healthy and sustainable
growth of the Group. The Group manages and directs
its business with honesty including honest financial
procedures, budget proposals and honest economic
evaluation of its business. According to the code of
conduct, those who are involved in the selection of and
purchase from suppliers and contractors should avoid
misuse of authority or engagement in situations which
could interfere, or appear to interfere, with their ability to
make free and independent decisions regarding purchase
or procurement.

During the reporting period, no legal case concerned
with corrupt practices was brought against the Group.
Besides, the Group was not aware of any material non-
compliance with the relevant laws and regulations related
to anti-corruption in the PRC and Hong Kong during the
year ended 30 June 2024.
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As a socially responsible enterprise, the Group is
constantly aware of the needs of community and
strives to bring a positive impact on community
development. The Group encourages its employees
to dedicate their time and skills to supporting local
communities with the aim to create a harmonious
society and cultural development. The Group strives
to discharge its corporate social responsibility and has
been offering special movie ticket price for the elderly
and students. Moreover, we may consider supporting
non-governmental organisations through charity gala
premiere of the Group's productions or the films
exhibited in the Group’s cinemas.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

e RVR A G

Deloitte

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF TRANSMIT ENTERTAINMENT LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Transmit
Entertainment Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 130 to 254,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as
at 30 June 2024, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in
equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
material accounting policy information and other explanatory
information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at
30 June 2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the "HKICPA")
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing ("“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’'s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
VR GRS

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF TRANSMIT ENTERTAINMENT LIMITED

(Continued)
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matters

ARELER

Impairment assessment of goodwill

RS

We identified the impairment assessment
of goodwill as a key audit matter due to the
significance of the balance to the consolidated
financial statements as a whole and significant
judgement and estimate involved in determination
of the recoverable amount of the cash generating
units (“CGUs") to which goodwill has been
allocated.

RITHRPIEBRENMERAREZEIE  EANEH
ERHGAT B RRERB EENRETCEORR
BrReEFEU([ReEFERMAU]) 2l KOS5
N E AR K fhET -

As disclosed in notes 4 and 15 to the consolidated
financial statements, the carrying amount before
impairment loss of goodwill was HK$422,392,000
as at 30 June 2024. In estimating the recoverable
amount of the CGUs to which goodwill has been
allocated, the management has made a number of
key assumptions in the value in use calculations.
The key assumptions include discount rates, the
forecast performance in respect of budgeted sales
and budgeted costs based on management'’s view
of future business prospects. As disclosed in note
15 to the consolidated financial statements, based
on the management’s assessment, impairment loss
of HK$223,792,000 was recognised for the year
ended 30 June 2024 (2023: HK$117,802,000).
WERE MK 4 R1BFTIRE - B ER20245F6
A30RHREE BRI BREERE#422,392,0007T °
REFTEESEREZREELAEL 2 KB &5
W EREECREEFERIEHETEERE -
ERIBERBEEEHRKEBIRNE EZRTEE
THE RTEERAMAET AR E RIBRIKRIR - RS
&M 10 HE - BBEIRENM - 21E2024
F6H30R IEFE R EREFB 223,792,000
70(2023%F : ##117,802,0007T) °

BEREREBRD R FRER ()
(RASHSEME L BERLA])

FAREEXEIEm

How our audit addressed the key audit matters

RITHERNMEEBREERSE

Our procedures in relation to the impairment assessment
of goodwill included:

AITENBEREN NIRRT

Understanding the process of how management
performs impairment assessment of goodwill;

AR IR B AR HE T T P B AR E R

Challenging the key assumptions used, including
discount rates, the forecast performance in respect
of budgeted sales and budgeted costs based on our
knowledge of the entertainment related industry as
well as historical performance of the Group;
BRAEANEERR  BREBBEATHIRERABITE
AN BEEEBATREMREEHERAERARMGEE
BBLER R R FERISRER

Engaging our internal valuation expert to assess the
discount rates used in the impairment assessment
model by benchmarking against independent data; and
ZEANFEEERANBLBERELE  FHEREFHER
APTAMBERE &

Testing a selection of data inputs underpinning the
cash flow forecast against appropriate supporting
evidence, such as approved budgeted sales and
budgeted costs, to assess the accuracy and reliability
of the data inputs.
NEENZFEE(PINERTEEHERTBERR) BE
% AR BRESRETNFE TR AR - AT
R AR EREIE N A S

BIRIREBR AT 2023/24 F#
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. WWe have nothing to
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.

TRANSMIT ENTERTAINMENT LIMITED Annual Report 2023/24
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
VR GRS

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

BRBARELRS UHRRERE
MEE

AT EBRRUGAMBERREBRL TR
FE R A ERRF Sk R AR T 2 B B A R AR R AL BR
BAERRE  AHAEBREATER (REARTT
M E R RIER BT ERBRS )RR
B - MAEEME ) o RIT TSR AH
TOATREMEMALE ESAEEE -
BEFRFIZRKFORE  ETERZER
FREBTENETHNERZ  EX -EXHER
BRAD A BS A BE3E 3R © SR AR PR A A Fa AR
HEEREIE - e ETRM A B HNERT B
FEFERERBZSFERAMBERRAMELD
OEORTE - BIA BRI TR IEERX -

ERBEEBESEAETEZNBRRES - K
TERERAE  REFREREE - K17
DI

o HB M E RN ARFFREARME RS B
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° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’'s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.
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From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
conseguences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor’s report is Ip Yat Hung.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

27 September 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
ireBom AR ERER

For the year ended 30 June 2024 #;%20244F6 A30H [LF/E

Revenue
Cost of sales

Gross (loss) profit

Other gains and losses

Other income

Selling and distribution expenses

Administrative expenses

Impairment losses under expected
credit loss model, net of reversal

Impairment losses recognised on
goodwill

Impairment losses recognised on
intangible assets

Fair value change on purchased
call option

Fair value change on contingent
consideration payable

Finance costs

Loss before tax
Income tax credit

Loss for the year

Other comprehensive expense for
the year

Items that may be reclassified
subsequently to profit or loss

Exchange difference arising on
translation of foreign operations

Reclassification of the cumulative
gain included in profit or loss upon
disposal of foreign operations

Total comprehensive expense
for the year

iy 5

HE AR

(BR)EF

H il as 518
HAUA

HE MBI
1THRFX
BHEEBERATZ
EREE - R A
R (BB 1R AR

B EERERIRRER
EERENEATER
ENHAREAFEE
BB A

BRB AT S 18
PRSI %

FRER

FREM2EBX

PR A BB D IEE
Ra 9IE B

BINEIME 2 BN R

REEBINEBREN
D AREZ
Ratlas

FREHEMXAE
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NOTES
B

32b
15
16

32b

32b

2024

20245
HK$'000
BT T

292,603
(364,020)

(71,417)
(6,107)
100,510
(65,283)
(53,929)
(214)
(223,792)

(32,841)

(5,823)
(14,089)

(372,985)
11,116

(361,869)

(210)

(210)

(362,079)

2023

20234
HK$'000
ST IT

166,429
(120,238)

46,191
3,739
48,709
(74,928)
(65,499)

2,361

(117,802)

(3,423)

(8,638)
(18,590)

(187,780)
2,276

(185,504)

(28,962)

(830)

(29,792)

(215,296)



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

ireBn REMEm R

For the year ended 30 June 2024 #;%20244F6 A30H [LF/E

(Loss) profit for the year
attributable to:
— Owners of the Company
— Non-controlling interests

Total comprehensive expense for
the year attributable to:
— Owners of the Company
— Non-controlling interests

Loss per share
Basic and diluted (HK cents)

THALEEER
(BR)EF :
—ARREEEA
— FEE R =

THALEEER
RHMXAE
—AREHEA A
— JRPERRE R

BRER
HEAR#E B

NOTE
P E

2024

20245
HK$'000
BT T

(350,510)
(11,359)

(361,869)

(350,359)
(11,720)

(362,079)

(13.50)

BIRIREBR AT 2023/24 F#

2023
20234
HK$'000

BETT

(186,920)
1,416

(185,504)

(212,602)
(2,694)

(215,296)

(7.20)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

sre MR

At 30 June 2024 202446 H30H

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment
Right-of-use assets

Goodwill

Intangible assets

Rental deposits

Current assets

Film rights and television series
production in progress

Trade and other receivables

Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss

Restricted bank balances

Pledged bank deposits

Bank balances and cash

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables
Contract liabilities

Tax payable

Bank and other borrowings
Loans from related companies
Contingent consideration payable
Lease liabilities

Net current liabilities

Total assets less current liabilities

NOTES

B 7
FRBEE
Y~ BB R
FHEEE 14
GES 15
mpEE 16
BEZRE 18
FEBEE
BN EREIEPERE

17
E 5 & E At fE U FIE 18
BAFERGTABEZ
SEEE 19
TR HIRITAE 4
ERIRERTTIE K 20
RITRBRIRS 21
RBEE
B 5 R E A FERFIR 22
AHAE 23
FERRIE
R1T R H AL fEFK 24
AR A RINER 25
FES S ARE 32b
HEaE 26
FEBEEFE
BEERTRBAR
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2024

20245
HK$'000
BT T

629
8,976
19,658
1,293

30,556

143,708
132,722

8,202
534
20,678
58,988

364,832

189,018
73,229
12,361
57,522
36,419

130,453

6,706

505,708

(140,876)

(110,320)

2023

20234
HK$'000
ST IT

1,144
63,881
245,725
48,840
17,450

377,040

322,060
84,715

10,850

520
42,271
85,108

545,524

190,071
138,364
17,070
98,306
9,224
125,850
81,039

659,924

(114,400)

262,640



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e PBIRLR

At 30 June 2024 202446 H30H

Non-current liabilities

Loans from related companies
Deferred tax liabilities

Lease liabilities

Net (liabilities) assets

Capital and reserves
Share capital
Reserves

Deficit in shareholders’ equity
Perpetual bonds

Non-controlling interests

Total equity

FRBEE
K BB R RER
EEBIEAE

(BfE)EEFE

BXRf#EE
[EEN
Gk

% SRR 35 5 A
XEE

FER RS

The consolidated financial statements on pages 130 to 254 were
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors of the
Company on 27 September 2024 and are signed on its behalf by:

Zhang Liang, Johnson

RE

DIRECTOR

EF

2024
20244

NOTES HK$'000
B 5T BET T
25 71,870
29 323
26 2,585
74,778

(185,098)

27 6,489
(691,135)

(684,646)

28 457,862
41,686

(185,098)

HRE1B0EDB4A 2 REMBHRRDER
NRIEEFGMN2024F9 27 AL /& RRHET
T WHANTALIRBRE

Lee Hin Kwong, Patrick

FEX
DIRECTOR

EF

BIRIREBR AT 2023/24 F#

2023

20234
HK$'000
ST IT

74,160
12,210
9,089

95,459

167,181

6,489
(340,776)

(334,287)

448,062

53,406

167,181
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
GARREDR

For the year ended 30 June 2024 & Z2024F6 A30H L FE

Attributable to owners of the Company

ARARAAEL
Non-
Share Share Other  Exchange Accumulated Perpetual controlling
capital  premium reserve reserve losses  Sub-total honds interests Total

ks ROEE RtEE  ERGR ZHER Nt XAR FERER ag
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS$'000
AMTn  AMTn  ARTn  B%Tr AETR  BMTn  B¥Tn  BETn BETx

(Note i)
(Rt3)
At 1 July 2022 #2020%7R1R 6,489 521,046 2,581 13,958 (665,759)  (121,685) 464,612 56,100 399,027
(Loss) proﬂt for the year EW(E%)EW - - - - (1 86,920) “86,920) - 1,416 “85,504)
Exchange difference BEBREL
arising on translation of ~ EXE%E
foreign operations - - - (24,852) - (24,852) - (4,110) (28,962)
Reclassification of RIEEBINERR
the cumulative gain EEpEEIN
included in profit or ER Ziha
loss upon disposal of
foreign operations - - - 830) - (830] - - (830)
Total comprehensive EnzEFEY LR
expense for the year - - - (25,682) (1869200 (212,602) - (2,694)  (215,29)
Issuance of perpetual BTk EE(ME8)
bonds (note 28) - - - - - - 950 - 950
Repayment of perpetual  EEKERE(MEH28)
bonds (note 28) - - - - - - (17,500) - (17,500
At 30 June 2023 #2023%6A30H 6,489 521,046 2,581 (11,724) (852,679)  (334,287) 448,062 53,406 167,181

134 TRANSMIT ENTERTAINMENT LIMITED Annual Report 2023/24



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

GARNBDE

For the year ended 30 June 2024 & Z2024F6 A30H L FE

Attributable to owners of the Company

NG PN
Non-
Share Share Other  Exchange Accumulated Perpetual controlling
capital  premium reserve reserve losses  Sub-total honds interests Total
Bx  RHEE AbRE  EXRE Zithk gt XER FERER ag
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
AETT  RETn  BETn B%Tn AETT  RETn  BETr  B%Tn BETr
(Note i)
(BfzE)
Loss for the year EREiE - - - - (350,510)  (350,510) - (11,359 (361,869)
Exchange difference ENEBAE ERER
arising on translation of
foreign operations - - - 151 - 151 - (361) (210)
Total comprehensive FREERTEE
expense for the year - - - 151 (350,510)  (350,359) - (11,7200 (362,079)
Issuance of perpetual 1T EE(ME8)
bonds (note 28) = = - - - - 9,800 - 9,800
At 30 June 2024 720246 A30H 6,489 521,046 2,581 (11573)  (1,203,189)  (684,646) 457,862 41,686 (185,098)

BIEIREAER A R] 2023/24 FR
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
GARNBDE

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% 2024F6 A308 [FF[E

Note: Bt EE -

Other reserve of HK$10,000 represents the difference between
the aggregate nominal value of the respective share capital of the
companies now comprising the subsidiaries of Transmit Entertainment
Limited (the “Company”) over the nominal value of the shares of the
Company issued pursuant to the group reorganisation completed on 5
October 2012 (the “Reorganisation”) to rationalise the structure of the
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”)
in preparation for the listing of the Company’s shares on GEM of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

Other reserve of HK$11,838,000 represents an initial fair value
adjustments of loan advances from Mr. Zhang Liang, Johnson (“Mr.
Zhang"), the controlling shareholder of the Company, and Guangzhou
Puji Real Estate Agency Co. Limited (“Guangzhou Puji”), a company
in which Mr. Zhang has controlling interest, which are unsecured,
interest-free and each repayable in July 2022 and February 2023
respectively. Such fair value adjustments measured as the difference
between proceeds received and the fair value of the loan based
on prevailing market interest rates were considered as deemed
contribution from the controlling shareholder.

In July 2021, loans from Guangzhou Puji and Mr. Zhang were repaid
by issue of perpetual bonds, see details in note 28. The difference
amounting to HK$9,267,000 between the fair value of perpetual
bonds issued and the carrying amounts of loans derecognised was
recognised against the above deemed contribution from the controlling
shareholder.
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For the year ended 30 June 2024 #;%20244F6 A30H [LF/E

NOTES
B &E
OPERATING ACTIVITIES KRR
Loss before tax bR A ET IR
Adjustments for: T IEM AR
Finance costs BB A 8
Interest income FLEMA 7
Gain on modification of financial BT ma s
liabilities 7
Investment income of wealth PEEEEMNIEERA
management products
Depreciation of property, WE - BERREITE
plant and equipment 10
Depreciation of right-of-use-assets FHREEENE 10
Amortisation of intangible assets A 10
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries mERE ARk 7
Gain from deregistration of SESE— R B A AUk
a subsidiary 7
Impairment losses recognised on BIRE RERRE
television series production EIE TR 10
(Gain) loss on disposal of property, HEWYE  BENLERE
plant and equipment and AREREEE
right-of-use assets (Wz) B8 7
Impairment losses recognised EEEEEEENTH
(reversed) under expected credit BEEERER (EE) -
loss model, net SRR 32b
Impairment loss on goodwill EEHREER 15
Impairment loss on intangible assets &2 & EREEE 16
Fair value change on contingent B S AREBHRAFE
consideration payable bof) 32b
Fair value change on purchased EEREHEQTE
call option bek) 32b
Reversal of additional value added REOME[E T EIEHR
tax input deduction o) 7
Operating cash flows before EEECEEILE
movements in working capital fﬁ%mug

Decrease (increase) in film rights and
television series production

in progress
(Increase) decre

other receivables
(Decrease) increase in trade and
other payables

Decrease in con

Net cash generated from operations

Income tax paid

NET CASH FRO
ACTIVITIES

B NE LR ETERE
A (5B n)

5 R ft B IR
CHE0)HD
.5 REM I H0R
CRl2>) 1
ANRERD

ase in trade and

tract liabilities

EERBRSFH
Wit

M OPERATING SRS F R

DATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

2024

20245
HK$°000
BT T

(372,985)

14,089
(1,817)

(1,493)
509

55,326
14,695

(667)

24,867

(16)

214
223,792
32,841

5,823

433

(4,389)

152,129
(46,022)

(4,202)
(64,452)

33,064
(120)

32,944

2023
20234
HK$'000
BEETIT
(187,780)

18,690
(2,038)

(1,614)
(543)
734
55,304

17,876
(14,180)

12,722

95

(2,361)
117,802

8,538

3,423

26,568

(33,216)
58,631

15,288
(5,046)

62,225
(2,862)

59,363
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

HEBRLRER

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% 2024F6 A308 [FF[E

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss
Placement of pledged bank deposits
Withdrawal of pledged bank deposits
Placement of restricted bank balances
Proceeds from disposal of property,
plant and equipment
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss
Net cash outflow on disposal of subsidiaries
Withdrawal of restricted bank balances
Interest received
Loan to a related party
Repayment from a related party

NET CASH FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Loans from related companies

Repayment of loan from a related company
Proceeds from bank and other borrowings
Repayment of bank and other borrowings
Repayment of bonds payable

Issuance of perpetual bonds

Repayment of lease liabilities

Interest paid

Repayment on perpetual bonds

NET CASH USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES

NET DECREASE IN CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT
BEGINNING OF THE YEAR

EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE
RATE CHANGES

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END
OF THE YEAR, represented by bank
balances and cash

BREES
RiBsET AR TERE
TREE
EFCHEMRITER

RIS ERRITFR
EFXRBIRITAER
HEME - BEMREMER

HERQFHEFABRRED

T REEMSHIA
HEMB AR RSN HFER
TR R BIR 1T A5 85
RGNS

A — & BB 7 B

KA BB 2 ER

BRERDASREFRE

BMERD

=Nl NI =S
EEREREBARNER
RIT R EAE KA TR
BIEIRTT R EAEFK

TITKAERE
EEMERE

2R FE

EiEKAEE

.

.

BMEEBTAREFE

Re MR FEMRFE

FONREMREFEY

SN [ R A By s 22

FRESMREEEY
HIRTTHEB LIRS

TRANSMIT ENTERTAINMENT LIMITED Annual Report 2023/24

s}

2024

20245
HK$'000
BT T

(2,702)
24,295
(23,344)

12,704

23,325
259

34,537

22,766

(1,181)

29,856
(74,911)

9,800
(74,558)
(4,515)

(92,743)

(25,262)

85,108

(858)

58,988

2023

20234
HK$'000
ST T

(8,850)
(53,477)
77,674

(9,225)

274

843
(1,925)
11,944
997
(420)
3,120

20,955

48,996
(3,696)
73,451
(78,289)
(14,500)
950
(89,978)
(12,165)
(17,500)

(92,731)

(12,413)

103,462

(5,941)

85,108



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A

B M HRRM T

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% 2024F6 A308 [FF[E

GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company is a limited company incorporated in the Cayman
Islands and its shares are listed on the Stock Exchange. The
Company’s registered office is located at Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111,
Cayman lIslands and its principal place of business is located
at Flat B, 14/F, Neich Tower, 128 Gloucester Road, Wanchai,
Hong Kong. Its immediate and ultimate holding company is
Nice Rich Group Limited, a company incorporated in the British
Virgin Islands (the “BVI"). Its ultimate controlling shareholder
is Mr. Zhang, who is also the Chairman and an executive
director of the Company.

The Company is an investment holding company and the
principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 37.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollar (“HK$"), which is also the Company's functional
currency.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire BRI

For the year ended 30 June 2024 #;%20244F6 A30H [LF/E

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
new and amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA")
for the first time, which are mandatorily effective for the
current year for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements:

HKFRS 17 (including the Insurance Contracts
October 2020 and
February 2022 Amendments
to HKFRS 17)

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting
Estimates

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from a
Single Transaction

Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax Reform —
Pillar Two Model Rules
Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting
and HKFRS Practice Policies

Statement 2

Except as described below, the application of the new
and amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had
no material impact on the Group's financial positions and
performance for the current and prior years and/or on the
disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB BT R I RE

For the year ended 30 June 2024 #;%20244F6 A30H [LF/E

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2.

TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to
HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and

Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in
the current year. The amendments narrow the scope of the
recognition exemption of deferred tax liabilities and deferred
tax assets in paragraphs 15 and 24 of HKAS 12 /ncome
Taxes so that it no longer applies to transactions that, on
initial recognition, give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences.

In accordance with the transition provision:

(i)  the Group has applied the new accounting policy
retrospectively to leasing transactions that occurred on or
after 1 July 2022;

(i)  the Group also, as at 1 July 2022, recognised a deferred
tax asset (to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary difference can be utilised) and a deferred
tax liability for all deductible and taxable temporary
difference associated with right-of-use-assets and lease
liabilities.

The application of the amendments has had no material impact
on the Group’s financial position and performance, except
that the Group discloses the related deferred tax assets of
HK$19,131,000 and deferred tax liabilities of HK$19,131,000
on a gross basis in note 29 but it has no impact on the
accumulated losses at the earliest period presented.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continued)

Impacts on application of Amendments to
HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Statement 2

Disclosure of Accounting Policies

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in
the current year. HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements
is amended to replace all instances of the term “significant
accounting policies” with “material accounting policy
information”. Accounting policy information is material if,
when considered together with other information included in
an entity’s financial statements, it can reasonably be expected
to influence decisions that the primary users of general
purpose financial statements make on the basis of those
financial statements.

The amendments also clarify that accounting policy
information may be material because of the nature of the
related transactions, other events or conditions, even if the
amounts are immaterial. However, not all accounting policy
information relating to material transactions, other events or
conditions is itself material. If an entity chooses to disclose
immaterial accounting policy information, such information
must not obscure material accounting policy information.

HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements
(the “Practice Statement”) is also amended to illustrate
how an entity applies the “four-step materiality process”
to accounting policy disclosures and to judge whether
information about an accounting policy is material to its
financial statements. Guidance and examples are added to the
Practice Statement.

The application of the amendments has had no material impact
on the Group's financial positions and performance but has
affected the disclosure of the Group’s accounting policies set
out in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB BT R I RE

For the year ended 30 June 2024 #;%20244F6 A30H [LF/E
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire BRI

For the year ended 30 June 2024 #;%20244F6 A30H [LF/E

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continued)

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet

effective:

Amendments to HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 7
and HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKAS 21

Amendments to HKFRS 9

and HKFRS 7

HKFRS 18

Lease liability in a sale and
leaseback’

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and
related amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)’

Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants'

Supplier Finance Arrangements’

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture?

Lack of Exchangeability®

Amendments to the
Classification and
Measurement of Financial
Instruments*

Presentation and Disclosure in
Financial Statements®

2.

FER#HE REIETE B &
HEA(EBYEREE
Al ]) ()

REE W EMIT R EAIATEEME R R
EMEHEI MBI BBV B REE
Al :

EENBREEDN  ERARNREEARE

E16% (EFTA)

EREHENE 1R HBEBEARYIERD

CHES) REERESLH
HBEERT (2020 )1

ERESHENE 1S  MSREZERPAR

CHEN)

BRQERETRL HERRELH

BERBREER

EVEACCHES)

EEUEREEDN  REFHEEBLNRK

FI0RRELET AELRIANEE

ERE28H(EFTA) HEHTE?
BAEGT RS2SR BREA iR
CHES)

BEEAMBREER BEIANSERE
B RBEBIE eI

W ERE TR

CHEN)

EARBREEN  HBHRROZIREE
£1885%

BIRIREBR AT 2023/24 F#

143



144

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iRe WIS

For the year ended 30 June 2024 #;%20244F6 A30H [LF/E

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue
but not yet effective (continued)

i Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2024.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined.

g Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2025.

& Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2026.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2027.

The Directors anticipate that the application of the above new
and amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact
on the consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable
future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB BT R I RE

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% 2024F6 A308 [FF[E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. REGAMBREMNEER
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL BEASHBEER
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with HKFRSs issued by
the HKICPA. For the purpose of preparation of the
consolidated financial statements, information is
considered material if such information is reasonably
expected to influence decisions made by primary users.
In addition, the consolidated financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (“Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

As at 30 June 2024, the Group had net current liabilities
of HK$140,876,000 and net liabilities of HK$185,098,000.
The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) are of
the opinion that, after taking into account, among other
things, the financial resources available to the Group
including the future cash flows to be generated from the
Television(“TV") series production and distribution, and
loan facilities granted by a related company amounting
to RMB186,000,000 (equivalent to HK$199,020,000).
The Directors are satisfied that the Group will have
sufficient working capital to meet its financial obligations
and commitments as and when they fall due within
the next twelve months from the end of the reporting
period. Accordingly, the Directors are satisfied that
it is appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial
statements of the Group on a going concern basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB BT R I RE

For the year ended 30 June 2024 #;%20244F6 A30H [LF/E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. REGAMBREMNEER
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL BEARSHBEER @)
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is
achieved when the Company:

o has power over the investee;

o is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

° has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of
control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when
the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically,
income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or
disposed of during the year are included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control
the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive
income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the
Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this
results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB BT R I RE

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% 2024F6 A308 [FF[E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. REGAMBREMNEER
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL BEARSHBEER @)
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies into line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein, which
represent present ownership interests entitling their
holders to a proportionate share of net assets of the
relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets
and liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling
interests (if any) are derecognised. A gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss and is calculated as the
difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value
of the consideration received and the fair value of any
retained interest and (ii) the carrying amount of the
assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary
attributable to the owners of the Company. All amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income
in relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as if
the Group had directly disposed of the related assets
or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit
or loss or transferred to another category of equity as
specified/permitted by applicable HKFRSs).
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at
cost as established at the date of acquisition of the business
less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated
to each of the Group’s cash-generating units (or group of cash-
generating units) that is expected to benefit from the synergies
of the combination, which represent the lowest level at which
the goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes
and not larger than an operating segment.

A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to
which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
annually or more frequently when there is indication that the
unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition
in a reporting period, the cash-generating unit (or group of
cash-generating units) to which goodwill has been allocated is
tested for impairment before the end of that reporting period.
If the recoverable amount is less than its carrying amount, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis
based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit (or
group of cash-generating units).

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit or any of
the cash-generating unit within the group of cash-generating
units, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the
determination of the amount of profit or loss on disposal.
When the Group disposes of an operation within the cash-
generating unit (or a cash-generating unit within a group of
cash-generating units), the amount of goodwill disposed of is
measured on the basis of the relative values of the operation
(or the cash-generating unit) disposed of and the portion of the
cash-generating unit (or the group of cash-generating units)
retained.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB BT R I RE

For the year ended 30 June 2024 #;%20244F6 A30H [LF/E

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

Information about the Group's accounting policies relating to
contracts with customers is provided in note 5.

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date
of initial application or arising from business combinations,
the Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a
lease based on the definition under HKFRS 16 Leases at
inception, modification date or acquisition date, as appropriate.
Such contract will not be reassessed unless the terms and
conditions of the contract are subsequently changed.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB BT R I RE

For the year ended 30 June 2024 #;%20244F6 A30H [LF/E

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or
more additional lease or non-lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of
the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of
the non-lease components. The Group also applies practical
expedient not to separate non-lease components from lease
component, and instead account for the lease component
and any associated non-lease components as a single lease
component.

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
to leases of office premises that have a lease term of 12
months or less from the commencement date and do not
contain a purchase option. Lease payments on short-term
leases are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis over
the lease term.

Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use assets includes:

° the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives received,
and

o any initial direct costs incurred by the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB BT R I RE

For the year ended 30 June 2024 #;%20244F6 A30H [LF/E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. REGAMBREMNEER

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Right-of-use assets (Continued)

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted
for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis
over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line item
on the consolidated statement of financial position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS 9
and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at
initial recognition are considered as additional lease payments
and included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises
and measures the lease liability at the present value of
lease payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating
the present value of lease payments, the Group uses the
incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable.

The lease payments include:

o fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments)
less any lease incentives receivable; and

° payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exercising an option to terminate
the lease.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB BT R I RE

For the year ended 30 June 2024 #;%20244F6 A30H [LF/E

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease liabilities (Continued)

Variable lease payments that reflect changes in market rental
rates are initially measured using the market rental rates as
at the commencement date. Variable lease payments that
do not depend on an index or a rate are not included in the
measurement of lease liabilities and right-of-use assets, and
are recognised as expense in the period in which the event or
condition that triggers the payment occurs.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by
interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use assets)
whenever:

o the lease term has changed or there is a change in
the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in
which case the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the date of reassessment.

o the lease payments change due to changes in market
rental rates following a market rent review in which cases
the related lease liability is remeasured by discounting
the revised lease payments using the initial discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on
the consolidated statement of financial position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB BT R I RE

For the year ended 30 June 2024 #;%20244F6 A30H [LF/E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. REGAMBREMNEER

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease modifications

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate
lease if:

o the modification increases the scope of the lease by
adding the right to use one or more underlying assets;
and

° the consideration for the leases increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the
increase in scope and any appropriate adjustments to
that stand-alone price to reflect the circumstances of the
particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate
lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability based on the
lease term of the modified lease by discounting the revised
lease payments using a revised discount rate at the effective
date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities
by making corresponding adjustments to the relevant right-
of-use assets. When the modified contract contains a lease
component and one or more additional lease or non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in the
modified contract to each lease component on the basis of
the relative stand-alone price of the lease component and the
aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised
at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the
transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary
items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of
the Group (i.e. HK$) using exchange rates prevailing at the
end of each reporting period. Income and expenses items
are translated at the average exchange rates for the period.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the
heading of exchange reserve (attributed to non-controlling
interests as appropriate).

On disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal of the
Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal
involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a
foreign operation, or a partial disposal of an interest in a joint
arrangement or an associate that includes a foreign operation
of which the retained interest becomes a financial asset), all of
the exchange differences accumulated in equity in respect of
that operation attributable to the owners of the Company are
reclassified to profit or loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets
acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation are
treated as assets and liabilities of that foreign operation and
translated at the rate of exchange prevailing at the end of each
reporting period. Exchange differences arising are recognised
in other comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB BT R I RE

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% 2024F6 A308 [FF[E

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they are incurred.

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants related to income that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for
the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group
with no future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they become receivable. Such grants are
presented under “other income”.

Payments to state-managed retirement benefit scheme and
the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF Scheme”) are
recognised as an expense when employees have rendered
service entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid
as and when employees rendered the services. All short-
term employee benefits are recognised as an expense unless
another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit
in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages and salaries and annual leave) after deducting
any amount already paid.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from loss before tax because of income
or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and
items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability
for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for
all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in
a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill.
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For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% 2024F6 A308 [FF[E

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries
except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary differences and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred
tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments are only recognised to
the extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient
taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the
temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period,
to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and
liabilities.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-
use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to the
right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS
12 Income Taxes requirements to the lease liabilities and the
related assets separately. The Group recognises a deferred tax
asset related to lease liabilities to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary difference can be utilised and a deferred tax liability
for all taxable temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income
taxes levied to the same taxable entity by the same taxation
authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB BT R I RE

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% 2024F6 A308 [FF[E

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets
less their residual values over their estimated useful lives,
using the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives,
residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the
end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss
arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property,
plant and equipment is determined as the difference between
the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is
recognised in profit or loss.

Film rights are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation
and accumulated impairment losses (if any). The Group
amortises costs of film rights in the same ratio that current
period revenue (numerator) bears to estimated total projected
revenue (denominator). The Group begins amortisation of the
capitalised costs of film rights when a film is released and it
begins to recognise revenue from that film.

TV series production in progress is stated at cost less any
provision for impairment losses. Cost includes all costs
associated with the production of TV series including
remuneration for the TV series director, casts and production
crew, costumes, insurance, makeup and hairdressing as
well as rental of camera and lighting equipment. TV series
production in progress will be recognised as cost of sales
when completed variety shows and TV series program were
released and distributed to TV broadcast networks or the TV
series productions in progress were sold to the customers.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
are recognised separately from goodwill and are initially
recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date (which is
regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired
in a business combination with finite useful lives are reported
at costs less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment losses, on the same basis as intangible assets that
are acquired separately.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no
future economic benefits are expected from use or disposal.
Gains and losses arising from derecognition of an intangible
asset, measured as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are recognised
in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB BT R I RE

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% 2024F6 A308 [FF[E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. REGAMBREMNEER

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets and intangible assets with finite useful lives to
determine whether there is any indication that those assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists,
the recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated in
order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any).

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and intangible assets are estimated
individually. When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable
amount of an asset individually, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the
asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporate
assets are allocated to the relevant cash-generating unit
when a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be
established, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest
group of cash generating units for which a reasonable and
consistent allocation basis can be established. The recoverable
amount is determined for the cash-generating unit or group of
cash-generating units to which the corporate asset belongs,
and is compared with the carrying amount of the relevant cash-
generating unit or group of cash-generating units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset (or a cash-generating unit) for which the estimates
of future cash flows have not been adjusted.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
reduced to its recoverable amount. For corporate assets or
portion of corporate assets which cannot be allocated on a
reasonable and consistent basis to a cash generating unit,
the Group compares the carrying amount of a group of cash-
generating units, including the carrying amounts of the
corporate assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to
that group of cash-generating units, with the recoverable
amount of the group of cash-generating units. In allocating
the impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated first
to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable)
and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on
the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the group
of cash-generating units. The carrying amount of an asset is
not reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs of
disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and
zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would otherwise
have been allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the
other assets of the unit or the group of cash-generating units.
An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit or a group of
cash-generating units) is increased to the revised estimate
of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset (or a cash-generating unit or a group of cash-
generating units) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment
loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB BT R I RE

For the year ended 30 June 2024 #;%20244F6 A30H [LF/E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

Cash and cash equivalents presented on the consolidated
statement of financial position include:

(a)

cash, which comprises of cash on hand and demand
deposits, excluding bank balances that are subject to
regulatory restrictions that result in such balances no
longer meeting the definition of cash; and

cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term
(generally with original maturity of three months or less),
highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to
a known amount of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value. Cash equivalents
are held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash
commitments rather than for investment or other
purposes.

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents
as defined above.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial
assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of
financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time
frame established by regulation or convention in the market
place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers which are initially measured in accordance
with HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers.
Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
(other than financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss (“FVTPL")) are added to or deducted
from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities,
as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial
liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense over
the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and
payments (including all fees and points paid or received that
form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction
costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected
life of the financial asset or financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on
initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire BRI

For the year ended 30 June 2024 #;%20244F6 A30H [LF/E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

o the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets of the Group are subsequently
measured at FVTPL.

()  Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying
the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the
financial asset from the next reporting period. If the
credit risk on the credit-impaired financial instrument
improves so that the financial asset is no longer credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of the
financial asset from the beginning of the reporting period
following the determination that the asset is no longer
credit impaired.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

(Continued)

(i) Financial assets at FVTPL
Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or at fair value through other
comprehensive income or designated as at fair value
through other comprehensive income are measured at
FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at
the end of each reporting period, with any fair value gains
or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or
loss recognised in profit or loss excludes any dividend or
interest earned on the financial asset and is included in
the “other gains and losses” line item.

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group performs assessment under expected credit loss
("ECL") model on financial assets at amortised cost (including
trade and other receivables (excluding investment in film and
TV series producers at FVTPL), rental deposits, restricted bank
balances, pledged bank deposits and bank balances), which
are subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9. The
amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect
changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of the relevant
instrument. In contrast, 12-month expected credit loss (“12m
ECL") represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected
to result from default events that are possible within 12
months after the reporting date. Assessments are done based
on the Group's historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic
conditions and an assessment of both the current conditions at
the reporting date as well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables. The ECL on these assets are assessed individually
for debtors with significant balances and/or collectively using a
provision matrix with appropriate groupings.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire BRI

For the year ended 30 June 2024 #;%20244F6 A30H [LF/E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
in which case the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised
is based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a
default occurring since initial recognition.

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

° significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in
the credit spread, the credit default swap prices for
the debtor;

° existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor's
ability to meet its debt obligations;

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB BT R I RE

For the year ended 30 June 2024 #;%20244F6 A30H [LF/E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

o an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor's ability to meet
its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the
credit risk on a debt instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the debt
instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the
reporting date. A debt instrument is determined to have
low credit risk if (i) it has a low risk of default, (ii) the
borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual
cash flow obligations in the near term and (iii) adverse
changes in economic and business conditions in the
longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the
ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow
obligations. The Group considers a debt instrument to
have low credit risk when it has an internal or external
credit rating of “investment grade” as per globally
understood definitions.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 30 June 2024 #;%20244F6 A30H [LF/E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers
an event of default occurs when information developed
internally or obtained from external sources indicates that
the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more than
90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
observable data about the following events:

o significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

° a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

o the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower
a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not
otherwise consider; or

o it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 30 June 2024 #;%20244F6 A30H [LF/E

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(iv)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect
of recovery, for example, when the counterparty has
been placed under liguidation or has entered into
bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets written off
may still be subject to enforcement activities under
the Group's recovery procedures, taking into account
legal advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes
a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are
recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default.
The assessment of the probability of default and loss
given default is based on historical data adjusted by
forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects
an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is
determined with the respective risks of default occurring
as the weights. The Group uses a practical expedient in
estimating ECL on trade receivables using a provision
matrix taking into consideration historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for forward looking information that
is available without undue cost or effort.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective
interest rate determined at initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire BRI

For the year ended 30 June 2024 #;%20244F6 A30H [LF/E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to

impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)
For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

° Past-due status;
o Nature, size and industry of debtors; and
° External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to
ensure the constituents of each group continue to share
similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset
is credit impaired, in which case interest income is
calculated based on amortised cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in
profit or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting
their carrying amount, with the exception of trade and
other receivables where the corresponding adjustment is
recognised through a loss allowance account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset's carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB BT R I RE

For the year ended 30 June 2024 #;%20244F6 A30H [LF/E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. GREGABMEREINEER

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are
classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance
with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Perpetual instruments, which include no contractual obligation
for the Group to deliver cash or other financial assets or the
Group has the sole discretion to defer payment of distribution
and redemption of principal amount indefinitely are classified
as equity instruments.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities (including trade and other payables
(excluding investment funds from investors at FVTPL), loans
from related companies and bank and other borrowings) are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB BT R I RE

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% 2024F6 A308 [FF[E

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. REGAMBREMNEER

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)

Financial liability at FVTPL

Financial liability is classified as at FVTPL when the financial
liability is contingent consideration of an acquirer in a business
combination to which HKFRS 3 Business Combinations applies
or it is designated as at FVTPL.

A financial liability other than a financial liability held for trading
or contingent consideration of an acquirer in a business
combination may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial
recognition if:

° such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a
measurement or recognition inconsistency that would
otherwise arise; or

° the financial liability forms part of a group of financial
assets or financial liabilities or both, which is managed
and its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis,
in accordance with the Group’s documented risk
management or investment strategy, and information
about the grouping is provided internally on that basis; or

o it forms part of a contract containing one or more
embedded derivatives, and HKFRS 9 permits the entire
combined contract to be designated as at FVTPL.

For financial liabilities that are designated as at FVTPL, the
amount of change in the fair value of the financial liability
that is attributable to changes in the credit risk of that liability
is recognised in other comprehensive income, unless the
recognition of the effects of changes in the liability’s credit
risk in other comprehensive income would create or enlarge
an accounting mismatch in profit or loss. For financial liabilities
that contain embedded derivatives, the changes in fair value
of the embedded derivatives are excluded in determining
the amount to be presented in other comprehensive income.
Changes in fair value attributable to a financial liability's credit
risk that are recognised in other comprehensive income are
not subsequently reclassified to profit or loss; instead, they are
transferred to accumulated losses upon derecognition of the
financial liability.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)
Derecognition/modification of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group's obligations are discharged, cancelled
or have expired. When equity instruments are issued to a
creditor to extinguish all or part of a financial liability, the
equity instruments issued are recognised initially at fair
value at the date the financial liability (or part of that liability)
is extinguished, unless that fair value cannot be reliably
measured. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and
payable is recognised in profit or loss.

When the contractual terms of a financial liability are modified,
the Group assesses whether the revised terms result in a
substantial modification from original terms taking into account
all relevant facts and circumstances including qualitative
factors. If qualitative assessment is not conclusive, the Group
considers that the terms are substantially different if the
discounted present value of the cash flows under the new
terms, including any fees paid net of any fees received, and
discounted using the original effective interest rate, is at
least 10 per cent different from the discounted present value
of the remaining cash flows of the original financial liability.
Accordingly, such modification of terms is accounted for as an
extinguishment, any costs or fees incurred are recognised as
part of the gain or loss on the extinguishment. The exchange
or modification is considered as non-substantial modification
when such difference is less than 10 per cent.

For non-substantial modifications of financial liabilities that
do not result in derecognition, the carrying amount of the
relevant financial liabilities will be calculated at the present
value of the modified contractual cash flows discounted at the
financial liabilities" original effective interest rate. Transaction
costs or fees incurred are adjusted to the carrying amount of
the modified financial liabilities and are amortised over the
remaining term. Any adjustment to the carrying amount of the
financial liability is recognised in profit or loss at the date of
modification.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

.

4= H

B MR MR

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% 2024F6 A308 [FF[E

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group's accounting policies,
which are described in note 3, the Directors are required
to make judgments, estimates and assumptions about the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and other
factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and
future periods.

The followings are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period, that may have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets
within the next financial year.

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an
estimation of the recoverable amounts of the cash-generating
units to which goodwill has been allocated, which is the higher
of the value in use or fair value less costs of disposal. The value
in use calculation requires the Group to estimate the future
cash flows expected to arise from the cash-generating unit and
a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value.
Where the actual future cash flows are less than expected,
or changes in facts and circumstances which results in
downward revision of future cash flows, a further impairment
loss may arise. As at 30 June 2024, the carrying amount
of goodwill is HK$19,658,000 (2023: HK$245,725,000).
Impairment loss amounting to HK$223,792,000 has been
recognised on goodwill for the year ended 30 June 2024
(2023: HK$117,802,000). Details of the recoverable amount
calculation are disclosed in note 15.
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

(Continued)

Trade receivables are assessed for ECL individually or on a
collective basis. The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in
estimate. The information about the ECL and the Group’s trade
receivables are disclosed in note 32b. The carrying amount
of trade receivable as at 30 June 2024 is HK$53,382,000
(2023: HK$30,613,000), net of an allowance for credit losses
of HK$1,011,000 (2023: HK$1,109,000). Details are set out in
note 18.

Determining whether intangible assets, the six-year agency
contract associated with an artiste, are impaired require an
estimation of the value in use of calculation. The value in use
calculation requires the Group to estimate the cash flows
projection expected to arise from the relevant cash-generating
unit to which the intangible assets belongs and a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value. The
estimation of the budgeted sales and budgeted costs is based
on past performance of the relevant cash-generating unit and
management’s expectations for the market development as
well as the existing performance contracts entered or to be
entered by the artiste. Where the actual future cash flows are
less than expected, or changes in facts and circumstances
which results in downward revision of future cash flows,
a material impairment loss may arise. As at 30 June 2024,
the carrying amount of intangible assets is HK$1,293,000
(2023: HK$48,840,000). Impairment loss amounting to
HK$32,841,000 has been recognised on intangible assets for
the year ended 30 June 2024 (2023: Nil). Details are disclosed
in note 16.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iRe WIS

For the year ended 30 June 2024 #;%20244F6 A30H [LF/E

5. REVENUE

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts
with customers

5.

Wy

DIHFRERTFSINWE

2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
TV series production and distribution ERBIRME

income REETIA 186,039 24,241
Film exhibition income BRI YA 55,922 71,604
Pan entertainment income T IREEI A 50,642 70,584
Total 4EET 292,603 166,429

Timing of revenue recognition TR U 25 R
At a point in time 2 5 {[E P R 2h 274,775 109,485
Over time — BRI 17,828 56,944
Total st 292,603 166,429

The contracts for sales of goods and provision of services to
external customers are short-term.

Performance obligations for contracts with
customers and revenue recognition policies

a. TV series production and distribution
i Income from the distribution of variety shows
and TV series program is recognised when variety
shows and TV series program have been released
and distributed to TV broadcast networks or the TV
series productions in progress have been sold to
the customers.

ii. Income from scriptwriters and directors service on
TV series production is recognised over time as
performance obligation is satisfied.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire BRI

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% 2024F6 A308 [FF[E

5. REVENUE (Continued)

b. Film exhibition
i Income from box office takings for film exhibition is
recognised upon the sale of tickets and when the
film is released.

ii. Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when
the goods are delivered and titles have passed.

c. Pan entertainment
Income from pan entertainment services including
celebrity agency service and actor service. Income
from celebrity agency service is recognised at a point
of time when the services are delivered. Income from
actor service is recognised over time as performance
obligation is satisfied.

All performance obligations for TV series production and
distribution, film exhibition and pan entertainment are for
periods of one year or less. As permitted under HKFRS 15, the
transaction price allocated to these unsatisfied contracts is not
disclosed.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the executive directors of the
Company, being the chief operating decision maker (the
“CODM?"), for the purposes of resources allocation and
assessment of segment performance is based on the following
operating and reportable segments identified under HKFRS 8
Operating Segments.

(i) TV series production and distribution;
(i) Film exhibition; and

(i) Pan entertainment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE MR M R

For the year ended 30 June 2024 #;%20244F6 A30H [LF/E

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. DEHER @

The accounting policies of the operating and reportable ERAERD IO SEHBREALEE
segments are the same as the Group's accounting policies EW?BFﬁLE’J TR HER o o EB (&S
described in note 3. Segment (loss) profit represents the profit 18) i ) #8 % 5 30 BT Bk B A 0 | s EE AE
earned or loss incurred by each segment without allocation HY &4 ﬁﬁﬁﬁg,ﬁilj—ﬂg‘ﬂgjéﬁzﬁ S
of head office and corporate expenses, certain finance costs, BENTERST  BETRERAKN - BN
fair value change on contingent consideration payable, fair HFARBZ AT EES O ERAEIRE
value change on purchased call option, impairment losses ANEEEE  BmEREEEERRTE
recognised on goodwill and gain on disposal of subsidiaries. ME AT E o LTI s E RS BL kKR
This is the measure reported to the CODM for the purposes of SR EBEZEARAREZRO S -

resources allocation and performance assessment.

The following is an analysis of the Group's revenue and results AT AREE R 2H O E D HAE
by operating and reportable segments. B Uz RERB DT
For the year ended 30 June 2024 EZE202456A30RILFE
TV series
production and Film Pan
distribution exhibition entertainment Total
ERAIRER
BT EXHM 53-8 @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BRI BB BRI RETT

Segment revenue SEW =

- External customers - BEP 186,039 55,922 50,642 292,603
Segment (loss) profit DER(EER)EAM (134,460) 58,927 (40,186) (115,719)
Head office and corporate expenses BHELRTERY (16,635)
Fair value change on contingent ENSARBHATLEEE

consideration payable (5,823)
Unallocated finance costs AOBERVERK AR (11,016)
Impairment losses recognised on goodwill — F & {EEEHER (223,792)
Loss before tax BRAER (372,985)
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

For the year ended 30 June 2023

Segment revenue
- External customers

Segment (loss) profit

Head office and corporate expenses

Fair value change on contingent
consideration payable

Unallocated finance costs

Fair value change on purchased call option

Impairment losses recognised on goodwill

Gain on disposal of subsidiaries

Loss before tax

nERE
—SMEF

A (BR)EN

BEREERAX
ERNZRRENATES

RHRRRRA
EEARBRATES
BRAEERET
R EATS

BB R

TV series
production and
distribution
EREISER
7

HK$'000
BETT

24,241

(38,296

As the Group’s segment assets and liabilities are not regularly
provided to the CODM, the relevant analysis for both years is

not presented.
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For the year ended 30 June 2024 #;%20244F6 A30H [LF/E

BE2023F6A30H L FE
Film Pan
exhibition  entertainment Total
E3- 25U WRE b
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

AT BRI BT

71,604 70,584 166,429

(1,565) 7,865 (31,996)

(29,183)

(8,538)
(11,018)
(3,423)
(117,802)
14,180

(187,780)
ARARERN S HEERREILIETH

RETFTEERLERRE  HOEZIIM
EFENBBOMN -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB BT R I RE

For the year ended 30 June 2024 #;%20244F6 A30H [LF/E

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. DHER @
Other segment information Hihn HER
For the year ended 30 June 2024 B ZE2024F6B30HILEE
TV series
production
and Film Pan Segment
distribution exhibition entertainment total Unallocated Total
ERA
BERRT EXHM RIRE DEEG OB H

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ERTR BRTR AR BRI ERTR ERTR

Amounts included in the ~ HESHERE
measure of segment FrafEnesE:

profit or loss:

Amortisation of intangible ayaEmE

assets - - (14,695) (14,695) = (14,695)
Depreciation of right-of-use ~ FREEERE

assets (1160)  (52,89) (782)  (54,838) (488)  (55:326)
Depreciation of property, nE - BERRERE

plant and equipment (135) (1) (355) (501) (8) (509)
Interest income MEKA 16 1,276 228 1,520 297 1,817
Finance costs BEKAK (147) (2,832) (94) (3,073) (11,016) (14,089)
Impairment losses recognised 2 5 Jt &t el 08

on trade and other HEEERD

receivables (214) = = (214) - (214)
Impairment losses recognised B8 EIEER(E

on TV series production BERER (24,867) - = (24,867) - (24,867)
Impairment losses recognised & EERE

on intangible assets BEER - - (32,841) (32,841) - (32,841)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB BT R I RE

For the year ended 30 June 2024 #;%20244F6 A30H [LF/E

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. oEER W@
For the year ended 30 June 2023 B E2023F6H30HILEE
TV series
production
and Film Pan Segment

distribution exhibition entertainment total  Unallocated Total
ERE

BER BT BE M IR DEEET RAR &5t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BETT BET T BET T BT BT
Amounts included in the B BEZEE
measure of segment FrafEnesE:

profit or loss:

Amortisation of intangible ayaEmE

assets - - (17,876) (17,876) - (17,876)
Depreciation of right-of-use ~ FREEENE

assets (1,106) (52,896) (811) (54,813) (491) (55,304)
Depreciation of property, 0% BELRETE

plant and equipment (189) (102) (425) (716) (18) (734)
Interest income FlEA 44 1,232 482 1,758 280 2,038
Finance costs BERA (182) (7,260) (130) (7,572) (11,018) (18,590)
Impairment losses reversed on & 5 [ £ {th E Uz B &)

trade and other receivables  [HEEBEE 2,361 - - 2,361 - 2,361
Impairment losses recognised SR ZIEERE

on TV series production BB (12,722) - - (12,722) - (12,722)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iRe WIS

For the year ended 30 June 2024 #;%20244F6 A30H [LF/E

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Geographical information

An analysis of the Group's revenue from external customers by
geographical market based on where the TV series production
and distribution income, film exhibition income and pan
entertainment income is derived from are as below:

2 EE B @)
ih & & R

AEERBINBEEHKSIEIMEESR

BIRERBEITIRA

PR YA B

W IREEW A FTFE M8 T 35 81 20 80 3 4T 40

T
2024 2023
2024%F 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BEET T
Hong Kong B 55,922 71,604
Mainland, the People’s Republic of China & A REFME ([FE ) Ay
(the "PRC") 236,681 94,825
292,603 166,429

The Group’s non-current assets (excluded financial assets) by
geographical location of the assets are detailed below:

AEEREEMEHRESNIERDE
E(TBREBMEE)FIOT

2024 2023

20245 20234

HK$°000 HK$'000

BET T BEET T

Hong Kong BB 5,214 57,643
Mainland, the PRC Fh ] (A 3D 25,342 301,947
30,556 359,590

Information about major customers

Revenue from customers of the corresponding year

BREEEFFHER

HEFERm B REARE AW ER

contributing over 10% of the total revenue of the Group are as 10%MZFIT
follows:

2024 2023
20245 2023%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETIT
Customer A’ = SR 9,854 17,448
Customer B’ BE/0 84,717 1,109

L Revenue from TV series production and distribution.

T REBRA R RBTOME -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

=
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B H5 R B ot

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% 2024F6 A308 [FF[E

7. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES AND OTHER 7.
INCOME

N

Other gains and losses

Gain on disposal of subsidiaries (note 38)
Gain (loss) on disposal of property,
plant and equipment and right-of-use

assets
Donation

Gain on modification of financial liabilities
Gain from deregistration of a subsidiary
Reversal of additional value added tax

input deduction
Net foreign exchange losses
Provision for arbitration (note 32b)

Other income

Cinema operation right income (note ii)

Handling service income
Interest income

Government subsidy received (note i)
Coupon sales income from film producers

Cinema promotion income

Additional value added tax input deduction

Others (note iii)

otes:

Hip s REE
55 B B8 2 B ks (B RE38)
HEME - BEM&E
AR e REEE
W (BR)
B
CHEHEN 6
I BB AR W
BHMBE T TN 3 =

[E B RFR
R 8 (B 5£32b)

Hablg A

B = YN =)

FRIE AR U A

F B UA
BB R (B RED
RABFEEANERHEE
A

BRHERERA
AN BT T A0

H b (B Eii)

Amounts mainly represent subsidies granted by certain local
governments for encouraging domestic business development
and are recognised upon receipt. There are no unfulfilled
conditions or contingencies relating to these subsidies.

Cinema operation right income represents income arising from
a management agreement, as novated and supplemented by
a supplemental agreement entered into among the Company,
Cinema City (WL) Limited and Mandarin Motion Pictures
Limited (“MMP"), a connected party controlled by a director of
Cinema City (Langham Place) Limited (“CCLP"), in relation to
management of cinema operation of Langham Place Cinema for
the period from the date of 26 May 2021 to 25 May 2024. Upon
expiration of cinema management agreement on 25 May 2024
till the termination date of the Lease (as defined in note 18 to the
consolidated financial statements) on 22 July 2024, the cinema

operation has been managed by CCLP.

Others included HK$ 58,151,000 (2023: nil) which represents

reversal of other payables upon expiration of cinema
management agreement on 25 May 2024 as mentioned in note

(i) agreed between CCLP and MMP.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB BT R I RE

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% 2024F6 A308 [FF[E

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of Cayman Islands, the
Company is not subject to any income tax in Cayman Islands
for both years.

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council
passed The Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017
(the “Bill") which introduces the two-tiered profits tax rates
regime. The Bill was signed into law on 28 March 2018 and
was gazetted on the following day. Under the two-tiered
profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2,000,000 of profits of
the qualifying group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits
above HK$2,000,000 will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of
group entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates
regime will continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

8. FINANCE COSTS 8. BERA
2024 2023
202445 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BETIT
Interest expenses on: BUATEBZMERE
Loans from related companies KEBBMATINER 4,339 3,220
Lease liabilities HEGE 3,098 7,613
Bank and other borrowings IR1T R H A fE K 6,652 7,241
Bonds payable JERHES - 516
14,089 18,590
INCOME TAX CREDIT rEeHiER
2024 2023
202445 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T ST T
Current tax: BVEAFRIE -
PRC Enterprise Income Tax ("EIT") RIS
([EMFRD 768 2,193
Deferred tax (note 29) EIEREIE (FI5E29) (11,884) (4,469)
(11,116) (2,276)

RERASEHSHRARBRG - KRBRH
BFEHBARNEMFSESHEN

MR2018F3F21H » BAELLERB
C2017F 8B (B5]) (BT KRHIER)
([F7ZEFR]) - BRI AFES ARG -
ZEEMN2018F3 28R KL EENX A
FE o UYRZ2AETRTE - BREF
BEHMAH  cEKEEEREAK
2,000,000 7T % FI &I &1 % £8.25% + 1M
#8388 2,000,000 7T B9 34 A B9 B R A
16.5% ° NEEFBHMRAGIHERE
BE VR R IE 1R 16.5% 2 8l — T R
W HTE o
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INCOME TAX CREDIT (continued)

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the
"EIT Law") and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law,
the statutory tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% for both
years.

As stipulated in Cai Shui [2021] No. [27], enterprises newly
established in Khorgas special economic areas and engaged
in the encouraged industries as defined under the {Fria®
R ENRERREECEMSHERE ) (Catalogue of
Key Encouraged Developing Industries for Enterprise Income
Tax Benefits in Difficult Areas of Xinjiang*) could enjoy EIT
exemption for five years starting from its first operation
income-generating year during the period from 2021 to 2030.
According to (TS FHEBEFIEHZKX) (Enterprise Income
Tax Benefits Record*), one subsidiary of the Group obtained
the approval from the relevant PRC tax bureau on 23 June
2017 for entitlement of EIT exemption from 1 January 2017
to 31 December 2021. In July 2020, another subsidiary of
the Group obtained the approval from the relevant PRC tax
bureau for entitlement of EIT exemption from 1 January 2020
to 31 December 2024. As stipulated in Xin Zheng Fa [2012]
No. [48] CEER MR - ERRIKEREEERNERE
8) (Implementation Advice on Accelerating the Construction
of Kashgar and Khorgas Special Economic Areas*), both
subsidiaries mentioned above could enjoy exemption of EIT
charged by local tax bureau, which takes account for 40%
of the total EIT, for five years starting from the end of the
previous exemption.

* For identification purpose only
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB BT R I RE

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% 2024F6 A308 [FF[E
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire BRI

For the year ended 30 June 2024 #;%20244F6 A30H [LF/E

9. INCOME TAX CREDIT (continued) 9.

The income tax credit for the year can be reconciled to loss
before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income as follows:

Loss before tax

Tax at the income tax rate of 16.5%
(2023: 16.5%)

Tax effect of income not taxable for
tax purpose

Tax effect of expenses not deductible for
tax purpose

Tax effect of fair value change on
contingent consideration payable

Tax effect of tax losses not recognised

Tax effect of deductible temporary
differences not recognised

Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses
and deductible temporary difference
previously not recognised

Effect of tax exemption granted to
PRC subsidiaries

Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries
operating in PRC jurisdictions

Income tax credit for the year

BBl E R

LAFTE MBI E16.5% Tt EMF
T8(2023% : 16.5%)
BARBWANRIEZE

TRMBAS R E

ERSAREN AT EEZEN
s

RERNRIBRBENH G E
REERW A HIHE R ZEA
M E

B SRR FERH T IR E 1B &
A E R EBAR G E

BYHEMBRRZ
MFEENTE

R B R AR & &)
B AR TR R E

FRMEHE R

FrEfiE & @)

FAMEHEREEA B
WK FRERR T AT B IR SR IA T -

2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
(372,985) (187,780)
(61,543) (30,984)
(3) (300)
57,565 20,480
1,456 2,135
38,527 22,045
3,367 72
(13,363) (5,773)
(1,565) (4,085)
(35,557) (5,866)
(11,116) (2,276)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire BRI

For the year ended 30 June 2024 #;%20244F6 A30H [LF/E

10. LOSS FOR THE YEAR

Loss for the year has been arrived at
after charging:

Directors’ emoluments (note 12)

Other staff costs

Retirement benefit scheme contributions,

excluding those of the Directors

Total staff costs

Auditors’ remuneration
Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment
Depreciation of right-of-use assets
Amortisation of intangible assets
Short-term lease expenses for premises
Impairment losses recognised on
TV series production
Cost of TV series production
Cost of scriptwriters for
TV series production
Cost of services provided for
TV series production
Cost of services provided for
film exhibition
Cost of artiste and internet celebrity
agency business

10. FREIE
2024
20244
HK$'000
BET T
FREER TS
THZTEER
EE=EHM(ME12) 2,738
Hih 8 Tk A 15,353
RIREFIFT B K
TEEEEHR 2,205
BT ABER 20,296
% BRI BN 1,920
M - BEREBITE
509
FREEENE 55,326
R EEEE 14,695
YERPHEERS 785
BRBIEERERIBRER
24,867
BREIRAERA 250,538
BREIZAEREIK A
30,718
BRI BER IR R AN 1
961
B 5 BB A AR A5 R A Bt
23,213
EYNSE ARG SN
33,723
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2023
20234
HK$'000
P T I

3,941
25,711

3,065

32,717

2,450
734
55,304
17,876
2,626

12,722
10,631

21,158

1,623

32,223

41,981



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB BT R I RE

For the year ended 30 June 2024 #;%20244F6 A30H [LF/E

11. DIVIDEND 11. KB
No dividend was paid or proposed for the year ended 30 June AKRABIREE2024%6 A30H IEFEW
2024, nor has any dividend been proposed since the end of the RS EBERMERRE - EE®RE
reporting period (2023: Nil). BRZR A 2R I 2R 7 33 Ik A T AR 2. (2023
Fm|E)o
12. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ 12. EEREEME
EMOLUMENTS
Directors’ emoluments X
Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to the RIRE A £ AR B & A RMEHBI Fr e 75 4
applicable Listing Rules and CO, is as follows: NESHMESBT -
Retirement
Salaries benefit
Directors’ and other scheme
fees allowances contributions Total
&K BIKER
EEHe Hith 28 HE-BE a5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BETR BERTT BETT BETR

For the year ended 30 June 2024 #Z202456A308 L&

Executive Directors (note a) YTES(Ma)

Mr. Zhang REE = = - -
Mr. Lee Hin Kwong, Patrick FEREE - = = =
Ms. Zhao Wenzhu Xt - 2,238 68 2,306
Independent Non-executive BYFHTES

Directors (note b) R

Mr. Wang Bo TREE 144 = = 144
Mr. Xiang Feng Bl 144 = = 144
Mr. Chang Eric Jackson RURLAE 144 = = 144

432 2,238 68 2,738

Pl

BIRREBR R F] 2023/24 3 189
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire BRI

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% 2024F6 A308 [FF[E

12. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ 12.
EMOLU M ENTS (Continued)
Directors’
fees
BEHS
HK$'000
BT
For the year ended 30 June 2023  #Z202356H30ALLEE
Executive Directors (note a) HITEE(KEa)
Mr. Zhang KEE -
Mr. Lee Hin Kwong, Patrick FTENEE -
Ms. Zhao Wenzhu XL -
Independent Non-executive BYFHTES
Directors (note b) (Kt=Eb)
Mr. Wang Bo TREE 144
Mr. Xiang Feng &% & 144
Mr. Chang Eric Jackson RUELAE 144
432
Notes:

(@) The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were mainly
for their services in connection with the management of the
affairs of the Company and the Group.

(b)  The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown
above were mainly for their services as directors of the
Company.

(c)  Mr. Jiang Lei and Ms. Chen Hong have been appointed as an

executive director and non-executive director respectively on 10
September 2024.

The Group has no appointment of chief executive during both
years.
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EEREEME@w

Retirement

Salaries benefit

and other scheme
allowances  contributions Total

Hek RIKEA
Hot=28h AR G
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BT BT BT

3,439 70 3,509

- - 144

- - 144

- - 144

3,439 70 3,941
GEE

(a) LEXFATRATESEHMSEEMESM
BERARA R AEENEBEIER
BRI AR

(o) EXFARBIFATESHSEER
XN REREERRBDESARED
BR#5

(c) ZBEERRILZEEDFIN2024%F
9B10REZRTANITESE RIEHTT
E= 0

AEERMEFEHERETITHREE



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iRe WIS

For the year ended 30 June 2024 #;%20244F6 A30H [LF/E

12. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’
EMOLUMENTS (continued)

Employees

Of the five highest paid individuals of the Group, the number of

12. EEREEME @

il

=

\

AEFBRARSHFALED  EFLE

directors and employees was as follows: ERAEINT :
2024 2023
20244 2023%F
Directors E: 1 1
Employees (== 4 4
5 5

The remuneration of the directors is set out above. The

EEMER EXES - BT ALTHBE

emoluments of the remaining individuals were as follows: R
2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$°000 HK$'000
BET T BEET T
Salaries and other allowances 4 L EH R, 3,779 4,421
Retirement benefit scheme contributions 3R (K& F|EH &I 2% 200 395
3,979 4,816
The emoluments were within the following band: ERAMEN T T3 &EE :
2024 2023
2024%F 20234
HK$500,000 to HK$1,000,000 7S #500,0007TE
B%81,000,0007T 1 -
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 7B #1,000,001TE
75#1,500,0007T 3 4

During both years, no emoluments were paid by the Group
to any of the directors or the five highest paid individuals
(including directors and employees) as an inducement to join or
upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office.
No directors waived any emoluments for both years.

MEFEAR  AREHREREAESS
hEB&EeHFAL(BREERER)X
NE - (FRRSIRFEMAREESLR
AR BB 10 B2 R AR R RER R (B -
PEFER - B0 R A XA (A B

BIRREBR R F] 2023/24 3
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB BT R I RE

For the year ended 30 June 2024 #;%20244F6 A30H [LF/E

13. LOSS PER SHARE 13. BREE
The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share RN ANELEREARNEEER
attributable to owners of the Company is based on the TR T 8IETE -

following data:

2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T ST IT
Loss =]
Loss for the year attributable to owners of tEGRREAR N #EEER
the Company for the purpose of basic RARERE AEEFANEE
and diluted loss per share (350,510) (186,920)
2024 2023
202445 20234
Number of shares BHEEE
Number of ordinary shares for the purpose & FAXE AR L #EEBH
of basic and diluted loss per share B AR AR B 2,595,613,733 2,595,613,733
No diluted loss per share for both years were presented as W4 2 51 i 8 F E A SIS EE - It
the Company has no potential ordinary shares issued for both TIHRARR W ERMEFEBEITERE
years. LEAR o

TRANSMIT ENTERTAINMENT LIMITED Annual Report 2023/24



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB BT R I RE

For the year ended 30 June 2024 #;%20244F6 A30H [LF/E

14. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 14. FHEEE
Leased
Cinema buildings Equipment Total
E¥N CHERF B ] @5t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BB BRI BT BT
COST RA&
At 1 July 2022 #2022%7A318 279,604 8,083 799 288,486
Additions NE - 4,693 - 4,693
Termination of lease BIFTRE - (2,942) - (2,942)
Exchange adjustments R - (701) - (701)
At 30 June 2023 20236 A30H 279,604 9,133 799 289,536
Additions NE - 966 - 966
Termination of lease BIEHRE - (1,440) - (1,440)
Exchange adjustments B 5 A% - (81) = (81)
At 30 June 2024 12024456 A30H 279,604 8,578 799 288,981
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION R ERFEE

AND IMPAIRMENT

At 1 July 2022 #2022%7A818 169,404 895 799 171,098
Provided for the year FREE 52,896 2,408 - 55,304
Termination of lease RIFTRE - (512) - (512)
Exchange adjustments fE 5 % - (235) - (235)
At 30 June 2023 M2023%F6A30H 222,300 2,556 799 225,655
Provided for the year FRRE 52,896 2,430 = 55,326
Termination of lease KItRE - (929) - (929)
Exchange adjustments B i AR - (47) = (47)
At 30 June 2024 M2024%6530H 275,196 4,010 799 280,005
CARRYING AMOUNTS BREE
At 30 June 2024 #2024F6A30H 4,408 4,568 - 8,976
At 30 June 2023 7202356 A30H 57,304 6,577 - 63,881

BIRREBR R F] 2023/24 3
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14. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued)

The Group leases cinema, buildings and equipment for its
operations. Lease contracts are entered into for fixed terms
of two to fifteen years. Lease terms are negotiated on an
individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms
and conditions. In determining the lease term and assessing
the length of the non-cancellable period, the Group applies the
definition of a contract and determines the period of which the
contract is enforceable.

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for certain
of its office premises in the PRC. As at 30 June 2024, the
portfolio of short-term leases is similar to the portfolio of short-
term leases to which the short-term lease expenses disclosed
in note 10.

No impairment loss has been recognised on right-of-use assets
during the year ended 30 June 2024 (2023: Nil).

Leases of cinema are either with only fixed lease payments
or contain variable lease payment that are based on 12% to
38% of certain revenue in cinema and minimum annual lease
payment that are fixed over the lease term. The payment
terms are common in Hong Kong where the cinema operations
are carried out. The amounts of fixed and variable lease
payments paid/payable to relevant lessor for the year are as
follows:

For the year ended 30 June 2024

Number of

E¥RYE

Cinema with variable lease payments [ ZE8HEENTHETZ R

TRANSMIT ENTERTAINMENT LIMITED Annual Report 2023/24

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
2

ANy = /ﬁﬂvﬂ%ﬁ&%ﬁﬁg\f

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% 2024F6 A308 [FF[E

14. FREEE @

wE - HEANREEHR-_E+A
FEIN - MEGFIRE R EEEF I
BRE TR R - RETHEB R
AHE T AR E SR RER - A&
BRERA A ERLET A KRR HIH
TTEOEIR -

AEBTEHHFEETHAEMEL L
REHIFAE - 72024568308 - REIF
EHAEMNKMEI0REERHAER YN
HHHEEHAEM -

HE2024F6A30B ILFE - WERE
FiEEERTDRERIB(20234F : £) -

B EEERERENKKBEEZF
FBHRENR  MENEREXRE T
@m12%E38%MTE * MEEFEMRE
NRAPZHRBET - ZEBEKINE
PREBEMAEEENARLE - AFE
B/ BN TFREEREANE T RZE
AEMNREBOT -

B £2024F6A30H L FE
Fixed Variable Total
payments payments payments
BN FEAR RREHE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BT BT BT

81,821 374 82,195



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire BRI

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% 2024F6 A308 [FF[E

14. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued)

For the year ended 30 June 2023

Number of

EFhRHA

Cinema with variable lease payments [fi A 28R EN RN EL

The overall financial effect of using variable payment terms is
that higher rental costs are incurred by the cinema with higher
sales. The lease agreement has subsequently expired in July
2024.

The lease agreements do not impose any covenants other
than the security interests in the leased assets that are held
by the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as security for
borrowing purposes. Details of lease maturity analysis of lease
liabilities are set out in note 26.

14. FREEE @

HZE2023F6A30B It FE
Fixed Variable Total
payments payments payments
RS FEIR RREE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BETT BT BRI

80,464 479 80,943

FREZHNRIERNBEEN BT ES
EHEEREAS HEkARs - #
EWEEBEN2024F7 BRI -

BREEBEAMTHNHEEEE 2 K gD
S - THE W EL & IER R - HE
BETSREERNHEN - HERED
HER R F TN HIFE26 ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB BT R I RE

For the year ended 30 June 2024 #;%20244F6 A30H [LF/E

15. GOODWILL AND IMPAIRMENT 15. B& KRB ETh

ASSESSMENT

Goodwill
mE
HK$'000
ST IT

coSsT R
At 1 July 2022 R20229F7 818 461,473
Exchange adjustments PE 57, 38 (35,499)
At 30 June 2023 7R2023%F6 530H 425,974
Exchange adjustments b H R (3,582)
At 30 June 2024 202456 H30H 422,392

IMPAIRMENT B
At 1 July 2022 202297818 67,652
Impairment loss recognised in the year FABEBERER 117,802
Exchange adjustments PEE b, 5 2 (5,205)
At 30 June 2023 72023%F6 830H 180,249
Impairment loss recognised in the year FNREEBERER 223,792
Exchange adjustments [E 5 A% (1,307)
At 30 June 2024 202456 H30H 402,734

CARRYING AMOUNTS FREE

At 30 June 2024 20246 H30H 19,658
At 30 June 2023 7R2023%F6 530H 245,725

TRANSMIT ENTERTAINMENT LIMITED Annual Report 2023/24



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire BRI

For the year ended 30 June 2024 #;%20244F6 A30H [LF/E

15. GOODWILL AND IMPAIRMENT
ASSESSMENT (Continued)

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill has been
allocated to the following cash generating units. The carrying
amount before impairment loss of goodwill allocated to these
cash generating units are as follows:

Khorgas Group (note a) ERREE(MrEa)
BB E8) ULEEAR AT ("Wenlan”)  BRB(L8) X LEEAR AT
(note b) (B (M5Ep)
Notes:

(a) During the year ended 30 June 2019, the Group acquired the
entire equity interest in BRRMNEEULEEHER A 7l(Khorgas
Houhai Culture Media Company Limited, “Khorgas Houhai”) and
its subsidiary,dt REE X EHEH PR A A(Beijing Juhai Culture
Media Company Limited) (collectively known as the “Khorgas
Group”) and goodwill of HK$411,876,000 was resulted from
the acquisition within TV series production and distribution
segment.

The recoverable amount of Khorgas Group has been determined
based on a value in use calculation.

15. BE KB E G @

SUREREAMS  BECEIEENAT
ReELEN RFHEELEUED
BB RERBBRMREEDT

Wi

(a)

2024 2023

20245 20234
HK$’'000 HK$'000
BET T BEETIT
383,223 386,805

39,169 39,169
422,392 425,974

HZE2019E6 A30R ILFE - A&EE
EREERRETESLBEERA
A([EBRGTES]) REKE AR
REELEEERAR(REL [E
BMENEE )2 IHRE  MKES
ERERBIRERFETHIPELED
BE1411,876,0007T °

ERRTEEN KD EREER
EBEFEETE -

BIRIREBR AT 2023/24 F#
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB BT R I RE

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% 2024F6 A308 [FF[E

15. GOODWILL AND IMPAIRMENT
ASSESSMENT (Continued)

15. BE R BEFE @

Notes: (Continued) BisE : (88)

The calculation of the recoverable amount of Khorgas Group
uses cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved
by management covering a 5-year period and pre-tax discount
rate of 24.7% (2023: 25.6%) per annum as at 30 June 2024.
Cash flows beyond the 5-year period are extrapolated using a
steady expected inflation rate of 2.0% (2023: 2.0%) per annum.
Other key assumptions for the value in use calculation relate
to the estimation of cash inflows and outflows which include
budgeted sales and budgeted costs. Such estimation is based
on Khorgas Group's past performance and management’s
expectations for the market development.

The revenue and operating profit of Khorgas Group for the
current year did not meet those budgeted primarily due to the
impact of the economic downturn and industry policies, so the
management of the Group assessed the recoverable amount
of Khorgas Group to which goodwill is allocated. As at 30 June
2024, the estimated recoverable amount of Khorgas Group was
below its carrying amount. Accordingly, the Group recognised
impairment loss on goodwill amounting to HK$223,792,000
(2023: HK$100,701,000) during the year ended 30 June 2024.

During the year ended 30 June 2020, the Group acquired 60%
of equity interest in Wenlan and goodwill of HK$38,633,000 was
resulted from the acquisition within pan entertainment segment,
which has been fully impaired during the year ended 30 June
2023.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire BRI

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% 2024F6 A308 [FF[E

16. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

COST
At 1 July 2022
Exchange adjustments

At 30 June 2023
Exchange adjustments

At 30 June 2024

AMORTISATION

At 1 July 2022
Provided for the year
Exchange adjustments

At 30 June 2023
Provided for the year
Exchange adjustments

At 30 June 2024

IMPAIRMENT

At 1 July 2022 and 30 June 2023
Provided for the year

Exchange adjustments

At 30 June 2024

CARRYING AMOUNTS
At 30 June 2024

At 30 June 2023

16. B EE

2N
MR2022%7R1H
(RIS

72202346 A30H
BE 5 5B

202446 A30H

ey
202257 A1H
FAREE

P& 5 B

7202346 A30H
FNEAE
b o F R

74202446 A30H
B
74202247 A1H ;20236 A30H

FRRE
BE SR

R2024F6 530H

BREE
R2024F6 830H

72023%F6 530H

Agency
contract
REEH
HK$'000
BT

113,601

(8,738)

104,863
(971)

103,892

42,017
17,876
(3,870)

56,023
14,695
(655)

70,063

32,841
(305)

32,536

1,293

48,840
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16. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

The agency contract is a six-year agency contract associated
with Ms. Yang Chaoyue, a famous artiste in the PRC, which
is held by Wenlan, a non-wholly owned subsidiary acquired by
the Group on 12 March 2020. It is identified as an intangible
asset at the date of acquisition of Wenlan and amortised over
6 years. The revenue and operating profit of Wenlan for the
current year did not meet those budgeted, so the management
of the Group assessed the recoverable amount of the cash
generating unit to which the intangible asset belongs.

The recoverable amount of the intangible asset has been
determined based on a value in use calculation.

The calculation of the recoverable amount uses cash
flow projections based on financial budgets approved by
management covering agency contract period and pre-
tax discount rate of 33.38% (2023: 30.01%) per annum as
at 30 June 2024. Other key assumptions for the value in
use calculation relate to the estimation of cash inflows and
outflows which include budgeted sales and budgeted costs.
Such estimation is based on Wenlan's past performance and
management'’s expectations for the market development.

As at 30 June 2024, the estimated recoverable amount of
the cash generating unit was below its carrying amount.
Accordingly the Group recognised an impairment loss on
intangible assets amounting to HK$32,841,000 (2023:
nil) during the year ended 30 June 2024.
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BIE2EM B ARBEEA o PUER
WEB  BERAYVESNABREEE
WAENFHIRE T A - AFEEBERLN
WA REE B R EZSMIETEE A
B A AEEEEENGERNEER
BZReEEEM I REIE5E -

B EENR KL SR IIZERBER
BET -

AREEENGTEDERAREEERE
HEREREGOENTBEE LR
20246 A308 T 33.38% (20234 :
30.01% ) KB ATRRIR R TE AR &R E °
AEFAEENEAETEZREERETE
BHEEERBERAZ TR RAK
M A R o ZhEr HIRERERBTRE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

N,

ire BRI

For the year ended 30 June 2024 #;%20244F6 A30H [LF/E

17. FILM RIGHTS AND TV SERIES PRODUCTION

IN PROGRESS

COST

At 1 July 2022

Additions

Transfer upon completion and sold
Disposal of subsidiaries

Exchange adjustments

At 30 June 2023

Additions

Transfer upon completion and/or sold
Exchange adjustments

At 30 June 2024

ACCUMULATED IMPAIRMENT
At 1 July 2022

Additions

Disposal of subsidiaries
Exchange adjustments

At 30 June 2023
Additions
Exchange adjustments

At 30 June 2024

CARRYING AMOUNTS
At 30 June 2024

At 30 June 2023

[2%:N
R2022%F7A1H
//J\E
RFER K & 1% 3
HENE AR

[E & %

72023%6 A30H
NE

17.

IR R HRE R

BEE 5 SR B

M2024%F6 A30H

RitREE
M202267H18
//J\E

HEMB AR
D 3 S B

M2023%F6 A30H
NE

P& 3
202496 A30H

BREE
20246 A30H

72023%F6 A30H

The Group carries out a review on a project-by-project basis
at the end of each reporting period and makes provision for
obsolete projects. Net realisable value of TV series production
in progress is the estimated selling price in the ordinary
business, less estimated costs of completion and selling
expenses. These estimates are based on the current market
condition and the historical experience of producing and
distributing TV series production of a similar nature.

EXMERRETERE

Film rights
B MAE
HK$'000
BT T

776,062

(776,062)

776,062

(776,062)

Television
series
production
in progress
HERERE
HK$'000
BT T

367,297
43,847
(10,631)

(26,310)

374,203

98,409
(250,538)
(1,700)

220,374

39,875
12,722

(454)

52,143
24,867
(344)

76,666

143,708

322,060

AEERSREHRIZARELETE

% WEBEFHB EHEE - BERE

BRI S2REEFELAETNEERS

FREEER  HMEKREBRRHM

AR o 2B A DERE BT ISMR

M&%%&%ﬁﬁ@%%%ﬁ%%%%
ERBMIEL -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iRe WIS

For the year ended 30 June 2024 #;%20244F6 A30H [LF/E

17. FILM RIGHTS AND TV SERIES PRODUCTION  17.

IN PROGRESS (Continued)

During the year ended 30 June 2024, an impairment loss of
HK$24,867,000 (2023: HK$12,722,000) was recognised on
TV series production in progress. Due to the production plan
for certain TV production in progress was postponed and
the amount may not be fully recovered, the Directors are of
opinion that the carrying amount of HK$24,867,000 (2023:
HK$12,722,000) for certain TV series production in progress
was fully impaired.

B R B B 0

HZE2024F6A30B ILFE - EREE
R ER B R EE 185 24,867,000
rc(2023¢ 7 #12,722,000 7T ) °
HRETRERFERE N ER S
ET&E ;%%%E‘I%Eﬁ/f 2UE -
EERAETEEFEREEAE
& 24,867,000 JC (2023 % : B
12,722,0007C) E ZERE ©

B2 o
18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 18. 5 RH el IE
2024 2023
2024%F 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T ST T
Trade receivables g 5 el EIE 54,393 31,722
Less: Allowance for expected credit losses 5 : T8 HI{Z B 518 8 (1,011) (1,109)
53,382 30,613
Other receivables, deposits and HEprlaas - ek
prepayments FERTIE 42,098 14,603
Other receivables from TV series AR B ) B th & W R IE 19,469 22,162
Less: Allowance for expected credit losses 5 : TBHI{Z B 518 & (794) (482)
60,773 36,283
Investment in film and TV series producers ZAFEt A2 B
at FVTPL (note i) BERBIREARE (MIFF) 1,954 10,613
Prepayment for artiste management EPNBE RIS E Ty
agency and scriptwriters SENEE - 1,080
Deposits and prepayments for cinema BYREBNEZEER
operation (note i) TEAT A (M Eii) 11,166 17,738
Other tax recoverable H AU B F 18 5,447 5,838
132,722 102,165
Analysed as: EIv=2
Current mE 132,722 84,715
Non-current FERED = 17,450
132,722 102,165
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB BT R I RE

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% 2024F6 A308 [FF[E

18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

Note i

Note ii:

The amounts represented the Group's entitlement to return
on certain film and TV series producers invested by the Group
which are variable based on contracts.

The amounts include HK$10,966,000 (2023: HK$17,450,000)
rental deposit generated from CCLP which had entered into
a lease agreement on 27 December 2013 to rent a cinema
situated in Langham Place (the “Lease Premises”), a prime
location in Hong Kong, and to take the cinema operation for a
term of ten years commencing on 23 July 2014 and expired on
22 July 2024 (the "Lease”). Based on the terms of the Lease,
the Company is obliged to pay a deposit in a sum equivalent
to the aggregate of three months’ base rent for the tenth year,
three months’ management charges for the first year, three
months’ promotional levy for the first year and one quarter’s
government rates in respect of the Lease Premises.

The aging analysis of the Group's trade receivables, net of
allowance for credit losses, based on the invoice date, at the
end of the reporting period is as follows:

8. EZ R EMEWREIE @)

fidi: ZeBEASEESHRENS
TEXRERBISEAN DR E
Mo REAH  BREDHARTD -

Mizii: 2SS HEBECCLPAIEEAMNAER
% 7% 10,966,000 7T (20234 : &
#17,450,0007T ) © Z A AP 2013
F12A278:I v HEW:E BE
NREBEREARINERR
(HEMEREFEREE B
201447 B23 B #£E 202457 522
BilEAS+F(HE] - BRERE
G ARARAREEMES i
¢ HEEENAHETFEN=F
REAMEE ZE—FH=FEAEE
E - F-FHN-EAEEZREIUR
—{EZEE BT E= 2 o

RMETR - AEEE 5 EWFIE (K
MR EEBERE)IREZEHBNRE
DATEAT

Trade receivables: g 5 WA -
0 - 30 days 0&30H
31 - 60 days 31£260H
61 — 90 days 61290H
91 - 180 days 91%180H
181 — 365 days 181%£365H
Over one year Him—F

2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T FEHE T T
51,578 8,170
- 354

= 198

239 70

= 2,267

1,565 19,554
53,382 30,613
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire BRI

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% 2024F6 A308 [FF[E

18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

Generally, with the exception of PRC TV series production
customers who are generally granted credit period ranging
from 30 to 90 days, no credit period is granted to the
Group's customers. Distribution fee from distributors in PRC
Mainland are normally settled upon delivery of negatives to
the customers. On a case-by-case basis, one to two months
of credit period may be granted to its customers with good
repayment history.

As at 30 June 2024, included in the Group's trade receivables
balance are debtors with aggregate carrying amount of
HK$1,804,000 (2023: HK$21,891,000) which are past due
as at the reporting date. Out of the past due balances,
HK$1,565,000 (2023: HK$21,821,000) has been past due 90
days or more and is not considered as in default by considering
the background of the debtors and historical payment
arrangement. The Group does not hold any collateral over
these balances.

Details of expected credit losses assessment of trade and
other receivables are set out in note 32b.

19. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

18. E 5 K& H {th FEIRFRIE ()

B BERESRERF —RERT T30
EQORMEEHSN - AEE —RIWERA
HEPROMEMEEH - BT BEAM
BITANBETERRRRATPRNE
FEEE - NEERZERIEER AR
RIFEFRRHENEFPEH —EMEA N
=58 -

M2024F6A308 @ NEBE S EUK
HEHBEREEE A/ B1,804,000
7t (20234 : B#21,891,0007T) K fE
WkE - WRREBHE AL - D@
gk - B8 1,565,0007T (20234 -
75 21,821,000 7T ) B %1 #5190 H 2k A
o EREREBAZESRBENRK
ZH - ERBATHREEY - NEE
WERZSEHITETWERR -

B REMEWRIBHIEREEEIET
B SR FE32b ©

19. BAFEF ABRZEREE

Financial assets at FVTPL BAFEFABRZEREE

— wealth management products

Wealth management products are purchased from a bank with
expected rate of return ranging from 2.4% to 2.8% (2023:
2.5% to 4.2%) per annum and with maturity date within one
year and classified as financial assets at FVTPL. The principal
and returns of these wealth management products are not
guaranteed.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB BT R I RE

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% 2024F6 A308 [FF[E

20. PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS 20. EERRITER

At 30 June 2024, bank deposit of HK$678,000 (2023:
HK$671,000) has been pledged to a bank to secure the 4Dx’s
equipment rental fees payable to a supplier of 4Dx equipment
for the Group's operation in the Lease Premises. The pledged
bank deposits carry interests at a fixed rate of 1% (2023:
0.875%) per annum.

In addition, at 30 June 2024, the Group has pledged bank
deposits of HK$20,000,000 (2023: HK$41,600,000) which
carry at fixed interest rate of 1.17% (2023: 0.3% to 0.54%) per
annum to secure the bank borrowings granted to the Group.
The pledged bank deposits have been released in July 2024
upon the repayment of the relevant borrowings.

The Group's pledged bank deposits that are not denominated
in the functional currencies of the relevant group entities are as
follows:

MR2024F6 A30H @ SRITEFEFBE
678,0007T (20234 : & #671,0007T)
BB FIRITUEBRIEASEBEAEEY
¥ 2B T B T 4DxER L FE 5 AU 4Dx
REHEE - EEMRITERIEREEF
FZ1%(20234F : 0.875% )5T & °

AN - 7A2024F6 A30H © AEEBEME
AR ER1TTF B 20,000,000 (2023
& 7B%41,600,0007T ) B FE 4 F R
1.17% (20234 : 0.3% £0.54% ) &t
B UEREBTFTAEERRITER - B
KRBT EREREZRBERER
20244F7 AR -

AEBEAEBEEERDEEEUINE
BETEMDEBERRITERAT ¢

2024 2023

20244 20234

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BEET T

United States dollars (“USD") Ex([ZE7x)) 678 671

Details of impairment are set out in note 32b.

BB IB B M FE32D
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB BT R I RE

For the year ended 30 June 2024 #;%20244F6 A30H [LF/E

21. BANK BALANCES AND CASH 21. |ITHERRRE
Bank balances of the Group carry interest at market rates AEBEIRITAERTVIRATNTS R X5
which are as follows: B
2024 2023
20245 20234
Interest rate per annum FHI= 0.01% t0 0.59% 0.01% to 1.70%

0.01%%£0.59% 0.01%%1.70%

The Group's bank balances and cash that are not denominated NEBUMRBEETERNESEUININE
in the functional currencies of the relevant group entities are as A ENRETEARRSTT -
follows:
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT
uUsD EP 26 26
22. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 22. ES R HMENFIE
2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
BET T BEET T
Trade payables B EMTRIE 52,182 43,587
Other payables and accruals (note i) H b e RUE K ERTE A () 55,859 85,039
Advances from former shareholder K BG H U BE B B N BRI
of subsidiaries acquired (note ii) IR B2 SR (M 5Eii) 34,112 34,430
Provision for arbitration (note 32b) R (M 5E32b) 16,791 10,700
Accrued services fee for TV series BEATGREI R EST
production (note iii) AR 7% 2 A (B &L 30,074 9,835
Investment funds from investors at BRAFEFAERZKE
FVTPL (note iv) TEEMREES (MsEiv) - 6,480
189,018 190,071
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

= A\
ArEf

FIEERAR T

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% 2024F6 A308 [FF[E

22. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continued)

The average credit period on purchases of goods is 60 to 90
days. The aging analysis of trade payables presented is based
on the invoice date. The following is the aging analysis of the
Group’s trade payables at the end of the reporting period:

Within 60 days 60H A
Within 61 to 90 days 61E90HN
Within 91 to 365 days 91%E365HK
Over 365 days #Bi8365H

Notes:

(i)

(i)

(iif)

(iv)

As at 30 June 2023, other payables and accruals included
HK$33,276,000 which represents cumulative amount provided
by MMP in excess of relevant years’ profit or loss in relation
to operation of the cinema of CCLP, upon expiration of cinema
management agreement on 25 May 2024, such amount is
reversed and recorded as other income disclosed in note 7
during the year ended 30 June 2024.

Advances from former shareholder of subsidiaries acquired are
non-trade, unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

The amounts represented the accrued services fee payable to
scriptwriters of TV series production.

Investment funds from investors represent investors’
entitlement to the return on film invested by the Group and the
return are variable based on contracts with other investors.

22.

5 REHMENTIE @)

REEmNTFHEEHAR60E90A -
BHRNRIBNRE DT HERERER
HZ25 c ARERNBEPRNE S EN
FRRE DT

G

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T BEET T
24,034 16,343
2,220 1,938
3,260 1,881
22,668 23,425
52,182 43,587

20236 B30E » H A E N FIE R
fEET & 8458 #33,276,0007T + A
RAEFZEREF B IEW#ER2024
F5RA25HEmBETIRZ N BBCCLP
EEBYRNEETFEEEN RS
B Mz BRNEZE2024F6H30H
LE £ 5 B 2 B B 3t A EL i Ut A A Bf
HTHE o

RN E 2 AR R B
BEESHHE AR 2ERAR
BRI -

BRFEERNBERERERERE
M RETRBER -

REREENREECHEREERF
AREERENEZHEFOEN - 1R
EEHEMREERTNEYN - ARM
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23. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

0%

Advances from customers F#k

At 1 July 2022, contract liabilities of the Group amounted to
HK$155,116,000.

The amount of HK$67,029,000 as at 30 June 2023 had been
recognised as the Group's revenue during the year ended 30
June 2024.

Deposits are received by the Group as the instalments of
the PRC TV series production in progress and advances
of distribution income received from distributors prior to
release and delivery of TV series program. Payment terms are
negotiated on a case-by-case basis. When the Group receives
certain percentage of deposits as an advance payment upon
signing the contract, this will give rise to contract liabilities at
the start of a contract, until the revenue is recognised upon the
relevant performance obligation is fulfilled.

24. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Bank borrowings: WITHER
Fixed-rate, secured and L BERREER
guaranteed (note i) (P 5ED
Fixed-rate, unsecured and EE -~ EBEEREER
guaranteed (note ii) Gz
Variable-rate, secured and

guaranteed (note iii) (B &Fiii)

Variable-rate, unsecured and guaranteed %8 - SIS B R

Other borrowings (note iv) HEEsR (M EEiv)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB BT R I RE

For the year ended 30 June 2024 #;%20244F6 A30H [LF/E

23. 8N EE

2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BETIT
73,229 138,364

R2022F7H1H @ XEBHEHEE
B #155,116,0007T ©

M2023F6 A30H * B#67,029,0007T
MFEE R EANEBEH E2024F6 A
30H IFFEHUES ©

AEEWEZSERRIET T EERE
1 B 2 B SR B i iR B 32 A AR B
A2 WEITRMEITIRATRKFR - fF
FHRZE R EEEITHER - EAKHE
REBEFTANALWIETADLLNRE(E
BB ERANRARBEELENE
& EEHEEENE ETK R R RS
Rk e

24. RITREABER

2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BETIT
= 32,411

= 19,440

= 16,200

= 5,400

= 73,451

57,522 24,855
57,522 98,306



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB BT R I RE

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% 2024F6 A308 [FF[E

24. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (continued) 24.
The Group’s bank and other borrowings are repayable as
follows:

Carrying amount repayable (based on fEEERAEE
scheduled repayment terms): (ERBEEER
Within one year or on demand —iﬁqi/ﬁﬁﬁ/\fé

Less: Amounts due shown under current 5 : ™A BEE
liabilities: B NBIRE B EIFRIR
On demand or due within one year Tﬁ%*ﬁ—iﬁﬂiﬂ,ﬁﬁ

Amounts due after one year —F 1&g B HIR 5108

Notes:

(i)

(ii)

(iif)

During the year ended 30 June 2024, the Group did not
obtain new fixed rate and secured bank borrowings (2023:
HK$32,411,000) and repaid bank borrowings of HK$32,411,000
(2023: HK$26,989,000).

During the year ended 30 June 2024, the Group did not
obtain new fixed rate and guaranteed bank borrowings (2023:
HK$19,440,000) and repaid bank borrowings of HK$19,440,000
(2023: HK$14,040,000).

During the year ended 30 June 2024, the Group did not
obtain new variable-rate and secured bank borrowings (2023:
RMB15,000,000 (equivalent to HK$16,200,000)),and repaid bank
borrowings of RMB15,000,000 (equivalent to HK$16,200,000)
(2023:RMB29,000,000 (equivalent to HK$31,320,000)). The
floating rate of the borrowing was based on the Loan Prime Rate
published by PRC National Interbank Funding Center. As at 30
June 2024, the bank borrowings were repaid and the secured
bank deposits of HK$20,000,000 (2023: HK$20,000,000) is
subsequently released in July 2024.

RITR

H A fE = a0

\

REBRTREMBERARIA T EFEIE

=

G

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BEETIT
57,522 98,306
(57,522) (98,306)

HE2024566A30HILEE © K
ESEYTENSHOETEF R E
&ﬁﬁ#ﬁfﬁﬂﬁﬁ(zozsi ok
32,411,000 ) » W EERITHE K
/%M32,411,0007z(2023¢ DB
26,989,0007T) °

HE2024566A30HILEE © K
ESEYTENSHOETF R E
REERBRITER(2023F : B
19,440,0007T ) + WEEBIEITE K
75 #519,440,000 7T ( 2023 F @ & #&
14,040,0007T) °

HZE2024F6 A30RLFE © &
EEYENSHEIZIHANRGE
kBB HRITHEK(2023F : A
K # 15,000,000 7T ( 18 & N & &
16,200,0007T ) ) * W EE R 1T &
A R ¥ 15,000,000 7t ( 8 & ®
75 ¥ 16,200,000 7T ) (2023 F : A
K # 29,000,000 7T ( 18 & RN & &
31,320,0007T)) ° A BAfEFKEZEF
R THE R B2 B8R 1T R R IR AE
DAMBERTSREFE - K2024
F6H30R @ RITIERDEEE - M
5 1% 3 4R 17 77 3% # 20,000,000 7T
(20234 : #20,000,0007T) &R
202447 BYERRR o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB BT R I RE

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% 2024F6 A308 [FF[E

24. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (continued) 24. SRITREMER @

BaE : (&)

Notes: (Continued)

(iv)

Other borrowings represented a loan from a third party
company, bearing interest at 15% per annum. During the
year ended 30 June 2024, Khorgas Houhai obtained a loan of
RMB2,000,000 (equivalent to HK$2,140,000) (2023: nil) from
a third party company and repaid on 25 September 2023.
The maturity date of remaining loans plus accrued interest of
RMB27,002,000 (equivalent to HK$28,892,000) was extended
to 31 December 2023 and were in default as at 30 June 2024
and repayable on demand. The loan is secured by the Group's
trade receivables amounting to RMB17,905,000 (equivalent to
HK$19,338,000) as at 30 June 2023.

During the year ended 30 June 2024, Khorgas Juhai Culture
Media Company Limited obtained loans of RMB10,000,000
(equivalent to HK$10,700,000) and RMB15,903,200 (equivalent
to HK$17,016,000) (2023: nil) from a third party company at
interest of 15% and 10% respectively, and accrued interest
of RMB581,000 (equivalent to HK$621,000) and RMB274,000
(equivalent to HK$293,000) (2023: nil) respectively. These loans
are guaranteed by subsidiaries of the Group.

The ranges of effective interest rates (which are also equal
to contracted interest rates) per annum on the Group’s bank
borrowings are analysed as follows:

Fixed-rate bank borrowings:

ERRITER

(iv)

HMEREREE=FARIMER -
EFEREI5% B - BE20245F6
A30BLFE ERRHTEEESE
=7 A AIREERAKE2000,000
7T (H8 & 7 % ¥ 2,140,000 7T ) (2023
F: B)WMN2023F9 A2 HEE
FRERXR - B TERKREFANE
A R # 27,002,000 7C (48 & R B &
28,892,0007T) MEIHAHE E& =
2023F12A318 - BFBH TERY
7202456 A30 B @ AR AR E K (E
2 - R202346A30H HAEEE
2 W IE A R #17,905,000 7T (48
BB 19,338,0007T) fEIKIF -

HZE2024F6 A30RILFE ER
RTBREEBEHEERAABE=
FRADREBEFENEI5% &
10% &t B 2 B 3% A R % 10,000,000
gL (48 & % 7% # 10,700,000 7T ) &
A R #15,903,200 ¢ (48 & R B &
17,016,000 7T ) (2023 %F : &) + &
B R FE D BIAARE581,0007T
(&R BEE621,000T) K AR
274,000 7T (18 & P 74 # 293,000t )
(2023%F : &) - ZEERBAEE N
BARERER -

AEBRITERZBERFMNEEE (TR
HERERTHOFE)NIHFAT

2024 2023
20244 20234

n/a  3.65% to 4.90%

RMB denominated borrowings ARBFEER TiE A 3.65%%4.90%
Variable-rate bank borrowings: FBIRITER n/a  3.40% to 4.00%
RMB denominated borrowings ARBHER T TER 3.40%%£4.00%
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For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% 2024F6 A308 [FF[E

25. LOANS FROM RELATED COMPANIES

Loans from related companies
— Loan 1 (note i)

— Loan 2 (note ii)

— Loan 3 (note iii)

— &R (M5
— B2 (BiEi)
— B3 (ML)

— Loan 4 (note iv) —BEZA(MIsFiv)

Analysed as: EIv=%
Current liabilities mEaE
Non-current liabilities EREEE

Notes:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

The balance as at 30 June 2024 represents a loan of
RMB17,853,000 (equivalent to HK$19,103,000) (2023:
RMB18,954,000 (equivalent to HK$20,470,000)) plus accrued
interest of RMB6,116,000 (equivalent to HK$6,544,000) (2023:
RMB4,749,000 (equivalent to HK$5,129,000)) from Guangzhou
Puji. The loan advance is unsecured, interest bearing at 7% per
annum. In December 2021, the maturity date of the loan was
extended to July 2023. In December 2022, the maturity date of
the loan was extended to July 2025.

The balance as at 30 June 2024 represents interest payables
of RMB8,541,000 (equivalent to HK$9,139,000) (2023:
represents interest payables of RMB8,541,000 (equivalent to
HK$9,224,000) from Guangzhou Black Hole Investment Limited
("Black Hole"”), a company in which Mr. Zhang has controlling
interests.

The balance represents loan of RMB23,500,000 (equivalent
to HK$25,145,000) (2023: RMB23,500,000 (equivalent to
HK$25,380,000)) plus accrued interest of RMB1,995,000
(equivalent to HK$2,135,000) (2023: RMB938,000 (equivalent
to HK$1,013,000)) from Guangzhou Puji as at 30 June 2024.
The loan advances are unsecured, interest-bearing at 4.50% per
annum. In September 2024, the maturity date of the loans were
extended from July and September 2024 to September 2026.

REBEBARNER

25. RE @B A THNER

GERX

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$’'000 HK$'000
BT T BEET T
25,647 25,599
9,139 9,224
27,280 26,393
46,223 22,168
108,289 83,384
36,419 9,224
71,870 74,160
108,289 83,384

M2024F6 A308 « &t A B EM
T NESZERARE17,853,000
7T (#8775 %19,103,0007T ) (2023
F 1 ANR¥18,954,0007T (FHE R B
#20,470,0007T) ) R 2EF| B AR
6,116,000 7T (18 & 7 7% # 6,544,000
70) (20234 : AR#¥4,749,0007T (48
BB %5,129,0007T) ) c ZE R B
RAEBEE  RFEMNEIRFTE - B
20215128 - ZEXMEBHADER
Z£2023% 71 - N20224%128 % E
HHEIHH B ERZE2026%7 A -

M2024%6 A308 @ ZESHAKB
REAEBMBEBRER 2 AREMNE
HILEBRAE (2R ]) 2 EMF
B AR 8,541,000 (& KB
9,139,000 7T ) (2023 4F : J&E - | &
A AR K8541,0007T (1B E RB K
9,224,0007T)) °

2024F6 A30R « it A B EM
T MIES 2 'R AR 23,500,000
7T (H8 % R & # 25,145,000 7T ) (2023
£ AR #23,500,0007T (185 78
#25,380,0007T)) * Rt A BARK
1,995,000 7T ( #8 & 7 % ¥ 2,135,000
70) (20234 : AR#938,0007T(HHE
R #1,013,0007T) ) ° ZERB K
AERR  BREFELIB0%EE - B
2024F9R ' % EEFMERBDH
202457 A M9 R IEEE 2026594 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire BRI

For the year ended 30 June 2024 #;%20244F6 A30H [LF/E

25. LOANS FROM RELATED COMPANIES 25.

(Continued)
Notes: (Continued)

(iv)  The balance represents loan of RMB41,326,000 (equivalent
to HK$44,220,000) (2023: RMB20,246,000 (equivalent to
HK$21,866,000)) plus accrued interest of RMB1,873,000
(equivalent to HK$2,003,000) (2023: RMB280,000 (equivalent to
HK$302,000)) from Guangzhou Puiji as at 30 June 2024. The loan
advances are unsecured, interest-bearing at 4.50% per annum
and with maturity dates between February to August 2026.

26. LEASE LIABILITIES 26.

Information about leases for which the Group is a lessee is
presented below.

REBEHLATDNER @

BieE (8

(iv) 1202456 A308 @ &t AHEMN
T RERZE R AR 41,326,000
7T (& N8 144,220,0007T ) (2023
& AR%20,246,0007T (HHE RE
#£21,866,0007T)) * REFBEARKE
1,873,000t (#8 & # 7 ¥ 2,003,000
JL) (20234 : AR%280,0005T (H8%&
& #302,0007T) ) - ZBEREBRA
I - IHEFRAB0% S - BIH
A/ 202652 AF8A

HESE

ARAEEEARRAANBELN 27
m .

2024 2023
20244 2023%F
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T BETIT
Lease liabilities payable: EAEERE
Within one year —FR 6,706 81,039
Within a period of more than one year —FLAMEMEAR
but not more than two years 1,706 6,480
Within a period of more than two years R LATE F4ELAA
but not exceeding five years 879 2,609
9,291 90,128
Less: Amount due for settlement with B ORBBEEETEY
12 months shown under current AR A AERER
liabilities B FIE (6,706) (81,039)
Amount due for settlement after FERBEBETNEZ
12 months shown under A28 BB EERFIE
non-current liabilities 2,585 9,089

The weighted average incremental borrowing rate applied is
6% (2023:6%) per annum as at 30 June 2024.

All lease obligations are denominated in the functional
currencies of the relevant group entities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB BT R I RE

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% 2024F6 A308 [FF[E

27. SHARE CAPITAL 27. A
Number of Share
shares capital
RAEE [ &N
HK$'000
BETT
Ordinary shares of HK$0.0025 each: BREEE0.0025CH R
Authorised: EE
At 1 July 2022, 30 June 2023 and 7202247818 ~ 20236 A30H
30 June 2024 1202456 H30H 32,000,000,000 80,000
Issued and fully paid: ERITRHE:
At 1 July 2022, 30 June 2023 and 72022F7H18 ~ 2023F6A30H
30 June 2024 }2024%6A30H 2,595,613,733 6,489

28. PERPETUAL BONDS

On 29 June 2020, two wholly-owned subsidiaries of the
Company issued perpetual bonds (the “Issuers”) amounted
to RMB31,000,000 (equivalent to HK$34,100,000) and
RMB155,000,000 (equivalent to HK$170,500,000),
respectively to Guangzhou Puji, and the perpetual bonds are
redeemable at the issuers’ option on or after 28 June 2025.
Interests are payable annually in arrears at a fixed rate of 4.5%
per annum, which may be deferred at the issuers’ discretion
and in which event, the Company and the issuers will not
declare or pay any interests or redeem, reduce, cancel or buy
back or otherwise acquire any of the Company’s and/or the
Issuer’s securities of lower or equal rank.

On 1 July 2021 and 13 July 2021, Guangzhou Daide
Management Consultancy Company Limited (“Guangzhou
Daide") issued perpetual bonds amounting to RMB78,520,000
(equivalent to HK$94,224,000) and RMB58,990,000
(equivalent to HK$70,788,000), respectively to Black Hole and
Guangzhou Puji for the purpose of repaying the outstanding
loan balance. On 1 July 2021 and 31 July 2021, Guangzhou
Daide and the Company issued perpetual bonds amounting
to RMB35,000,000 (equivalent to HK$42,000,000) and
HK$45,000,000 to Mr. Zhang respectively, for the purpose of
repaying the outstanding loan balance. On 7 March 2022, the
Company issued perpetual bonds amounting to HK$8,000,000
to Mr. Zhang. The perpetual bonds are redeemable at the
issuer’s option on or after 30 June 2025.

28. KERE

720206 298 @ AN AR M2 &M
BRR([ETADDRIEEMNE REET
AEAR#31,000,0007T (FHE R B
34,100,0007T ) & A R # 155,000,000
7T (A8 A% #5170,500,0007T ) Z K 48
& M7 AREZENR2025F6H28H
Sk BERZEXERE - FIBIEETESF
FEAB% N EFFRINS - WETA
AIRIEIELEEEFE - MAELERT
AAE KRBT ADEE IR SUR (17 F
BEAED - BIR - cEE s E s A H A
F R ARE K&, 5HEEIT AR
KRFASHFIOES

MN2021F7 818 %2021%F78138 ' E
MEEEEZERABRAT ([ EMNEE])
DRIABREEMNE RETTABEAR
#578,520,0007T (FHE 1 #94,224,000
7T) & A R #58,990,0007T (#HE HE
70,788,0007T) Z K EIE - LMEBEKREE
EFREREE o R2021F7H1H X20214F7
A318 @ BIN&EEKRAR A BIRERE
HE1TT BEARYS5,000,000C (FHE
A #42,000,0007T) K& #45,000,000
TLZKEE  NEEREEERHBRE -
R2022F3 378 » ARG RIFRILEEETT
T AEEE8,000,0007T Z KBS o BT
A A& IR 2025F6 A30H 8 2 & & D

AEKEE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

.

ire BRI

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% 2024F6 A308 [FF[E

28. PERPETUAL BONDS (Continued)

On 27 February 2023, the Company voluntarily repaid
perpetual bonds amounting to HK$17,500,000 to Mr. Zhang.

On 24 February 2023, the Company issued perpetual bonds
amounting to HK$950,000 to Skynova International Limited
("Skynova”). The perpetual bonds are redeemable at the
issuer’s option on or after February 2028.

On 7 September 2023, 6 February 2024 and 21 February
2024, the Company issued perpetual bonds amounting to
HK$6,000,000, HK$1,000,000 and HK$2,800,000 to Mr. Zhang,
respectively. The perpetual bonds are redeemable at the
issuer's option on or after September 2028 and February 2029.

Interests are payable annually in arrears at a fixed rate of 4.5%
per annum, which may be deferred at the issuers’ discretion
and in which event, the Company and the issuers will not
declare or pay any interests or redeem, reduce, cancel or buy
back or otherwise acquire any of the Company’'s and/or the
issuer’s securities of lower or equal rank.

The Group is considered to have no contractual obligations to
call its principal or to pay any interests. The perpetual bonds
do not meet the definition of financial liabilities. They are
classified as equity instruments and any distributions made by
the Group to the holders are also recognised in equity in the
consolidated financial statements of the Group.
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R2023%F2H27H » AR BB FERIGR L
A B8 A HE 17,500,000 7T 2 K&

7202392 A24H + &R &l Skynova
International Limited ([ Skynova ) %
17 A 8E 950,000 T Z KEE ° 1T
AR[R2028F2 Ak 2 4B EERZE

R2023F9H7H ~ 2024F2H68 K
20242 A21H » KA A5 BlMA KL
A4 B 1T B HUB 6,000,000 T © B
1,000,0007T K /& #2,800,0007T Z 5k &
& o 21T AR 20284F9 A 202942
Rz BB 12ERZEKERS -

MEBRBEEFMEILNNEBFFRX
- ERTATRBEEERENE - ©
WIERT » RARRETATEERRK
IR AR S ER - BIR - R sH
Bl sk A B AT R EBERARR R,
BT ANBIEREZ R HIHE

AEBRAREANREEEEEANEX

SAEAFE - KBELTEESHE

BMEE  WESBEAERTAR  MA

SEAREAELNEADIRITAASE
B4R & B MR AR P HER -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB BT R I RE

For the year ended 30 June 2024 #;%20244F6 A30H [LF/E

29. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES 29. EEHIBBERE

AEERAFERIBNETCHEAEE

The followings are the deferred tax assets (liabilities)

recognised by the Group and movements thereon during the (BE)REZEFHET :
current year:

Intangible

assets

Right-of-use Lease arising on
assets liabilities acquisition Total

WESE

EEN
EREEE HEAR BYEE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT BT BETT
At 1 July 2022 202247818 - - (17,896) (17,896)
Adjustments (Note 2) BE(ME2) (19,131) 19,131 - -
At 1 July 2022 (restated) 202267 A1B (K E5)) (19,131) 19,131 (17,896) (17,896)

Credit (charge) to profit or SAER(BEENR)
loss (note 9) (FzE9) 9,012 (9,012) 4,469 4,469
Exchange adjustments fE AR 8 (8) 1,217 1,217
At 30 June 2023 (restated) 7202356 A30A (L2 E5) (10,111) 10,111 (12,210) (12,210)
Credit (charge) to profit or FAER(BERNR)

loss (note 9) i) 8,844 (8,844) 11,884 11,884
Exchange adjustments [& 5, 4 (4) 3 3
At 30 June 2024 7202456 A30H (1,263) 1,263 (323) (323)

The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for

BRAMBHRENRTEHBLHRN DN

financial reporting purposes: T
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BETIT
Deferred tax assets FRIETIHE E = -
Deferred tax liabilities ELEFIRAE (323) (12,210)
(323) (12,210)

BRREER A
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29. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES (continued)

Under the EIT Law, withholding tax is imposed on dividends
declared in respect of profits earned by the PRC subsidiaries
from 1 January 2008 onwards. Deferred taxation has not been
provided for in the consolidated financial statements in respect
of temporary differences attributable to undistributed earnings
of the Group's PRC subsidiaries as the Group is able to control
the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

As at 30 June 2024, the Group has unused tax losses of
HK$469,586,000 (2023: HK$455,044,000) available for
offset against future profits. No deferred tax asset has been
recognised in respect of tax losses of HK$469,586,000 (2023:
HK$455,044,000) due to the unpredictability of future profit
streams. Included in unrecognised tax losses are losses of
HK$72,219,000, HK$72,171,000, and HK$129,987,000 (2023:
HK$67,411,000, HK$74,009,000, and HK$72,950,000 will
expire in 2024, 2027 and 2028, respectively) that will expire
in 2027, 2028 and 2029, respectively. Other losses may be
carried forward indefinitely.

As at 30 June 2024, the Group has deductible temporary
differences of approximately HK$15,130,000 (2023:
HK$1,660,000). No deferred tax asset has been recognised in
relation to such deductible temporary differences as it is not
probable that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary difference can be utilised.
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9. EXEHBEE B @)

RECEMERE  PREWBAR®A
200841 A1 H B BELA) @ 7 FT E IR Y
BB ESMIBIRT - AEBEI AEE
NAEEPRWB AR ADREFOE
Fr =R RE SRR IRELERIE -
R B 72 7N 5 (B B 47 ) B 2 B 3 [ A s
R DA 2 5% BT B = BB 0 0] T8 R R 2R ] RE R
SO o

MR2024F6A308 @ ZEBEXRE B
TH 5518 78 £ 469,586,000 7T (2023 4
7 455,044,000 7T ) A VB4 $8 oK 2R %
F o PR G F R 2 Al TR - A
& B0 R B A IR B 185 6 469,586,000
7 (20234 : 7 ¥ 455,044,000 7T ) FE
RELRBEE - AERREABES
B 5 RIF2027F ~ 20284 [22029F
fE i 2 B 1878 % 72,219,0007T ~ B
72,171,000 7T X /& # 129,987,000 7T
(2023 % : B#67,411,0007C © B
74,009,000 7T X 7 ¥ 72,950,000 7T 2
Bl #5 7R 2024 F - 2027 &£ & 2028 4 f&
W) o BB e R ARAE o

R2024%F6 A30H » NEEA AT K

R | 2 RE A7 515,130,000t (2023

& 1 B#1,660,0007T) ° AR AR BE

5 B FR T ) LA B A 85 AT $0BR B 1

O MWERABAIRER =R
RIELERIBEE ©



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB BT R I RE

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% 2024F6 A308 [FF[E

30. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS 30.

The Company’s share option scheme (the “Scheme”) was
approved and adopted by the sole shareholder on 5 October
2012 for the primary purpose to grant options to eligible
persons as incentives or rewards for their contribution to the
Group.

Under the Scheme, the board of directors of the Company
may, at its discretion, grant options pursuant to the Scheme
to the Directors (including executive directors, non-executive
directors and independent non-executive directors),
employees, advisors and consultants of the Company and
its subsidiaries who the board of directors of the Company
considers, in its absolute discretion, have contributed or will
contribute to the Group (the “Participants™).

The total numbers of shares in respect of which options may
be granted under the Scheme is not permitted to exceed 10%
of the shares of the Company in issue at any point in time,
without prior approval from the Company's shareholders. The
number of shares issued and to be issued in respect of which
options granted and may be granted to any individual in any
one year is not permitted to exceed 1% of the shares of the
Company in issue at any point in time, without prior approval
from the Company’s shareholders.

The Scheme was valid and effective for a period of 10 years
commencing on 5 October 2012, and was expired on 5
October 2022.

URBAERTRNR S

AAFRBRERTE ([ZEE]) R
201210 A5 A &M — R R HLE KK
W EEZEMAREGERATELER
- EAREHAEEELBERINEE
g [El 5 o

RiEZE > ARAEFEARBRE
ZAtEAEEERREAREFEL K
BIELERMES(BRAUTES  3F
WITESNBIIFRTES) - ARA
REMBRARNEES  BRREAAL
(T28%E )X HBGE -

REARNBIRRE LI - RIBZTE
A A R AR A8 I MO AR (D 4R BTN 15 R
BARRNBEAEHRE ZTRDAI10% ©
REARNBRREBLAAE - RER—F
R EERA A B H R AR 8B AEFT
HREEETREBITHROEE ~F
FBIBARD AR D BTN EI1 % ©

Z:TEIB2012F10 A E#EF+FRA
W WER2022510 AcH#EE »
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31. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to the shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group's
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of cash and cash
equivalents, bank and other borrowings, loans from related
companies, lease liabilities, perpetual bonds and equity
attributable to owners of the Company, comprising share
capital and reserves.

Management reviews the capital structure on a regular basis.
As part of this review, management considers the cost of
capital and the risks associated with each class of capital.
Based on recommendations of management, the Group will
balance its overall capital structure through the payment of
dividends, new share issues as well as the issue of new debt
or the redemption of existing debt.
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EXRERER

AEEEREAGARRASEEER
FERZE  WHEBERERERENR
EFamARRERZAODR - AEH
MRS FFRARL R TR -

AEENEAGRERASIREEFE
W RITREMER  KEEBHARE
R HERE  KEBERARATEEA
e s (RIERARFHEE) -
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—#n  EEEEZREARAREE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire BRI

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% 2024F6 A308 [FF[E

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 32. e IT H
2024 2023
2024 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BEET T
Financial assets SREE
Financial assets at amortised cost BEHEKNAFTENEREE 200,759 200,807
Financial assets at FVTPL BEAYEE ABREN
TREE 10,156 21,463
Financial liabilities EA- =R
Financial liabilities at amortised cost Rk AT EN LR EE 352,671 354,581
Financial liabilities at FVTPL BAYEF ABRN
SRAE 130,453 132,330

The Group’'s major financial instruments include
rental deposits, trade and other receivables, wealth
management products, restricted bank balances,
pledged bank deposits, bank balances, trade and other
payables, loans from related companies, bank and other
borrowings, contingent consideration payable and lease
liabilities. Details of these financial instruments are
disclosed in the respective notes. The risks associated
with the Group’s financial instruments include market
risk (including currency risk, interest rate risk and other
price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies
on how to mitigate these risks are set out below.
Management manages and monitors these exposures
to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a
timely and effective manner.

AEENIECHTARKERE
Be  EHREMBUKRE ¥
BEEEM XERHIRTER

BEEMRITER - RITEH - &
HREMBEMNRER - RERBA

AIEER ~ RITREMER - &
NHAREBEREERE - &ZF2
BTANFBREBMERE -
ERASEeRITANRRBE
mizER(BREEERR - FIEE
e R EAMERRR) - FEERRK
mBE SRR o B REMEDREZ
FRBHBEINTX - BEE
EERERZFRAR - BEREE
BAEMMRBUEE 6
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iRe WIS

For the year ended 30 June 2024 #;%20244F6 A30H [LF/E

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

32b. Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Market risk

Currency risk

Currency risk is the risk that the future cash flows of a
financial instrument will fluctuate as a result of changes
in foreign exchange rates.

At the end of the reporting period, the carrying amount of

32.

€@ T Rum

32b. eREMMEEEERBEK

(%)

™35 & B

B @b
EXREBRReRIANRRRS
B A S FE T K B B) T R B AT EE
EHI R

RBEHR - KEIKB QR A

the monetary items of the group companies, which are MAENEEERREENT :
denominated in foreign currencies, are as follows:
Assets
BE

2024 2023
202445 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT
usD ES 704 697

No sensitivity analysis is presented as management
considered the Group's foreign exchange exposure is
insignificant.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire BRI

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% 2024F6 A308 [FF[E

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Market risk (Continued)

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future
cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market interest rates.

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in
relation to fixed rate restricted bank balances, pledged
bank deposits, fixed rate bank and other borrowings,
loans from related companies and lease liabilities (see
notes 20, 24, 25 and 26 for details of these balances,
respectively).

In addition, the Group is also exposed to cash flow
interest rate risk in relation to variable-rate bank balances.

If interest rate had been 50 basis points (2023: 50 basis
points) higher for variable-rate bank balances and bank
borrowings, and all other variables were held constant,
the impact to the Group's loss for the year would
be as follows. For a 50 basis points (2023: 50 basis
points) lower for variable-rate bank balances and bank
borrowings, and all other variables were held constant,
there would be an equal and opposite impact on the
Group's loss for the year.

Decrease in loss for the year FABERD

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is
unrepresentative of the inherent interest rate risk as the
year end exposure does not reflect the exposure during
the year.

32. €@ I B

5 & ke )

FI = 7 ez

MNERB AL TENAFEL
ARBEEREBEMIZF EEDH)
ifn B3R F B AV RS ©

RNEBEEHEBEEEFEZR G
BITHE  BEMBERITER
EAMERITREMBER - RE
BARMERLEEEENATF
BEFERR(ZEEHAFED R
2R 5520 ~ 24 - 251%26) °

Be5h - A B I E B A B B R
FRTEBHE LRFEER -

s ) Z B R IR 1T R LA R SR AT 1B
FREYF = _E A 501EZEE S, (20234
50MEES) - BFTAHMESRIF
N RIA T AE RSB RS
EBBENTZE - WFEFIRRIT
R DA ISR 1T 18 BT PR 50 & £ 2h
(20234 : 5OfEEZ,) - BEFTEE
EERFTIE - AEAFEAR
SEEEKBESERERNFE -

2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$’000 HK$'000
BT T BEET T
245 264

EEERR  BRBEDSNMTER
KEBMNERE  HRFRER
W REREF AR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire BRI

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% 2024F6 A308 [FF[E

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Market risk (Continued)
Other price risk

The Group is exposed to price risk in respect of its wealth
management products issued by banks, investment
in film and TV series producers at FVTPL, contingent
consideration payable and investment funds from
investors at FVTPL. The above financial instruments
are exposed to price risk because of changes in market
prices, where changes are caused by factors specific
to the individual financial instruments or their issuers,
or factors affecting all similar financial instruments
traded in the market. The fair value change of wealth
management products issued by banks is not considered
to be significant taking into account the short-term
duration of such wealth management products, while for
other financial instruments measured at fair value, the
sensitivity analysis of which has been disclosed in the
fair value measurement information in the consolidated

financial statements.

Credit risk and impairment assessment

At 30 June 2024, the Group’s maximum exposure
to credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the
Group due to failure to discharge an obligation by the
counterparties is arising from the carrying amount of the
respective recognised financial assets as stated in the

consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group performed impairment assessment for
financial assets at amortised cost under ECL model.
Information about the Group’'s credit risk management,
maximum credit risk exposures and the related
impairment assessment, if applicable, are summarised as

below:
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB BT R I RE

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% 2024F6 A308 [FF[E

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 32. £ T REmw

Credit risk and impairment assessment

(Continued)

Trade receivables arising from contracts with customers
In order to minimise the credit risk, the Group has a credit
control policy in place under which credit evaluations
of customers are performed on all customers requiring
credit. Other monitoring procedures are in place to
ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue
debts. In addition, the Directors closely monitor the credit
quality of those counterparties and perform impairment
assessment under ECL model on trade balances
individually or based on provision matrix.

The Group measures the loss allowance on trade
receivables at an amount equal to lifetime ECL. Reversal
of impairment loss on trade receivables of HK$98,000
(2023: reversal of impairment loss on trade receivables
of HK$2,195,000) is recognised during the year. Details
of the quantitative disclosures are set out below in this
note.

Other receivables and rental deposits

The credit quality of other receivables and rental
deposits has been assessed with reference to
historical information about the financial position of
the counterparties. The Directors closely monitor the
credit quality of those counterparties and consider those
amounts are of a good credit quality in view of the good
historical repayment record of such parties. The Group
performs impairment assessment under ECL model
under HKFRS 9 on these balances individually or on a
collective basis.

=& B ba KRB RE (#)

EFEHMELZ B S EWFR
REARREEERR  AEE
REEEERIBER - LRILE AR
ERECEREZRPENTEPR
EEE - AEEREHEMEE
B NERFEURETERE
BHER - I EETYER
ZEHFINEEER - BEE
I ERBREEENE S ERE
THEBEEBEREARETHRE
BRER

AEEREEREBHEHEES
BN BETEESRRFTEZE
BEE  FACERE BN
TE 7 {8 /&5 18 #& 3] & # 98,000 7T
(20234 : B 5 R IER BB
18 £ [0 & #2,195,0007T) ° E=
WEERENAMET

E M H R REE
HEKRHBEREERENEE
BRD2EFHE T HHBERN
B EERHMEL G - EFEEY)
ERZEHFINEREER A
ERERRI 7T MBEERTER
Rif EERR/REFEANGEE
BERY - AKRERBEFEWH
BEEFSFIRAREEFER
ARZFERZERREEELE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB BT R I RE

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% 2024F6 A308 [FF[E

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 32. £ T REmw

Credit risk and impairment assessment

(Continued)

Other receivables and rental deposits (Continued)

For the purpose of impairment assessment of other
receivables and rental deposits, the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equals to 12m ECL, unless
there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, in which case the Group recognises
lifetime ECL. In determining the expected credit losses
for these assets, the Directors have taken into account
the financial position of the counterparties, the industries
they operate, as well as their latest available operating
results, in estimating the probability of default of each of
these financial assets occurring within their respective
loss assessment time horizon, as well as the loss upon
default in each case.

Restricted bank balances, pledged bank deposits and
bank balances

Credit risk on pledged bank deposits, restricted bank
balances and bank balances is limited because the
counterparties are reputable banks with high credit
ratings in the PRC and Hong Kong.

The Group assessed 12m ECL for pledged bank deposits,
restricted bank balances and bank balances by reference
to information relating to probability of default and loss
given default of the respective credit rating grades
published by external credit rating agencies. Based
on the average loss rates, the ECL on pledged bank
deposits, restricted bank balances and bank balances is
considered to be insignificant.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB BT R I RE

For the year ended 30 June 2024 #;%20244F6 A30H [LF/E

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 32. €T REmw

Credit risk and impairment assessment FEER N BE @)
(Continued)

Restricted bank balances, pledged bank deposits and
bank balances (Continued)

The Group's internal credit risk grading assessment

RIRFRiTHES  CEBRTF
KR IRTTAEER ()
AEENAEERRFREE

comprises the following categories: AT 4851
Internal Trade Other
credit rating Descriptions receivables financial assets
WS B R A g5 EWFE HitemEE
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default  Lifetime ECL - 12m ECL
not credit-impaired
v HFANENRRRIE SHREBEERE- 12@AERSBEEER
WAREEEERE
Doubtful There have been significant increases in Lifetime ECL - Lifetime ECL -
credit risk since initial recognition through  not credit-impaired not credit-
information developed internally or impaired
external resources
5 BEAKERSIINIER - FERREYSR 2DEBEEEE- 2HEHEERE-
TR R IR N WAREBEEEERE  EARELEEERE
Loss There is evidence indicating Lifetime ECL - Lifetime ECL -
the asset is credit-impaired credit-impaired credit-impaired
BB RRBRREELRIEERE FHEMEERE- 2HREEEEE-
BEEEERA EHREEERE
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the Amount is written ~ Amount is written
debtor is in severe financial difficulty and off off
the Group has no realistic prospect of
recovery
gz ERBREREBABRAERMBEE - WEHRIA MeEIE

BREE Y BERR A s @ 5B

BIRIREBR AT 2023/24 F#
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB BT R I RE

For the year ended 30 June 2024 #;%20244F6 A30H [LF/E

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 32. €T REmw

32b. eREMMEEEERBEK

(%)

32b. Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment FEER N BE @)
(Continued)

Restricted bank balances, pledged bank deposits and
bank balances (Continued)

The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of

the Group's financial assets, which are subject to ECL

RIRFRITHER  EEARITF
KR IRTTAEER ()

TREJAEEERMEERER
HEEEBRFENEERRFS

226

assessment:
External Internal 12m or
credit credit lifetime Gross
rating rating ECL carrying amount
128528
M EEFR REETR BHEERR BEEE
2024 2023
20245 2023%F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Firsk BT  B¥TT
Financial assets at amortised cost
RBERATENSREE
Trade receivables 18 N/A  Low risk (note a) Lifetime ECL 54,393 31,722
B SEME TER  EBER(MEH) 2HESBESEESR
Other receivables 18 N/A Low risk (note b) 12m ECL 39,380 7,637
Hi IR TER  EER(MED) 2EAEBEEESE
N/A Doubtful (note b) Lifetime ECL 17,625 17,790
A Ga(lse) 2HEHEEER
Rental deposits 18 N/A  Low risk (note b) 12m ECL 10,966 17,450
HERS TER  EER(MEL) 2EAEBHEESE
Restricted bank balances - AA N/A (note ¢) 12m ECL 534 520
RRBIRITES NEA(MEe) 12@AEHEEHE
Pledged bank deposits 20 AA N/A (note c) 12m ECL 20,678 42,271
BEERRITER TaB(Mse) 12ABSBEEER
Bank balances and cash 21 AA+ N/A (note ¢) 12m ECL 58,988 85,108
RITEHREAS NER(MEe) 12@AEHEEHE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

EYN:

PSRRI L

wINE 7

For the year ended 30 June 2024 #;%20244F6 A30H [LF/E

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

(Continued)

Restricted bank balances, pledged bank deposits and
bank balances (Continued)

Notes:

allowance at lifetime ECL. Except for debtors with
significant outstanding balances in which ECL is assessed
individually, the Group determines the ECL on these items
by using a provision matrix, grouped by internal credit

rating.

b. For the purposes of the internal credit risk management,
the Group uses past due information to assess whether
credit risk has increased significantly since initial

recognition.

As at 30 June 2024, the balances of certain other
receivables are past due and the internal credit rating is
considered as doubtful, the remaining other receivables
and rental deposits are not past due and the internal credit

rating is considered as low risk.

ch The Group did not provide any 12m ECL on restricted bank
balances, pledged bank deposits and bank balances as the

amount is insignificant.

For trade receivables, the Group has applied the
simplified approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss

32. €M I AEum)

=& B ba KRB RE (#)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire BRI

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% 2024F6 A308 [FF[E

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

(Continued)

Restricted bank balances, pledged bank deposits and
bank balances (Continued)

The following table shows the movement in ECL that has
been recognised for trade and other receivables.

At 1 July 2022 7202297818
Impairment losses reversed 2 & EFEER

At 30 June 2023 2023F6 A30H
Impairment losses recognised B &R REEIE
Impairment losses reversed 2 & EFEERE

At 30 June 2024 R2024F6 530H

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group
monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash
equivalents deemed adequate by management to
finance the Group's operations and mitigate the effects
of fluctuations in cash flows. Management monitors
the utilisation of bank borrowings and other sources of
funding and considers the risk is minimal.

The following tables provide details of the Group's
remaining contractual maturity for its non-derivative
financial liabilities based on the agreed repayment
terms. The tables have been drawn up based on the
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on
the earliest dates on which the Group can be required to
pay. The tables include both interest and principal cash
flows.
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12m ECL

1216 A T8 HA
=EER
HK$'000
BT

648
(166)

482
312

794

=& B ba KRB RE (#)

RIRFRiTHES  CEBRTF
KR IRTTAEER ()

TRIRHE 5 5 H A 8 W IA
EANRREEBENEDIEN -

Lifetime ECL
(not credit-
impaired) Total
ZHIFEHEE
B8 (& IR
=ERE) 5T
HK$'000 HK$'000
PEHET T PEME T T
3,304 3,952
(2,195) (2,361)
1,109 1,591
- 312
(98) (98)
1,011 1,805
REESRKE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ArE MR

For the year ended 30 June 2024 & Z2024F6 A30H L FE

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 32. $RtT R
32b. Financial risk management objectives 32b. EFEMREEBEREEE
and policies (continued) ()
Liquidity risk (Continued) nBEERERE @)
On
demand or 3 months Total
Interest less than to 1-2 2-5 undiscounted Carrying
ratt 3 months 1year years years  cash flows amount
BEXY RERRE

M2 ORSER  SEAEME 152F 558 REAR BEE
% HK'000  HK'000 HKO0O  HKOOO  HKO0D HK'000
BETT ARt A¥Tm BB MR MR

At 30 June 2024 2024567308
Trade and other payables Z5REAMENTE - 186,860 - - - 186,860 186,860
Bank and other borrowings i 10.00-15.00 28,892 29,966 58,858 51,522
Loans from related companies  REEELAIHER 450-7.00 36,569 - 52,530 25,481 114,580 108,289
Contingent consideration payable  FE[ZIARE - 130,453 - - - 130,453 130,453
Subtotal It 382,774 29,966 52,530 25,481 490,751 483,124
Lease liahilities HERE 6.00 5,683 1,623 1,992 982 10,280 9,291
Total it 388,457 31,589 54,522 26,463 501,031 492,415
At 30 June 2023 R2023E6A30A
Trade and other payables REEHATENEAR

atamortised cost RiRA5E - 172,891 - - - 172,891 172,891
Bank and other borrowings BAREMHER 340-15.00 38,508 62,957 - - 101,465 9,306
Loans from related companies ~ REFBARHER 450-7.00 9,204 - 27,690 54,304 91,218 83,384
Contingent consideration payable  EEf1(E% - 131,672 - - - 131,672 125,850
Investment funds from AT B ABRRE

investors at FVTPL REZNRERS - - 6,480 - - 6,480 6,480
Subtotal It 362,29 69,437 21,690 h4,304 503,726 486,911
Lease liahilities HERE 6.00 21,110 63,400 6,9% 2,654 94,158 90,128
Total 5t 373,405 132,837 34,684 56,958 597,884 577,039
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire BRI

For the year ended 30 June 2024 #;%20244F6 A30H [LF/E

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value measurements of financial

instruments

32. €M I AEum)

Fair value of the Group's financial assets and financial
liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring

basis

The following table gives information about how the fair
values of these financial assets and financial liabilities are
determined (in particular, the valuation techniques and
inputs used) as well as the level of the fair value hierarchy
into which the fair value measurements are categorised
(levels 1 to 3) based on the degree to which the inputs to
the fair value measurements is observable.

Financial assets/
financial liabilities
SREE/
SREE

Financial assets at FVTPL
(note 19)

BATEABRZ
SREE(MH9)

Fair value as at
RTSIRBNATE
2024 2023
2024F  2023F
HK$'000  HK$'000
BETr  BETR
8,202 10,850

Fair value
hierarchy

AVEER

Level 2

?‘Hi
|
e
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Valuation techniques
and key inputs
HERTR
IEBAEE

Discounted cash flow. Future cash
flows are estimated hased on
the contractual terms of wealth
management products and

ERMTENAFETE

UEE IR B N FE BN
EETHEERTBRENRF
=]
TREREHETZSTREE
rEBBENAFEZITA(LE
PR BERM LB ARBR) 2
BERARREAFEERABE
ZAEBRBEEMRE D 2 A FER
FIKF(BE—ZE=R)2EH -

Significant Relationship of
unobservable unobservable
inputs inputs to fair value
TEFTEE FUERHARE
BAHE RATENEE

N/A N/A

discounted at a rate that reflects the

credit risk of the counterparties.

Z

HARLRE - REMECRERNAHN TER TER
BHRRBRET L EERRNX AR

LEAARRERE



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB BT R I RE

For the year ended 30 June 2024 #;%20244F6 A30H [LF/E

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 32. €M T R
32b. Financial risk management objectives 32b. EFEMREEBEREEE
and policies (continued) ()
Fair value measurements of financial ERMITENAFETE@
instruments (Continued)
Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and financial KB B B EG N FEZ AN
liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring ERHEERSE B EAAF
basis (Continued) 1B (4#)
Significant Relationship of
Financial assets/ Fairvalue  Valuation techniques unobservable unobservable
financial liabilities Fairvalueasat  hierarchy  and key inputs inputs inputs to fair value
SRHEE/ HERTR IEFTEE TUBERASE
tRER RTIBBNATE AVEER TEBAHE BAHE EAVENBR
2024 2023

2024F  2023F
HK$'000  HK$'000

BT AT
Investment in film and TV 1,954 10,613 Level 3 Discounted cash flow. Future cash Discount rate Note (i)
series producers flows are estimated hased on the
at FVTPL contractual terms and discounted at
a rate that reflects the credit risk of
the counterparties.
BATESABRLEZR E=0 ERRENE  RESNKIRRHMET HRX )]
SREIREARE FEERRMEELREEHARRS
ik
Investment funds from - 6,480 Level3 Discounted cash flow. Future cash Discount rate Note (ii
investors at FVTPL flows are estimated based on the
contractual terms and discounted at
a rate that reflects the credit risk of
the counterparties.
BEATEGABRRE E=R EREenE BEANKIRRBET HHRX k(i)
REENREES TEERRMFERREEHARTS
E

BIRREBR R F] 2023/24 3 231
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iRe WIS

For the year ended 30 June 2024 #;%20244F6 A30H [LF/E

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

32. €M I AEum)

32b. Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Fair value measurements of financial

instruments (Continued)
Fair value of the Group's financial assets and financial
liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring

LA, Sk

32b. EELE T

(%)

BEEERBEK

EMIENAFETE@

AR B N PR B AR
EETHEERTBRENRF

basis (Continued) 1B (%)
Significant Relationship of
Financial assets/ Fairvalue  Valuation techniques unobservable unobservable
financial liabilities Fairvalueasat  hierarchy  and key inputs inputs inputs to fair value
SHEE/ TERTR IEFTRE ELEL N &
tRER RTFIREHATE ATEER IEBRANE PN ¢ EAVENBR
2024 2023
04%F  2023%
HK$'000  HK$'000
L L
Contingent consideration 130,453 125,850 Level 3 Discounted cash flow method was used Discount rate Note (iii)
payable to capture the present value of the
expected cash outflows arising from
the contingent consideration payable,
based on an appropriate discount
rate.
ERZARE E REEEERL RRAMRREREER HERX B B i)

(R EENAARERELNESR S

LRI -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire BRI

For the year ended 30 June 2024 #;%20244F6 A30H [LF/E

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value measurements of financial

instruments (Continued)

Fair value of the Group's financial assets and financial
liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring
basis (Continued)

Notes:

(i) A slight increase in the discount rate used in isolation
would result in a slight decrease in the fair value
measurement of the investment in film and TV series
producers at FVTPL, and vice versa. A 5% increase/
decrease in the discount rate holding all other variables
constant would decrease/increase the carrying amount of
investment in film and TV series producers at FVTPL by
HK$6,000 as at 30 June 2024 (2023: HK$32,000).

(i) A slight increase in the discount rate used in isolation
would result in a slight decrease in the fair value
measurement of the investment funds from investors at
FVTPL, and vice versa. A 5% increase/decrease in the
discount rate holding all other variables constant would
decrease/increase the carrying amount of investment
funds from investors at FVTPL by nil as at 30 June 2024
(2023: HK$20,000).

(i) A slight increase in the discount rate used in isolation
would result in a slight decrease in the fair value
measurement of the contingent consideration payable,
and vice versa.

32. €M I AEum)

T EMNAFETE @)

SR E MR BRI FE B
EETHEERTBRENRF
B (%)
PiI5E -

(i)  FTAABLIR R (@ RIS k18 0 i 28
BMEAFEFABEZZEE R
BREIBEIEARENAFERT
EEYMTER RZ2ITFA R
202468308 « fEATH HAi
BELFTENBERT @ Wk
WREF/ TES @ HAFE
AABEZEYREREIRIE
ABRENETERBSRD
I #6,0007T (20234 : B
32,0007T) °

(i) BT AL IR =R (@ RIS £k 18 0 o 28
BMIEAFEFABEREERE
EMHREAESHWAFEFEE
TRBE » RZ IR - 1R2024 %5
6A30R  TEFTA HME S 4§
BTAEMNBRAT @ MEER £
At/ T#E% » RAFET AR
HRAREENREES R
EEKERD ENEETT
(20234 : ##20,0007T) °

(iii) P PR BR 3R o (A B S HOE NS E

BENIAREBOAFEFE
BTN - RZIFA »

BIRIREBR AT 2023/24 F#
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iRe WIS

For the year ended 30 June 2024 & Z2024F6 A30H L FE

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

32b. Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continued)

Fair value measurements of financial

instruments (Continued)

Fair value of the Group's financial assets and financial
liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring
basis (Continued)

The following table represents the reconciliation of level

32. €M I AEum)
2b. cREREEBZERBEK

()
EMIENAFETE@

SR E MR BRI FE B
EEcHEERTHABNLF
E(&)

TRR/E-RAFEAENHEE

3 fair value measurements:

Purchased

call option

SR E e

HK$°000

BT T

At 1 July 2022 R20229F7 818 3,576
Fair value change in profit or loss REZHPHRATEES (3,423)
Exchange adjustments b (153)
At 30 June 2023 712023%F6 A30H =
Investment

in film and

TV series

producers

at FVTPL

RAYE

FTAEREZ

BEXRERE

BEARE

HK$'000

BT T

At 1 July 2022 M202267A/18 11,909
Addition #hig 448
Settlement A (843)
Exchange adjustments b (901)
At 30 June 2023 720236 A30H 10,613
Settlement LN (8,640)
Exchange adjustments ME H JE R (19)
At 30 June 2024 720246 H30H 1,954
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iRe WIS

For the year ended 30 June 2024 & Z2024F6 A30H L FE

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

32b. Financial risk management objectives

and policies (continued)

Fair value measurements of financial

instruments (Continued)

32. €M I AEum)

Fair value of the Group's financial assets and financial
liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring

basis (Continued)

The following table represents the reconciliation of level

3 fair value measurements: (Continued)

32b. TR AR EE B BERBR

EMIENAFETE@

SR E MR BRI FE B
EEcHEERTHABNLF
E(&)
TRRBRE=ZRARATFEFENY
iR (8

Investment
funds from
investors

at FVTPL
RAYE
sTABRRE
BREEN
REES
HK$°000
BT T

At 1 July 2022
Reclassification

7202257818
ERbak |

6,480

At 30 June 2023
Repaid

7R2023%F6530H
BER

6,480
(6,480)

At 30 June 2024

72024%F6530H

BIRREBR R F] 2023/24 3
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iRe WIS

For the year ended 30 June 2024 & Z2024F6 A30H L FE

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

32b. Financial risk management objectives
and policies (continued)

Fair value measurements of financial

instruments (Continued)

Fair value of the Group's financial assets and financial
liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring
basis (Continued)

The following table represents the reconciliation of level
3 fair value measurements: (Continued)

32. €M I AEum)

32b. TR AR EE B BERBR

()
EMIENAFETE@

AR B N PR B AR
EETHEERTBRENRF
E(&)
TRRBRE=ZRARATFEFENY
iR (8

Contingent

consideration

payable

EASRAKE

HK$°000

BT T

At 1 July 2022 R2022%F7 818 127,509
Fair value change in profit or loss RiBZR A ERE) 8,538
Exchange adjustments P& 3 FH (10,197)
At 30 June 2023 7202346 A30H 125,850
Fair value change in profit or loss REZEFHRFEES 5,823
Exchange adjustments PE 5 FH (1,220)
At 30 June 2024 R2024%F6 530H 130,453
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire BRI

For the year ended 30 June 2024 #;%20244F6 A30H [LF/E

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value measurements of financial
instruments (Continued)

Fair value of the Group's financial assets and financial
liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring

basis (Continued)

The contingent consideration payable measured at fair
value on Level 3 fair value measurement represents
contingent consideration payable relating to the
acquisition of Khorgas Group. Fair value change on
contingent consideration payable is charged to profit
or loss. As at 30 June 2024, the Group recognised a
provision of HK$16,791,000 (2023: HK$10,700,000) in
respect of the arbitral award against Guangzhou Daide
from a former shareholder of Khorgas Houhai in relation
to a claim of its portion of contingent consideration

payable, after taking into account legal advice.

Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities that
are not measured at fair value on a recurring basis (but

fair value disclosures are required)

Management considers that the carrying amounts of
financial assets and financial liabilities measured at
amortised cost recognised in the consolidated financial

statements approximate their fair values.

32. €M I AEum)

T EMNAFETE @)

AR I BB NN T EFE AR
EFHEERTHBEHLF
& (&)
RIEBEF=HAFEFAERATE
AENENRAREBEREER
EHMEEEBEOENRARE -
FEASKARENRFELENIE
AR - R2024F6 A30H -
AEBREREEER% - 5tH
ERRITEEAREREIMNE
EREIBESFSPENIARE
CHENMHEEAEREBES
#16,791,0007T (20234 : B
10,700,0007T) °

WHUEEFURE RN FEAE
(MEREH N FERKE) AT BE
ERTEAENAFE

EEERREEMBEHRRAER
REBHKAGENESREERS
BAENREERE QN FERS -

BIRIREBR AT 2023/24 F#
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB BT R I RE

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% 2024F6 A308 [FF[E

33. RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS 33. RIKEFIFHE

The Group participates in MPF Scheme for all its
qualifying employees in Hong Kong under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance (“MPF Ordinance").
The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from
those of the Group in funds under the control of trustees.
Under the rule of the MPF Scheme, the employer and
its employees are each required to make contributions
to the scheme at rates specified in the rules. The only
obligation of the Group with respect of MPF Scheme
is to make the required contributions under the MPF
Scheme. No forfeited contribution is available to reduce
the contribution payable in the future years as at 30 June
2024 (2023: nil).

The contribution to the MPF Scheme is calculated based
on the rules set out in MPF Ordinance which is 5% on the
basic salary of the relevant employee subject to a specific
ceiling of HK$1,500.

The Group’'s employees employed in the PRC are
members of the state-managed retirement benefits
scheme operated by the PRC government. The PRC
subsidiary is required to contribute a certain percentage
of its payroll to the retirement benefits scheme to fund
the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with
respect to the retirement benefits scheme is to make the
required contributions under the scheme. No forfeited
contribution is available to reduce the contribution
payable in the future years as at 30 June 2024 (2023: nil).

ANEER RS IERTES T BE
BRI AEH ) BEB AR
EENESEREELHE—HBRE
SrtE c BB EMEERR
EEEENARKAE WHIFTA
| o IRIFRBESFTEIMRA
BERHEESAAKRRAEE
HILL R M AT B - NEE ¥ 8
BertdlmE—RERERE
SEFEIEL T 5K o 120244
68308 « IS LA AR AT 40
A R 4F S B A 3R (2023 4F
/) o

HaaRe st S NERDRERE
T GROIEIIR AN E - BVAAREE
BEEAFHFTHL% @ ERAX B
1,6007CH5 € LR AR I ©

FEHRHEEANAEBEE AT
BB T B R B R E EIRKEF
T2l E - FEKBARA
ZEBEIENETEDLARAK
BT EE R R - MIREER
B o REBBREBKRERE
ME—E TR EEL TR 4
oo MR2024%6H30R - WED
SR U A 3R BT BB YRR R TR R Y
FEfHEFR (20234 : #) -

The total cost of HK$2,273,000 (2023: HK$3,135,000) charged FFAIE &= /AR AN B % 2,273,000 7T
to profit or loss represents contributions paid or payable to the (20234 : #&#3,135,0007T ) FEANEH
above schemes by the Group for the year ended 30 June 2024. REZE2024%F6 A308 IEFE [ Ealist

SN HEN SR -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB BT R I RE

For the year ended 30 June 2024 #;%20244F6 A30H [LF/E

34. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING 4. MEEHELENEBZHER
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities TRFABMEEDEENASEERES
arising from financing activities, including both cash and non- B pEAeRIIFRCEE  HEEH
cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are EENBERRASERAHESRER
those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, FEASSesBAEREETHRERE
classified in the Group's consolidated statement of cash flows MEBESTRERARKESRENAE -

as cash flows from financing activities.

Prepayment
of bond interest
included in Loans from Bank and
trade and other Bonds related other Lease
receivables payable companies horrowings liabilities Total
FAEAR
b WA RE
E5HEH BRLAAN #R
RAff30E EfEs £ EfpfeR HEEE st

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT AT AT AT AT AT
(Note 25 (Note 24) (Note 26
(HtzE2s) (Htztoa) (Hitz20)

At 1 July 2022 R022E7518 yIy) 14,258 40670 109,101 178,901 U317
Financing cash flows HERENE - (15,016) 45,300 (8,874 (97,591 (76,181)
Interests accrued I8 - 516 3220 7241 7613 18,590
Exchange adjustments S - - (4,856 (8,498 (1,155 (14,500)
New lease entered BiUMiEE - - - - 4,693 4693
Termination of lease REE - - - - (2,333) 2,333)
Transfers b (242) 1) - - - -
(Gain on modification of financial liabilties CHE e - - (950) (664) - (1,614
At 30 June 2023 120236 A30R - - 83384 98306 90,128 7818
Financing cash flows iEnenE - - 21585 (46,472) (77,656 (102,543)
Settlement with rental deposits WHRERERE - - - - (6,681) (6,681)
Iterests accrued FEErRIS - - 4,339 6,652 3,098 14,089
Exchange adjustments ERHE - - (1,019) (964) (37) (2,020)
New lease entered BHUMHEE - - - - 966 966
Termination of lease ALLEE - - - - (527) (527)
At 30 June 2024 1A2024%6A30R - - 108,289 51522 9,291 175,102
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iRe WIS

For the year ended 30 June 2024 #;%20244F6 A30H [LF/E

35. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES AND

BEBITRERETERRS

MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTION X5
(I) Transactions (n x5
During the year, the Group entered into the following TR NEBEREETEI AT
significant transactions with related parties: BEARS :
Name of related parties Nature of transaction 2024 2023
)y XEME 2024 20234F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
P E BT T BT
Guangzhou Puji (a) Interest expenses 4,339 3,220
M E K2 F SR
Skynova (b)  Interest income - 135
BEME & FEWA
Notes: FiaE

(a)  The amounts represented the interest expenses for the

loan advances to the Group from Guangzhou Puiji.

(b)  The interest income was received from Skynova for the

loan provides to Skynova which are beneficially owned by

Mr. Zhang.

(I1) Balances

Details of loans from related companies are set out in

note 25.

TRANSMIT ENTERTAINMENT LIMITED Annual Report 2023/24

(a) ZEREEEMERAAEEE
HEVERBFRNF SR

(b)  FZ A E U A ThEE R Skynova B
#t & X M @ Skynova 4z BX -

Skynovam iR S 4E

(1) #5&R

BEmEA -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB BT R I RE

For the year ended 30 June 2024 #;%20244F6 A30H [LF/E

35. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES AND B.EEITRERETEHFRR S
MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTION (continued) X5 (@)

During the year ended 30 June 2024, the Group entered #HE2024F6A30H ILFE © K

into certain new lease agreements for the use of leased SERFERBEEME LA TH

property for 2-5 years (2023: 2-5 years). Further detail of HEWZ - AH2E5F (20234 :

the renew lease is set out in note 14. 2%5%F)  c HAEEMEE— T

BENIEE14 -

During the year ended 30 June 2024, the Group settled B E2024F6 A30H ILFE © &K
some lease liabilities with rental deposits amounting to EEREEYENTRERSBE
HK$6,681,000 for Lease Premises. Further detail of the 6,681,000 BEHHHERE °
transaction is set out in note 18. EERSIME—TFBEEHRHME
18 °
The remuneration of directors and other key FR BEERALEEHGBETEE
management personnel of the Group during the year was BABMFHMEIIOT
as follows:
2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BRI
Salaries and other allowances e N E A ERL 5,780 9,628
Retirement benefit scheme RIKBEFFT 2R
contributions 334 735
6,114 10,263
The remuneration of directors and other key EENEMTIEEE ABAEE
management personnel is determined by the HAAREFHEZEEREEMA
remuneration committee of the Company having regard RE RIS BET o

to the performance of individuals and market trends.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB BT R I RE

For the year ended 30 June 2024 #;%20244F6 A30H [LF/E

36. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 36. & A B BMR T
THE COMPANY

2024 2023
20244 20234
NOTE HK$'000 HK$'000
B E BT T BEETFIT

Non-current assets ERBEE
Investments in subsidiaries KRB AR ZIRE 47,198 66,113
Plant and equipment W= N R 1 1
Right-of-use assets FRAEEE 805 327
Amounts due from subsidiaries  JEUHI B A 128 659 3,538
48,663 69,979

Current assets REBEE
Trade and other receivables B 5 K HAb e A 154 654
Amounts due from subsidiaries  FEUFIB AT ERIE 20,000 20,000
Bank balances IR1TH R 34 1,151
20,188 21,805
Current liabilities REBEE

Other payables HAb T3R8 3,869 2,494
Amounts due to subsidiaries JEASHIT B 2 ) 5k IE 128,953 128,953
Lease liabilities HEaE 474 335
133,296 131,782
Net current liabilities RBEEFE (113,108) (109,977)

Non-current liability kRBAE
Lease liabilities HEaE 335 -
Net liabilities BEFE (64,780) (39,998)

Capital and reserves BEXREE
Share capital N 27 6,489 6,489
Reserves (note) & (M=) (117,519) (82,937)
Deficit in shareholders’ equity % 5 25 & 4l (111,030) (76,448)
Perpetual bonds XIEE 46,250 36,450
Total deficits B At4a R (64,780) (39,998)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iRe WIS

For the year ended 30 June 2024 #;%20244F6 A30H [LF/E

36. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF
THE COMPANY (continued)

The amounts due from/to subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-
free and repayable on demand.

. ARQ B EAR R R @)

FEYL,/FEfTHI B A R FIR T ARIE A - &

BRBIRBRERE -

Note: BIsE -
Share Special Accumulated
premium reserve losses Total
10 {E Rl RETEE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T BT T BB T T
(Note)
(PR 3E)
At 1 July 2022 ®20229781H 521,046 47,196 (637,282) (69,040)
Loss and total comprehensive £ AEE &
expense for the year FHMAZ AR - - (13,897) (13,897)
At 30 June 2023 7202346 A30H 521,046 47,196 (651,179) (82,937)
Loss and total comprehensive FREE &
expense for the year 2HEMAZERE - - (34,582) (34,582)
At 30 June 2024 7202456 A30H 521,046 47,196 (685,761) (117,519)

Note: Special reserve represented the capital contribution from
Honour Grace Limited which is based on the total equity of
Green Riches Holdings Limited (“Green Riches”) at the date of

Reorganisation.

it : HAlRFERARERIBARERN
ZRERAR (R D RNEARH

MRERARTEITIEE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB BT R I RE

For the year ended 30 June 2024 #;%20244F6 A30H [LF/E

37. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 37. AR TIME D RS
COMPANY

Issued and fully

Place of paid ordinary
incorporation/  share capital/  Attributable equity Proportion of
establishment/ registered interest held voting power held
Name of subsidiaries operations capital by the Company by the Company  Principal activities
ERTRER
HEMERL/ LERBRE/ KAEREN NG
MEARER A/ BEhE EMER FEfE IR g REEHLA TEEK
2024 2023 2024 2023
0245  2023F  2024F  2023F
Green Riches (Note i) BVI US$1 100% 100% 100% 100%  Investment holding
2 () ABRIES E REBR
Cinema City Group Limited ~ Hong Kong HK$1 100% 100% 100% 100%  Cinema operations and
management
EHERERAT B BRI FhEERER
Cinema City Hong Kong HK$3,000,000 100% 100% 100% 100%  Cinema operations
(Langham Place] Limited
EYH(NRT)ERAT] i 773,000,0007C gl
Hope Sound Limited BVI US$100 100% 100% 100% 100%  Investment holding
("Hope Sound") (Note i)
ABERRAR(5E)) ABRIES 100%7T REBR
()
Hong Kong Transmit Hong Kong HK$100 100% 100% 100% 100%  Investment holding
Entertainment Limited
EEERREAR AT B 1007 REBR
TENESEREE PRC RMB$7,500,000 N/A 100% N/A 100%  Cinema operation in the PRC
BRAFNote iii, iv)
TENEEERER e ARE  TER TER mE S
AR (Fiai - iv) 7,500,0007
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB BT R I RE

For the year ended 30 June 2024 #;%20244F6 A30H [LF/E

37. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE
COMPANY (Continued)

37. A AT EB A BAFHEE @

Issued and fully

Place of paid ordinary
incorporation/  share capital/  Attributable equity Proportion of
establishment/ registered interest held voting power held
Name of subsidiaries operations capital by the Company by the Company  Principal activities
ERTRAR
HMERL/ LERBAE/ RAEREN NG
(o= NGRS A/ BEhE EMER FEfE IR g REEMNLA TEER
2024 2023 2024 2023
20245 2023 2024F  2023F
Guangzhou Huohua PRC HK$500,000 100% 100% 100% 100%  Investment holding
Investment Company
Limited (Note i, iv)
BMATEREBRRR EF 7 1£500,0007C REBR
(Bit&ii ~ iv)
Guangzhou Daide (Note iv) ~ PRC RMB500,000 100% 100% 100% 100%  Investment holding
BMEE (M) HE AR #500,0007 REBR
Beijing Transmit Hong Kong HK$100 100% 100% 100% 100%  Investment holding
Entertainment Limited
FRERREBRAR) 0 1007 REBR
Transmit Creation Limited Hong Kong HK$100 100% 100% 100% 100%  Investment holding
BEEIERRA 0 1007 REBR
Transmit Talent Limited Hong Kong HK$100 100% 100% 100% 100%  Investment holding
BEERERAA 0 %1007 REBR
Khorgas Houhai (Note iv) PRC RMB12,500,000 100% 100% 100% 100% TV series production
ERRIES(ztv) e AEE EREIRE
12,500,0007T
Beijing Juhai Culture Media ~ PRC RMB3,000,000 100%  100% 100%  100% TV series production
Company Limited
(Note iv)
FRBEUBEARAT  HE AR EREIRE
(Fistiv) 3,000,0007C

BIRIREBR AT 2023/24 F#
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Name of subsidiaries

WELATER

PN BEBRAT
(Note iv)

BNEE U BEARAA
CiE)

REBERRILER
R Note iv)
REEEBRER
BRAR(MaEv)

REEEREREER LA
(Note iv)

REEEREREBR LA
(BtsEiv)

REEENNULER
BRAF Note iv)
REEENNULER
BRDF(Hitiv)

REEEARLEEER
A7)(Note iv)
REEEARLEE
BRAE V)

FEEESHILES
BRAF Note iv)
FEEESHILES
BRDF(Hitiv)

Place of
incorporation/
establishment/
operations

i
R/ BEE

PRC

P

PRC

T

PRC

T

PRC

T

37. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE
COMPANY (Continued)

Issued and fully

paid ordinary
share capital/
registered
capital
BRTRAR
LERBAE/
EMER

RMBb5,000,000

ARE
5,000,0007

RMB1,000,000

N:
1,000,0007C

RMB1,000,000

Nt
1,000,0007C

RMB1,000,000

Nt
1,000,007

RMB1,000,000

Nt
1,000,0007C

RMB1,000,000

Nt
1,000,0007C
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Attributable equity
interest held
by the Company

ALRBEN
EiERE
2024 2023

20245  2023%

100% 100%

100% 100%

100% 100%

100% 100%

100% 100%

100% 100%

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
2

ire BRI

For the year ended 30 June 2024 #;%20244F6 A30H [LF/E

Proportion of
voting power held
by the Company

FAAER
REEMNLA
2024 2023

20245 203%

100%  100%

100%  100%

100%  100%

100%  100%

100%  100%

100%  100%

37. A AT EB A BAFHEE @

Principal activities

IREH

TV series production

TELL

Screenwriter management

REIEE

Artiste management

L

N3

Director management

Internet celebrity

Al

Internet celebrity

Al



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB BT R I RE

For the year ended 30 June 2024 #;%20244F6 A30H [LF/E

37. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE
COMPANY (Continued)

37. A AT EB A BAFHEE @

Issued and fully

Place of paid ordinary
incorporation/  share capital/  Attributable equity Proportion of
establishment/ registered interest held voting power held
Name of subsidiaries operations capital by the Company by the Company  Principal activities
BRTRAR
HMERL/ LERBAE/ RAEREN NG
MEARERE A/ BEhE EMER FEfE IR g REEMNLA TEEHK
2024 2023 2024 2023
2024% 2023  2024F  2023F
REERABEERRAR  PRC RMB500,000  100%  100%  100%  100%  Advertising
(Note iv)
AEEREHESARLT  TE AR#500,0007 E&
(Bitiv)
REEERRULERRE  PRC RMB10,000,000 51% 51% 51% 51%  Internet celebrity
(Note iv)
REEREEFRULARRAE  HE AR G
(M) 10,000,0007C
BEEEMR(XE)AR PRC RMB6,000,000  100%  100%  100%  100% E-commerce business
A#(Note iv)
BELERS(RR)ERAR  HE ARH EHER
(Bitziv) 6,000,0007C
Wenlan (Note iv) PRC RMB11,666,667 60% 60% 60% 60%  Artiste management
B (Ftetiv) e AE# BAER
11,666,6677T
AEREXBREARAR  PRC RMB 5,000,000  100%  100%  100%  100%  Film distribution and
(Note iv) production
AEREUBEERAE  HE AE% BERATREE
(Btsiv) 5,000,0007C
ERREREUCER PRC RMB5,000,000  100%  100%  100%  100% Film distribution and
B2 &(Note v) production
ERRORE U ER e AR BEYATREE
ARAA (Fiztv) 5,000,0007
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
KRB BT R I RE

For the year ended 30 June 2024 #;%20244F6 A30H [LF/E

37. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE
COMPANY (Continued)

37. A AT EB A BAFHEE @

Issued and fully

Place of paid ordinary
incorporation/  share capital/  Attributable equity Proportion of
establishment/ registered interest held voting power held
Name of subsidiaries operations capital by the Company by the Company  Principal activities
BERTRAR
HMRL/ LERRE/ NG T NG
MEAREHE MY/ BEh ZREX FEfE R E BEREMLA ELES
2024 2023 2024 2023
2024F 2023  2024F  2023F
FREEREBRAR PRC RMB1,000,000  100%  100%  100%  100% Investment holding
(Note iv)
FRERREBRAT HE AR REZR
(KIzEiv) 1,000,0007C
KB EEERAT  PRC RMB5,000,000  100%  100%  100%  100% TV series/films Production
(Note iv)
KBZEXBEERAT  FE ARE ERE/BEELE
(P& 5,000,0007C
FREETRIES PRC RMB2,000,000 60% 60% 60% 60%  Artiste management
B2 3)(Note iv)
FREEFAXLER HE AR YNt
AR AA () 2,000,0007C
FEREN(BRERRA  PRC RMB1,000,000  100%  100%  100%  100% TV series/films production
(Note iv)
FEREN(BRARRR  HE ARE ERE/BEELE
(P& 1,000,0007
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

iRe WIS

For the year ended 30 June 2024 #;%20244F6 A30H [LF/E

37. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE
COMPANY (Continued)

a. The Company had the following
subsidiaries at the end of the reporting
period: (Continued)

Notes:

(i) Except Green Riches and Hope Sound, all other
subsidiaries are indirectly owned by the Company.

(i) The subsidiary is a wholly-foreign owned enterprise
established in the PRC.

(iii)  The subsidiary was deregistered during the year ended 30
June 2024.

(iv)  These are limited liability companies established in the
PRC.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities
outstanding at the end of the year or at any time during
the year.

37. A AT EB A BAFHEE @

o
ﬂ%

P -

(ii)

(i)

(iv)

e
5

%K RRBER

I AT - @

BRRERABIN  AEEMKE
BRAEEANRAREZESR

% Y B A ) A A o B AR A7 B b
BEERE -

%M B A B R B E20245F6 A
0R LLFEAT G

ZERNRBRBEKLHERE

NG|

o

A R

RERKFRNEMERE - SHB
RABEIAIRERESES
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ire BRI

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% 2024F6 A308 [FF[E

37. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE
COMPANY (Continued)

The table below shows details of the non-wholly owned
subsidiaries of the Company that has material non-
controlling interests:

37. A ATFMEBRAAFE @

TREFIFEFERFERESED
ARARFEREMBARNFE

Proportion of
ownership interests Total comprehensive

Place of and voting rights  (expense) income
incorporation and held by allocated to Accumulated
principal place of non-controlling non-controlling non-controlling
Name of subsidiaries business interests interests interests
MR FERBERENNE SEEFZRERN
WEARERE TEREE REZRREELS 2EER)BALE R FERER
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
2024%  2023F  2024%F  2023%F  2024%  2023%F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT E%Tn B¥Trx
Wenlan PRC 40% 40%  (11,217) (3,207) 37,664 48,881
R w
Individually immaterial subsidiaries PRC (503) 513 4,022 4,525
with non-controlling interests
BEFERER 2 ANTER HE
)N
(11,720)  (2,694) 41,686 53,406
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ArE MR

For the year ended 30 June 2024 & Z2024F6 A30H L FE

37. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE

COMPANY (Continued)

b.

Details of non-wholly owned
subsidiaries that have material non-
controlling interests (continued)

Summarised financial information in respect of the
Group's subsidiary that has a material non-controlling
interest is set out below. The summarised financial
information below represents amounts before intragroup
eliminations.

b.

37. A AT EB A BAFHEE @

BEEAFIERERMIE
2EM B A BN @)

BRBREEAFERERNALE
BB ARNMBERGEERD
WMT - ATHMBERBEMIE
BIIARKEEBE N -

Wenlan i

2024 2023
20244 20234
HK$°000 HK$'000
BET T BRI
Current assets RENEE 104,645 98,868
Current liabilities mEAE (12,717) (14,841)
Non-current assets ERBEE 3,533 52,237
Non-current liabilities IERFHEE (1,300) (14,063)

Equity attributable to owners RAEER ANEL R
of the Company 56,497 73,320
Non-controlling interests TR 37,664 48,881

BIRREBR R F] 2023/24 3 251
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ArE MR

For the year ended 30 June 2024 & Z2024F6 A30H L FE

37. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE
COMPANY (Continued)

b.

Details of non-wholly owned

subsidiaries that have material non-

controlling interests (continued)

37. A AT EB A BAFHEE @

b. BEEAEZERERMIE
2EMB A BNFEE @

Wenlan (Continued) ER (&)
For the For the
year ended year ended
30 June 30 June
2024 2023
BZ H=E
2024 % 20234
6H30H 6H30H
LEE IEFE
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Revenue e 42,396 58,477
Expenses F (69,537) (56,217)
(Loss) profit for the year FAGEE) =T (27,141) 2,260
Other comprehensive expense FREMPERX
for the year (902) (10,277)
Total comprehensive expense for FATEHAL BT
the year (28,043) (8,017)
(Loss) profit for the year attributable to: NI A L EEE R (18E)
A
- Owners of the Company VNI Z=DN (16,285) 1,356
- Non-controlling interests —JEIE R (10,856) 904
(27,141) 2,260
Other comprehensive expense THI AT EAEA
for the year attributable to: 2MEMAX :
— Owners of the Company —ARREEBA (541) (6,166)
- Non-controlling interests — FEIE AR M (361) (4,111)
(902) (10,277)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ArE MR

For the year ended 30 June 2024 & Z2024F6 A30H L FE

37.

PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES OF THE

COMPANY (Continued)

b. Details of non-wholly owned

subsidiaries that have material non-

controlling interests (continued)

37. A AT EB A BAFHEE @

b. BEEAEZERERMIE
2EM B A BN @)

Wenlan (Continued) R (@)
For the For the
year ended year ended
30 June 30 June
2024 2023
BZE HE
20245 2023%F
6H30H 6H30H
IEFE IEFE
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Total comprehensive expense THATEEFEAZE
for the year attributable to: Fisz 4858
— Owners of the Company —ARRRHEBA (16,826) (4,810)
- Non-controlling interests — IR (11,217) (3,207)
(28,043) (8,017)
2024 2023
20245 20234
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Net cash (outflow) inflow from g EFSH 2R ORE)
operating activities MAEEE (879) 14,848
Net cash inflow (outflow) from "EEY 2 HE
investing activities MACR ) F5E 2,571 (8,945)
Net cash outflow from financing BE R RE R F5E
activities (769) (765)
Net cash inflow RERNFHE 923 5,138

BIRREBR R F] 2023/24 3
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
2

ANy = /ﬁﬂvﬂ%ﬁ&%ﬁﬁg\f

For the year ended 30 June 2024 &% 2024F6 A308 [FF[E

38.

39.

DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

On 28 December 2022, Green Riches Holdings Limited, a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company entered into a sale
and purchase agreement with Mandarin Film and Culture
Development Limited, a company which is beneficially owned
by Mr. Wong Pak Ming who is a connected person of the
Company at the subsidiary level, to dispose of the entire equity
interest in Pegasus Motion Pictures (Hong Kong) Limited,
Pegasus Motion Pictures Distribution Limited and Pegasus
Motion Pictures Production Limited, at a cash consideration of
HK$84,000. The disposed entities are mainly engaged in movie
investment and film distribution. The disposal was completed
on 31 December 2022, on which date the control of disposed
entities were passed to the acquirer. A gain on disposal of
subsidiaries amounting to HK$14,180,000 was recognised to
profit or loss during the year ended 30 June 2023.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the Group
ceases its operation of film exhibition when the Lease expired
on 22 July 2024. Since film exhibition represents a separate
major line of business or geographical area of operation, the
cessation of film exhibition business will be classified as a
discontinued operation under HKFRS 5.

TRANSMIT ENTERTAINMENT LIMITED Annual Report 2023/24

38.

39.

& B2

R2022% 128288 ' AR AlZz2EK
B AR 2B ZER B R A 7 B Mandarin
Film and Culture Development
Limited(ZA A HERBBEE(EWBE
NAEIEE EAARGNBEEAL)ERS
BR)FVUEEWZ  UWHEXRSEF
tm(EB)BRAR KEEXETA
RARIEKREELEEERRAINEE
ikt - IMEREABEES4,0000T - EH
EERTENTEXREMET - HE
EIHN2022F12A31H=K » EHE
ERMIEHEEZA KB ER - B
202356 A30HILFE - HEKHBA
AU ES A BB 14,180,000 A 18
JERER ©

BEMREE

REBERREK - AEBEEHER2024
F7RA22B @M RIFLEEEZHIR -
HREXHRRBYNEIZRBHLE
WE - FLEEEHREEBRIZEAEN
BRELENESFDRR/ERIELE -



FINANCIAL SUMMARY

B 751 &

FINANCIAL RESULTS

Revenue
Cost of sales

Gross (loss) profit

Other gains and losses

Other income

Selling and distribution expenses

Administrative expenses

Net foreign exchange (loss) gain

Fair value change on purchased
call option

Impairment loss on property,
plant and equipment

(Impairment loss) reversal of

impairment loss on trade and other

receivables under expected
credit loss model

Impairment losses recognised on
goodwill

Impairment loss on right-of-use
assets

Fair value change on contingent
consideration payable

Finance costs

Share of results of associates

Share of results of a joint venture

(Loss) profit before tax
Income tax (expense) credit

W
HERA

(ER)EM
Afha R EE

E A
HERBETRAX
THHX

B (B8R a3
CHEARIELTEE

ER S
REEE

BHEEBREAA T
B 5 REMRYKHIER

(REBR) FEHERD

FABRIHNAESR
EREEERERR
ENRAREHATFE
BERA
EEBEAREE
EiE—HAELEZE

BR DA (B51R) i A
SR ) ER

2020

20204
HK$'000
BT

465,534
(291,830)

173,704
-680
42,348
(181,793)
(60,997)
(2,210)

(2,189)

(2,998)

(28,895)

(6,161)
(67,630)
(855)

(6)

(128,262)
885

2023

20234
HK$'000
BETT

166,429
(120,238)

46,191
3,739
48,709
(74,928)
(65,499)

(3,423)

2,361

(117,802)

(8,538)
(18,590)

(187,780)

P
For the year ended 30 June
BZ6H30ALEE

2021 2022
20214 2022
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BETT
456,988 703,981
(325,857) (577,836)
131,131 126,145
115,287 (1,108)
70,416 66,945
(159,453 (84,225)
(82,413) (82,634)
4,781 (16,803)
44 (998)

- (67,652)

1,268 1,529
(67,382) (23,365)
(8) -
13,671 (82,166)
(5,450) (6,974)

2,276

2024
2024
HK$’000
BT T

292,603
(364,020)

(71,417)

(6,107)
100,510
(65,283)
(53,929)

(214)

(223,792)

(5,823)
(14,089)

(372,985)
11,116
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

M2

(Loss) profit for the year

Other comprehensive income
(expense) for the year

Items that may be reclassified
subsequently to profit or loss

Reclassification adjustments upon
disposal of a subsidiary included

in profit or loss

Reclassification adjustments upon
disposal of an associate included

in profit or loss

Exchange difference on translating

foreign operation

Total comprehensive income
(expense) for the year

(Loss) profit for the year
attributable to:
Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
Total assets
Total liabilities

Equity attributable to owners of
the Company

Perpetual bonds

Non-controlling interests

FAER)EH
FREMEZARARER)

BRI EEN I EE R
HEH

it AR R ELT
NHERER D BHE

FAABEZ - HBERT
REEREN DB

BIEHRECELER
FRAZERA(FX)ER

THALE
FR(ER)ET
AREHEAA
IR AR L

EERAE
AESE
B8R

RRERE AELG
i
KEE

SRR
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2020
20204
HK$'000
BETT

(127,377)

(321)

(1,144)

(128,842)

(126,598)
(779)

(127,377)

1,784,249
(1,578,644)

205,605

(37,884)
204,600
38,889

205,605

For the year ended 30 June

BZ6A30HLEE
2021 2022
20214 20224
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BETT
8,221 (89,140)
24,144 (12,386)
32,365 (101,526)
(7,633) (92,166)
15,854 3,026
8,221 (89,140
1,630,880 1,264,286
(1,381,072) (865,259
249,808 399,027
(9,535) (121,685)
204,600 464,612
54,743 56,100
249,808 399,027

2023
20234
HK$'000
BT

(185,504)

(830)

(28,962)

(215,296)

(186,920)
1,416

(185,504)

922,564
(755,383)

167,181

(334,287)
448,062
53,406

167,181

2024

20245
HK$’000
BT T

(361,869)

(210)

(362,079)

(350,510)
(11,359)

(361,869)

395,388
(580,486)

(185,098)

(684,646)
457,862
41,686

(185,098)
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